## The Changing Nature of Participation in Design:



## A practice-based study of social technologies in early design research

Penny Hagen

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Computing Sciences

April 2011

Interaction Design and Human Practice Laboratory School of Software Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology University of Technology, Sydney

## Certificate of Authorship/Originality

I certify that the work in this thesis has not previously been submitted for a degree nor has it been submitted as part of requirements for a degree except as fully acknowledged within the text.

I also certify that the thesis has been written by me. Any help that I have received in my research work and the preparation of the thesis itself has been acknowledged. In addition, I certify that all information sources and literature used are indicated in the thesis.

Signature of Candidate

### Acknowledgements

This thesis was produced on the land of the Cadigal people of the Eora Nation. The Cadigal people are the traditional custodians of this land and I would like to acknowledge the living culture and pay my respect to elders past and present.

Of all the rewards that come from the adventure of doing a PhD thesis the greatest is to be able to write this letter of thanks to the so many people around the world who have enabled this journey to take place and, most importantly, for it to come to completion.

Firstly to my partner Geof who could not have been more supportive and patient, even as we passed many faux deadlines. My love and thanks also to our little x who brought a special perspective to the last sprint. Huge love and thanks to my parents, sister, brother-in-law and 'newphew' whose little faces on Skype bought me so much love and support.

My eternal gratitude to my supervisor Toni Robertson. After much searching on my behalf she provided me with a philosophical and political home as well as endless support, enthusiasm and insight into not just my research but also life more generally. There have been many times when I have been in awe of her understanding of being in the world and her influence on my thinking about design has been spread wide and far through our practice-based research partnership. Deep thanks also to my two co-supervisors Tim Mansfield and Lian Loke for their insights, support and perception-widening perspectives. I was very lucky also to have the services of Chris Gaul my co-sketcher and illustrator and Thomasin Litchfield who kindly proofread this thesis. I am particularly grateful for the financial support provided by the University of Technology, Sydney to complete this thesis and the additional support and resources of the IDHuP lab and HCTD.

It is through the generosity, trust and openness to new ideas by Dave Gravina and the team at Digital Eskimo that this thesis was able to take its form. Thank you. I am also deeply indebted to the participants and clients who made this research possible and who allowed me this space to learn, grow and share. Much thanks and respect also to Natalie Rowland and Grant Young for their invaluable input, support and willingness to explore and experiment, as well as researchers Minna Isomursu, Pirjo Näkki and Andrea Botero

Cabrera whose generosity with their own research greatly facilitated the development of my own.

A highlight of doing something like a PhD thesis is the people you meet, connect and share with along the way, like the gorgeous IDHuP crew, especially Kirsten Sadler, Julia Prior, Mel Kan, Lizzie Muller, Dean Hargreaves and Susan Hansen and last but not least, Astrid Twenebowa Larssen who kept me sane on more than one occasion, sports drink or beer in hand. Also, the fabulous early Interaction Design book club members Carly Harper, Keir Smith, Greg Turner, Alastair Weakley and Daniel Heckenberg who spurred me on early in the journey. Thanks also to dear friends Lucy Bowey and Paul Murphy for gifts and support at critical moments and Michelle Gilmore for chats, laughs and beers (and for not following through on our agreement), and to all the other generous researchers and practitioners from the design community who have so willingly shared friendship, conversations, tips and words of encouragement.

This journey started a long time ago and has been possible only because of the work of other inspirational researchers, practitioners and people leading the way. There are two people in particular whose energy and perception motivated me well over ten years ago to pursue a particular kind of design position and who deserve my thanks: Fiona Jack who opened my eyes to design beyond consumption at a point at which I was about to walk away from the apparent monstrosity of the profession and Richard Fahey without whose unique cigarette-smoking whisky-flavoured styles I would not have made it through my first degree, let alone my second.

There are so many friends, family members, colleagues, participants, clients, researchers, tweeps, acquaintances and strangers whose words, thoughts, support and understanding have been critical to getting me to this point. To all of you, thank you so much. It really is finished this time.

## Table of Contents

1 Explo	oring Social Technologies and Participation in Early Design	1
1.1 F	Research Background	4
1.1.1	1 The Changing Focus of Design	4
1.1.2	2 The Use of Social Technologies as Tools for Design	5
1.1.0	3 Social Technologies as an Emerging Subject for Design	6
1.1.4	4 Methods for Early and Generative Design Research	7
1.2 F	Research Context	7
1.2.1	1 Practice-based Context	8
1.2.2	2 Methods in Interaction Design	8
1.2.3	3 A Position on Design	9
1.2.4	4 Definitions of the Terms	10
1.3 A	pproach	11
1.3.1	1 Researching Design	11
1.3.2	2 Research Design	13
1.4 F	indings	14
1.4.1	1 Contributions	16
1.4.2	2 A Note on Technology	18
1.4.3	3 A Note on Presentation	18
1.4.4	4 Chapter Outline	19
2 Pers	pectives on Design, Research and Participation	21
2.1 C	Doing Design	22
2.1.	1 Design is Flexible	22
2.1.2	2 Design is Social	23
2.1.3	3 Design is Political	23
2.1.4	4 Design is Situated	24
2.2 D	Design and Research	
2.2.	1 Phenomenology	25
2.2.2	2 Two Domains of Design	27
2.2.3	3 Developing Designerly Methods	29
2.3 F	Practice-led Design Research	
2.3.1	1 Reflective Practitioner	32
2.3.2	2 A Model for Reflective Practice-led Design Research	33
2.3.3	3 Rigour in Design Research	34
2.4 F	articipation in Design	35
2.4.1	1 Participatory Design Methods	36
2.4.2	2 Participatory Design as an Analytical Frame	
2.5 S	Summary	38

3	Earl A R	ly Design Research, Self-reporting Methods and Social Technologie Review	s: 40
	3.1	Early Design Research	41
	3.2	Self-reporting	43
	3.2	2.1 Self-reporting as a Method for Research	44
	3.2	2.2 Diaries	46
	3.2	2.3 Probes	48
	3.2	2.4 Co-opting Social Technologies for Self-reporting	51
	3.2	2.5 Considering Participation and Opportunities for Research	59
	3.3	Challenges for Designing Social Technologies	60
	3.3	3.1 Complex and Variable Contexts of Use	61
	3.3	3.2 The Emergent Nature of Social Technologies	62
	3.3	3.3 New Responsibilities and Concerns for Designers	63
	3.4	Seeding: Early Design of Social Technologies	65
	3.5	Opportunities for Designing Social Technologies	67
	3.5	5.1 Prototyping as 'PD in the Wild'	68
	3.5	5.2 Opportunities for Designing <i>With</i> and <i>For</i> Social Technologies	71
	3.6	Summary	72
4	The	Research Journey	73
	<u>л 1</u>	Evolution of the Research	74
	4.1 12	Accounting for practice in research design	74
	4.2	2.1 Research Design: role of the studies and the relationship between	70
	1.2	them	77
	42	2 Recruitment	77
	4.3	Exploratory Interviews	
	4.3	1 Structure	81
	4.3	3.2 Discussion	
	4.3	3.3 Impact on Research Design	
	4.4	Field Studies	83
	4.4	1 Data Collection: Prototyping	83
	4.4	I.2 Study 1: Mobile Diary Prototypes - Internal Study	84
	4.4	I.3 Study 2: Mobile Diary Prototype - Client Study	90
	4.4	1.4 Subsequent Work	94
	4.5	Analysis	94
	4.5	5.1 Phase 1 Analysis	95
	4.5	5.2 Phase 2 Analysis	96
	4.5	5.3 Phase 3 Analysis	98
	4.6	Reflections and the Rigour of the Research	98
	4.7	A Note on Action Research	104
	4.8	Summary	105

5 Desig	ning a Mobile Diary	106
5.1 De	esigning Mobile Diaries	108
5.1.1	Digital Tools	
5.1.2	Study Set-up	110
5.2 Ar	nalysis	113
5.2.1	Comparing the recording tools	113
5.2.2	<i>Doing</i> Mobile Diaries	119
5.2.3	Using Mobile Diaries	123
5.2.4	Iterating the Mobile Diary Tools	129
5.3 Su	immary	130
6 Refini	ng a Mobile Diary	132
6.1 De	esigning the Mobile Diary	133
6.1.1	Project Context	134
6.1.2	Study Set-Up	135
6.1.3	Digital Tools	136
6.2 Ar	nalysis	137
6.2.1	Using the Mobile Diary material	138
6.2.2	The Participant Experience	145
6.2.3	Connecting with Participants through Mobile Diaries	148
6.2.4	Evaluation and Iteration of Tools	150
6.3 Su	immary	151
7 Mobile	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method	153
<b>7 Mobile</b> 7.1 Th	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method	<b>153</b> 154
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Tr</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform nplementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice	<b>153</b> 
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Tr</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions	<b>153</b> 
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure	
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 158
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Tr</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform aplementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries Suitability and Limitations	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164 164
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries Suitability and Limitations Reliability and Technical Constraints	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164 164 164 167
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform aplementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries Suitability and Limitations Reliability and Technical Constraints A Note on Technology	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164 164 164 167 168
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform aplementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice Project Descriptions Study Set-up and Structure Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries Suitability and Limitations Reliability and Technical Constraints A Note on Technology	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164 164 164 163 169
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform	
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> <li>8.1 So</li> </ul>	e Diaries: A Self-reporting Method ne Mobile Diary Platform	<b>153</b> 154 157 158 158 161 164 164 167 168 169 170 172
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> <li>8.1 So</li> <li>8.1 So</li> <li>8.1.1</li> </ul>	Diaries: A Self-reporting Method     Mobile Diary Platform     plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice.     Project Descriptions     Study Set-up and Structure     Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice     actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries.     Suitability and Limitations     Reliability and Technical Constraints     A Note on Technology     mmary     ming With Social Technologies     Layered representations.	
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> <li>8.1 So</li> <li>8.1.1</li> <li>8.1.2</li> </ul>	Diaries: A Self-reporting Method     Mobile Diary Platform     plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice.     Project Descriptions     Study Set-up and Structure     Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice     actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries     Suitability and Limitations     Reliability and Technical Constraints     A Note on Technology     mmary     ming With Social Technologies     Layered representations.	<b>153</b> 154157158158161164164167169169170172175176
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> <li>8.1 So</li> <li>8.1.1</li> <li>8.1.2</li> <li>8.1.3</li> </ul>	Diaries: A Self-reporting Method     Mobile Diary Platform     plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice.     Project Descriptions     Study Set-up and Structure     Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice     actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries     Suitability and Limitations     Reliability and Technical Constraints     A Note on Technology     mmary     ming With Social Technologies     Layered representations	
<ul> <li>7 Mobile</li> <li>7.1 Th</li> <li>7.2 Im</li> <li>7.2.1</li> <li>7.2.2</li> <li>7.2.3</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3 Pr</li> <li>7.3.1</li> <li>7.3.2</li> <li>7.3.3</li> <li>7.4 Su</li> <li>8 Desig</li> <li>8.1 So</li> <li>8.1.1</li> <li>8.1.2</li> <li>8.1.3</li> <li>8.1.4</li> </ul>	Be Diaries: A Self-reporting Method     Mobile Diary Platform     plementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in practice.     Project Descriptions     Study Set-up and Structure     Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice     actical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries     Suitability and Limitations     Reliability and Technical Constraints     A Note on Technology     mmary     ming <i>With</i> Social Technologies     Layered representations.     Life on the move     In the moment.     Shared windows	

8.1.6	Co-experience	181
8.1.7	Experimentation	182
8.1.8	Moving us 'even' closer to users	184
8.2 Eth	ical and methodological considerations and implications	185
8.2.1	Boundaries and norms around 'public' participation	186
8.2.2	Aspects of Anonymity	187
8.2.3	The responsibility of researchers	189
8.3 Sur	nmary	190
9 Design	ing <i>With</i> and <i>For</i> Social Technologies	192
9.1 De	signing social technologies	194
9.2 See	eding social technologies	195
9.2.1	Socialising the Research	196
9.2.2	Bridging Existing and Future Practices	197
9.2.3	Developing Early Content	199
9.2.4	Designing With and For Social Technologies: Opportunities for	
	Seeding Design Through Use	201
9.3 Bai	rriers to Participation	203
9.3.1	Managing Participation	204
9.3.2	The Value of Participation	206
9.3.3	Project Vulnerability and Stability	207
9.3.4	Fear of Participation	208
9.4 Sur	mmary	209
10 Conclu	sions, Contributions and Future Work	210
10.1 A	ddressing the Research Questions	211
10.1.1	Sub Question 1	212
10.1.2	Sub Question 2	214
10.2 C	ontributions	215
10.2.1	Impact on the CD Agency	217
10.3 O	pportunities for Future Work	218
10.3.1	Concepts and Conditions for Participation	218
10.3.2	Participant-led Design of Community Platforms	219
10.3.3	Managing Private and Public Participation in Design and Research	219
10.3.4	A Role for Participatory Design in Social Technologies	220
10.3.5	Supporting more Practice-led Research	221
10.4 In	Closing	221

## List of Figures

Figure 1. An overview of the different empirical studies and activities	13
Figure 2. A reproduction of Scrivener's model of reflection in and on design	
episodes and projects	34
Figure 3. Overview of the role of the Exploratory Interviews	81
Figure 4. Overview of the first Field Study: Mobile Diary Prototype (1)	86
Figure 5. Discussions and stories being shared during the workshop	87
Figure 6. Overview of second Field Study: Mobile Diary Prototype (2)	91
Figure 7. Examples of documentation supporting the analysis of key themes and	
writing up of studies	100
Figure 8. Key concepts and connections represented through cards and	
sketches	101
Figure 9. Sketching out key concepts and connections as part of reflection and	
data analysis	101
Figure 10. Mapping research design to Scrivener's model of practice-led	
research	103
Figure 11. Sketch of the different tools and their technical characteristics	109
Figure 12. Mobile Diary prototype packs	111
Figure 13. Instructions on data collection provided to participants	112
Figure 14. Reports from different locations from the different participants, using	
the different reporting tools.	114
Figure 15. KCam video camera	114
Figure 16. Still from KCam 'ride to work' video	115
Figure 17. Spontaneous reports responding to activities and events	125
Figure 18. Documenting home and lifestyle choices	126
Figure 19. Self-portraits as 'self-reports'	127
Figure 20. Images without additional contextual information	128
Figure 21. Mobile Diary Pack Instructions	135
Figure 22. Reports in response to events during the day	139
Figure 23. How decisions get made	140
Figure 24. Sharing personal or reflective moments through the Mobile Diary	141
Figure 25. Metaphors for emotions and feelings	142
Figure 26. Mobile Diary reports that included people important to the	
participant's description of her world	143
Figure 27. Letters and notes from community members	144
Figure 28. Mapping the participant across the day	145
Figure 29. Example of a test diary entry on the Mobile Diary blog	157
Figure 30. Description of typical Mobile Diary toolkit	160

## List of Illustrations

Illustration 1. Key aspects of self-reporting	45
Illustration 2. Introducing networked technologies to self-reporting	52
Illustration 3. The shape of social technologies emerges over time and through	
use	62
Illustration 4. The role of seeding	66
Illustration 5. Focus of the first Mobile Diary prototype study: the experience of	
the participant	89
Illustration 6. Focus of the second Mobile Diary prototype study: the experience	
of the participant and the design researcher	93
Illustration 7. Socialising the research	196
Illustration 8. Bridging existing and future practices	197
Illustration 9. Developing early content	199

## List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of the 'reflective sessions' in the first Field Study	88
Table 2. Overview of 'reflective sessions' in the second Field Study	92
Table 3. Summary of 7 experiential characteristics of self-reporting brought to, or	
enhanced by, social technologies	174

### Abstract

Social technologies put a new emphasis on participation. This thesis investigates the impact of social technologies on how we enable, conceive and manage participation in early design. The research questions in this thesis address how, and in what ways, using social technologies as *design tools* can support participation in the early stages of design, and how using such tools creates new opportunities for participation in early design when social technologies themselves are the *subject of design*. It develops and presents concepts and strategies that account for the sharable, social and participatory nature of social technologies and encourages designers to reconsider how notions of participation are currently embedded and framed within existing design methods and models.

The questions are explored through a practice-based investigation into the use of social technologies as self-reporting tools. Over the course of two field studies a self-reporting method, Mobile Diaries, was iteratively designed, evaluated and implemented in a specific commercial design context. The analysis demonstrated that using social technologies as *design tools* enhances the capacity for self-reporting to enable participants to contribute to design from the context of their own lives. This greater integration between the activities of research and everyday life blurs some traditional design research boundaries, with ethical and methodological implications for which we are only beginning to account. In addition, when social technologies are the subject of design, using social technologies as design tools creates an experiential connection between the activities of researching, designing and using. This creates new opportunities for participation through use early in the design process that blur traditional boundaries between the activities of research, design and use. Barriers to embracing these opportunities in commercial contexts include the assumption that the activities of design and use progress consecutively and the value of early participation in design is largely embodied in the tangible outputs of design research.

This research extends existing knowledge about the nature of participation in design, and how participation can be supported, through three main contributions:

1. The development of Mobile Diaries, a specific self-reporting method beneficial to early design research and suited to commercial use

- 2. Conceptual tools that reflect the impact of social technologies on self-reporting and draw attention to the new ethical and methodological implications they introduce
- Strategies to articulate and support experiences and outcomes important to the early design of social technologies in community settings, through the use of social technologies themselves.

This thesis also makes a fourth contribution that is methodological:

4. It is an example of how practice-based design research can be conducted in a commercial context in ways valuable to both practice and research domains.

## **1** Exploring Social Technologies and Participation in Early Design

This chapter outlines how the topics of social technologies, participation and early design research intersect to become the focus of the research presented in this thesis. The chapter begins by introducing social technologies and how they serve to motivate the research, presenting the research questions and the approach taken to investigating those questions. A background to the research and the particular research context is then provided and specific terms used in the thesis are defined. An overview of the philosophical, theoretical and methodological foundations that underpin the thesis are given, along with a summary of the research design. The four main contributions of the thesis are then detailed. The chapter concludes with an outline of the thesis structure.

The issue of participation is revitalized in design and design research... (Binder, Brandt & Gregory, 2008a, p.1)

Social technologies put a new emphasis on participation. This thesis investigates the impact of social technologies on how we enable, conceive and manage participation in early design. Social technologies, also known as social software (boyd, 2007b) or social media (Näkki, Antikainen & Virtanen, 2008), refer to the combinations of mobile and online tools and systems that enable and seek out participation and contributions by users. Examples include *Facebook, MySpace, Flickr, Twitter, YouTube, FourSquare,* personal blogs and discussion platforms as well as more localised community or campaigning sites. Mobile phones, SMS, picture messaging (MMS or PXT) and other personal production and communication devices and channels such as 'instant messaging' are also integral to this landscape. The phenomenon of social technologies is made possible by the shift in technology ownership from organisations into the hands of individuals (Shirky, 2008) and is part of technology use becoming more domestic, public, social and personal.

There is no fixed definition of what is or isn't a 'social technology' and the use of the term here is intended to refer to both the tools and the emerging practices they constitute (Heinonen & Halonen, 2007). As boyd (2007b) states:

...social software is about a movement, not simply a category of technologies... it's certainly not complete and as a category, it's difficult to make sense of its boundaries. (p. 17)

Social technologies can however be characterised as facilitating a greater social participation in mediated contexts (boyd, 2007a). They introduce new ways in which we can connect, produce, share, replicate, locate and distribute information, bringing new capabilities and new expectations about how we communicate and interact as citizens (Shirky, 2008). Terms such as user-generated content (Pierson, Mante-Meijer, Loos & Sapio, 2008), *crowdsourcing* (Shirky, 2008), *open innovation* (Näkki & Antikainen, 2008) and *citizen media/journalism* (Cruickshank & Evans, 2008) all refer to emerging forms of digitally mediated participation made possible by social technologies. As a result, social technologies have had, and continue to have, a profound impact on our social, cultural and technological practices (boyd, 2007b). They raise questions about

what it means to participate as a broader cultural phenomenon. Subsequently, they also raise questions about what it means to participate in design.

The central research question that drives this thesis is:

#### How are social technologies impacting on the nature of participation in design?

In design, our understanding of, and commitments to, participation are embedded in our choice of design methods, tools, protocols and project infrastructures. In this thesis it is through an investigation of these aspects of design practice that an understanding of the changing nature of participation in design is made available. Two interrelated sub questions further direct and focus the research:

- 1. How and in what ways can social technologies as design tools support participation in early design?
- 2. How can such tools support participation in early design when social technologies themselves are the subject of design?

These questions have been addressed through an investigation into the use of social technologies as tools for self-reporting in early design research. Self-reporting is a valuable focal point for an investigation into participation. As a design research method it can give people control over how they participate and represent themselves in the design process and it locates the activities of research in the context of people's everyday lives. The particular focus on self-reporting in this thesis was inspired by findings from an earlier investigation into mobile practices and corresponding research methods (Hagen, Robertson, Kan & Sadler, 2005). The thesis builds on this earlier research by exploring how the appropriation of social technologies as self-reporting tools impacts on the 'conditions for participation' (Bødker, 1994).

An underlying premise of this phenomenologically inspired thesis is that design research that seeks to contribute to design practice needs to be grounded *in* practice (Stolterman, 2008). The investigation into self-reporting in this thesis is grounded through a practice-based study conducted in partnership with a small social design agency, referred to here as the CD Agency. At the time of the research it was my place of work and I played a dual role as researcher and designer. The focus of the research was further delimited by this particular research context: the agency's interest in early design research methods suitable for community-orientated projects suggested the

particular domain of design, and the commercial context introduced practical and business-related considerations inherent to industry for which the research design had to account.

The empirical research included two field studies across which a particular approach to self-reporting using social technologies, referred to as 'Mobile Diaries', was iteratively designed, evaluated and implemented at the CD Agency. The outcome of this research approach was twofold: the development of a specific early design research method that could be deployed on real world design projects and an empirical investigation into the nature of participation in early design in the context of social technologies.

The central contribution of this thesis has been the development of knowledge about participation in design that takes into account the nature of social technologies. Answering the research questions has meant establishing an understanding of, and language around, participation. In this thesis this has been framed in terms of the kinds of experiences we hope to support for participants and designers, and the design outcomes that are valuable in early design. From this basis it has been possible to investigate how the introduction of social technologies supports and enables these outcomes or, alternatively, foregrounds different kinds of expectations and possibilities for how participation might be enabled, conceived and managed. In many cases the changing nature of participation was made visible through the exposure of assumptions about participation, embedded in conventional approaches to self-reporting, and the limitations of existing design and research protocols to account for the new expectations and capabilities for participation made possible by social technologies.

#### 1.1 Research Background

Four particular trends or junctures within the discipline of design motivate this research into participation, design methods and social technologies. These are: i) the changing focus of design; ii) the use of social technologies as tools for design; iii) social technologies as an emerging subject for design; and iv) an increased interest in methods for early and generative design research.

#### 1.1.1 The Changing Focus of Design

Like all healthy, living disciplines, the definitions and perceptions of design and design practice are shifting and evolving (Buchanan, 2001). As the subject of design changes

so do the ways in which we conceptualise what and how we design. At the same time, notions of how participation in design might be supported are also evolving. One of the central changes in technology design to which Interaction Designers are responding is the move of technology from a work context into daily life (Bødker, 2006). Traditional design methods intended for stationary, workplace contexts cannot be expected to account for the emerging, complex contexts of technology use for which we now design (Isbister & Höök, 2009; Kurvinen, Koskinen & Battarbee, 2008). There is widespread agreement that new design frameworks, approaches and methods are required to respond to the changing contexts and motivations of technology use (Forlizzi, 2008; Lee, 2008; Ye & Fischer, 2007). Both researchers and designers are seeking methods that are suitable for more pervasive, public, ongoing, personal and domestic technologies (Sellen, Rogers, Harper & Rodden, 2009). Social technologies play a significant role in motivating this search for new methods and frameworks.

#### 1.1.2 The Use of Social Technologies as Tools for Design

The extension of self-reporting methods, through the appropriation of everyday digital, personal and networked technologies as *design tools*, is one of the ways in which researchers are responding to the challenges of pervasive, diverse and mobile technology use and its increasingly personal and social nature (e.g., Hulkko, Mattelmäki, Virtanen & Keinonen, 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002). Practitioners and design researchers alike are fast recognising the potential of everyday technologies to enable people to act as the observers of their own use, from the context of their own lives. Examples include proprietary commercial tools such as *7daysofmylife* (zilverinnovation, 2009) and *Revelation*<sup>TM</sup> (August & August, 2005), research platforms such as Mobile Probes (Hulkko et al., 2004) or more ad hoc appropriations of mobile phones (Cereijo-Roibás, Vanderbeeken, Clavin & Zoels, 2009), blogs (Khalil, 2009) and email (Masten & Plowman, 2003). However the shift from participants using pencil, paper and other analogue tools to generate, collect and share 'data' about their lives, to participants using digital, personal and networked technologies has significant implications.

The implications have been noted since the early days of social technologies. For example in 2003 practitioners such as Masten and Plowman (2003) were already outlining some of ways in which digital tools were radically shifting the way people

6

could participate in research and pointing to some of the privacy implications that would need to be addressed. Other related and influential studies have also identified opportunities and potential implications for appropriating everyday, personal communication tools into research (e.g., Graham, Satchell & Rouncefield, 2007b; Hulkko et al., 2004; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Palen & Salzman, 2002). This thesis contributes to this growing body of work by analysing the trend to co-opt everyday tools into self-reporting as part of the broader phenomenon of social technologies. This is not the only perspective from which the evolution of self-reporting can be interpreted, however it provides one critical frame for understanding how participation is changing in the context of social technologies, and the impact this has on our choice of tools and techniques. It also helps to account for how some of the broader shifts in expectations and norms brought about by social technologies in everyday life are carrying over into practices of research and design.

#### 1.1.3 Social Technologies as an Emerging Subject for Design

As a subject for design, social technologies foreground a particular set of concerns for designers around participation. Social technologies are effectively containers or scaffolds that rely on participation and user driven contributions to take their form. In this way social technologies make visible the tight coupling between design and use, and the emergent nature of design. Certain perspectives on design have always conceptualised design as being 'actualised' in use (Dourish, 2001). Indeed this notion is central to Participatory Design which is grounded in phenomenological and related positions on interaction (e.g., Ehn, 1988; Greenbaum & Kyng, 1991; Suchman, 1987). However, social technologies bring a renewed attention to the relations between design and use because so much of their form is constituted *through use*. Social technologies put new emphasis on user participation because they require user participation to exist at all. Their actual form is shaped through participation, drawing particular attention to concerns about how designs will actually be taken up and used (DiSalvo, Maki & Martin, 2007). That is, social technologies put significance on the activities that will help to connect or introduce design concepts to the world in which they will exist. The term *seeding* is often used in literature and design practice to describe activities that can act to germinate participation (e.g., Botero & Saad-Sulonen, 2008; Figallo, 1998; Merkel, Xiao, Farooq, Ganoe, Lee, Carroll & Rosson, 2004; Rettig, 1998; Rheingold, 1993). This thesis contributes to emerging theory and methods that address how participation in the design of social technologies can be supported in ways appropriate to the nature of social technologies themselves. The notion of seeding is given particular prominence in this thesis as a concept that helps to sensitise us to experiences and outcomes important to the early design of social technologies. It is also used as a way to analyse experiences that emerged from the empirical research as opportunities for participation.

#### 1.1.4 Methods for Early and Generative Design Research

Another response to the broadening scope of concern for designers is the growing attention being given to generative design research methods for use in the early stages of design (Sanders, 2005; Sanders, 2006). Early design research undertaken in these initial stages is fundamentally exploratory. Probes (Gaver, Dunne & Pacenti, 1999; Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002) and Context Mapping (Sleeswijk Visser, Stappers, Lugt & Sanders, 2005) are examples of such methods. Rather than evaluate or measure the usability of existing solutions, the intention is to make available people's everyday experiences, aspirations and motivations as resources to inspire and inform design (Sanders, 2005).

Such approaches are particularly important to the design of social technologies because the personal motivations, attitudes and behaviours of users are such significant factors in shaping their design and use. As a personal, subjective and contextual *in situ* method, self-reporting is often used as a component of generative design research. This thesis documents the development of a self-reporting method that aimed to privilege experiences and outcomes beneficial to early, exploratory and generative design research. The particular method, Mobile Diaries, was inspired by the extension of selfreporting methods through the adoption of everyday, social technologies.

#### 1.2 Research Context

This section introduces three other aspects that contributed to motivating and shaping the research. These are: i) the practice-based context where the research occurred; ii) the significance of design methods in the academic and professional fields of Interaction Design; and iii) my personal position as a designer/researcher. Specific terms used in this thesis are also defined.

#### 1.2.1 Practice-based Context

The CD Agency is a social design agency committed to working on projects with an environmental, social and political focus. The agency's clients are motivated by a desire to utilise technology to support or trigger social change, action or participation around an issue, and to engage new or existing stakeholders. Collaborative approaches that enable the design team to work closely with clients and other project stakeholders are valued. The objectives of the empirical research undertaken in this thesis were shaped both by the clients with whom we partnered and the agency's commitment to collaborative design approaches.

Much of the CD Agency's client work involves the development of social technologies. These take the form of platforms that enable or encourage community engagement and participation in social, environmental or political issues. Central to the success of such systems is participation and contributions by 'users'. The CD Agency sought to extend the range of early design methods they employed that were suited to working in community settings where questions of engagement and participation are central. The agency was interested in adopting or developing generative, early design research techniques that would help to immerse the design team into the world of the project stakeholders and engage the stakeholders in dialogue as active participants in the design process. This motivation and interest in early design research methods, combined with the knowledge of emerging self-reporting methods, provided the research with a specific focus and set of practice objectives.

#### 1.2.2 Methods in Interaction Design

The emphasis on methods in this thesis is based on the premise that the methods we choose to use have an important impact on how participation is shaped. Methods embody a certain attitude to design, privilege certain types of qualities in design, and determine how those who will use the technology are represented during design (Robertson, 2006). However methods can be a bit like a black box; connections between methodology, method, tool and technique are not always easily visible, or readily discussed (Sleeswijk Visser, 2009). At times designers might unconsciously adopt values embedded within certain methods (Bowen, 2007; Sengers, Boehner, David & Kaye, 2005), or unwittingly use methods that contradict their original methodological commitments (Boehner, Vertesi, Sengers & Dourish, 2007). In addition, as is further

discussed in Chapter 2, methods developed within academic contexts have not necessarily been done so in a way that account for the questions and conditions faced in professional design practice (Stolterman, McAtee, Royer & Thandapani, 2008). These issues are particularly pertinent as professional design practitioners adopt and adapt methods into their practice that were potentially developed for other contexts and/or with contrasting epistemological commitments.

From my perspective as a practitioner and researcher, a defining aspect of the emerging discipline of Interaction Design within commercial design practice has been, and continues to be, the introduction, adoption, mastering and appropriation of suitable methods by design practitioners to handle the complexity both of what we are designing as well as how it will be used. While a familiarity with and accountability to the use of particular methods may be a given in academic domains, in my experience this is not necessarily the case for design agencies whose background is in communications or graphic design traditions. This is relevant because many of the commercial design agencies that now 'sell' Interaction Design services, such as the CD Agency, had their origins in communication design. Over the last five to ten years many agencies have transformed their identities from that of communications or graphic designers into interaction or user experience designers, as they "acknowledge the influence of digital technology and media on their own core materials and practices" (Lowgren, 2008). For these design practitioners, part of the process of shifting to doing Interaction Design has often meant utilising design methods that have been developed by academics within the working environments of academic research. This shift within the CD Agency provides a backdrop to this thesis. It also motivates a commitment within this research to develop design methods, and research about design methods, which have value to both researchers and design practitioners and support a critical approach to their use.

#### 1.2.3 A Position on Design

My understanding of the nature of design practice and of *doing* design is formed through 13 years of working at the intersection of the technology design industry and the community sector. It has also been significantly shaped through time spent working in academic contexts. This academic experience has allowed me to cultivate a reflective practice and develop a richer understanding of design practice as a practitioner. In addition it has provided me with a perspective on, and fluency with, design methods and theory that I would have had difficultly obtaining in an industry context.

My practice is based on the premise that the role of the designer is not to design solutions to a particular problem or to communicate a message, but to facilitate communication, sociability and mutual learning within the design process through the provision of flexible tools, whatever form they take. This thesis is inspired by the possibilities that have been made available through social technologies for more people to participate in social, community and political activities and create platforms that enable grassroots and community-level action and engagement. My philosophical beliefs about my role and responsibilities as a designer in the world, and my experience as a design practitioner and researcher preface the philosophical approach to research taken in this thesis and the questions posed.

#### 1.2.4 Definitions of the Terms

For clarity a definition of some of the terms used in this thesis is provided.

#### Stakeholders and Users

At the CD Agency, the term 'stakeholder' is preferred over the term 'user', particularly in the early phases of the design process. 'User' is often (mis)interpreted to mean only end-users, and this has historically lead to a tendency by designers and clients to overlook those who manage and administrate the system when considering how to design 'for the users'. A focus on 'stakeholders' encourages clients and the project team to think more broadly about who might be impacted by the design and therefore who might need to be involved in the design process. The term also clearly positions the people who use the technology as having a stake in it. Therefore the terms 'stakeholder' and 'user' are used interchangeably in this thesis to mean any person who can be considered a primary stakeholder of the system we are building that needs to be involved in its design.

#### Design Research

The term design research is used in design literature to mean different things. The term can refer to design research being done *about* the design process; an inquiry focused on the production of knowledge *about* design (Buchanan, 1992; Cross, 1999; Moggridge, 2008; Zimmerman, Forlizzi & Evenson, 2007). This kind of design research is generally

located in an academic context. The term is also used to refer to design research that is project related, research done *as part of* the design process. This kind of design research is common within a practice or industry context.

While it is important to distinguish between these two levels of research, it should not be read into these distinctions that design and research are necessarily separate activities. Indeed the act of researching is central to the practice of design (Buchanan, 2001). However for the purposes of this thesis, which seeks to conduct design research *about* design, in part by examining design research methods used *as part of* design, it is important to be able to distinguish what aspect is being referred to when the term is used in this thesis. To do so capitalisation will be employed, with the former written as Design Research, and the latter as design research.

#### Design Researchers

According to Sanders (2008), the shift towards more generative methods at the beginning of the design process has meant that the boundaries between the activities of research and the activities of design are becoming blurred. This has lead to the emergence of a new hybrid role of designer/researcher or design researcher. This is a phenomenon I also recognise from practice. In this thesis the term design researcher is used to refer to the people from the design team working with participants during the early design research phase, acknowledging that in practice these people may have different job titles in the design organisation (e.g., designer, researcher).

#### 1.3 Approach

This section describes the theoretical frames that orientate the research and the approach taken. A brief summary of the field studies is also provided.

#### 1.3.1 Researching Design

The approach to research taken in this thesis is inspired by a phenomenological view of how knowledge is generated. Phenomenology puts ordinary human experience at the centre of our analysis, emphasising the 'lived experience' as the source of knowledge and theory (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2000). It can be argued that phenomenology is a particularly helpful perspective for understanding how we generate knowledge about design, because as Schön (1983) suggests, design is the domain of the specific, the situated and the concrete. Practice-led research, which takes a particular experience of

practice as the source of our understanding about design, can be considered a phenomenological approach to Design Research. It is common in practice-led research for the production of a design artefact to be the means through which research is generated (Hobbs, Fenn & Resmini, 2010; Rust, Mottram & Till, 2007). In this thesis it is not an artefact or design being generated as the source of the research, but rather a particular application of self-reporting as a design research method. It is the process of iteratively designing, evaluating and implementing this self-reporting method in a practice context that enables the generation of knowledge about practice.

The theoretical perspective taken on design as a practice in this thesis is supported by the descriptions of design practice and how professional design practitioners *do* design offered by Schön (1983). Schön's notion of the reflective practitioner, and his description of the design process as cycles of reflection-in-action and reflection-on-action, provide a basis for understanding the practice of design. These descriptions of design have been taken up by Scrivener (2000a; 2000b) and Scrivener and Chapman (2004) and used to develop a model for reflective practice-led art and design. This model helps to frame the research approach taken in this thesis (described further in Chapters 2 and 4).

Discussions of, and approaches to, the analysis of participation in design in this thesis are informed by Participatory Design (PD) (e.g., Greenbaum & Kyng, 1991; Schuler & Namioka, 1993). PD privileges the domain knowledge of the stakeholder in the design process and assumes their right to representation and determination over what is designed. PD offers an evolving set of critical and conceptual tools for framing and motivating discussions about design, participation and methods in new and different contexts (detailed further in Chapters 2 and 3). Projects that ask questions of participation find a natural affinity with PD and much contemporary work in design and Human Computer Interaction (HCI) is a move to engage with issues that have always been at the heart of PD. As a methodological, theoretical and analytical anchor in this thesis, PD provides resources for understanding the significance and complexity of participation, the potential ways in which conditions for participation can be created, and how choices about participation become manifest in our use of methods.

#### 1.3.2 Research Design



Figure 1. An overview of the different empirical studies and activities

The research design was crafted and negotiated in response to the particular practice context at the CD Agency. Figure 1 provides an overview of the empirical studies and activities that contribute to this research. Each activity or study informed the next. Exploratory interviews were used to initiate the research and these assisted in focusing the research. They confirmed that using mobile technologies to support self-reporting was a viable design research method in our context and worthy of further investigation through field studies. In the first field study Mobile Diary prototypes were used in a self-reporting study over a period of three weeks by the internal design team. This allowed us to test claims from the literature in our own context, compare different tools and techniques and gain an experiential understanding of what it might mean to use such self-reporting methods from the perspective of both a participant and design researcher. This first field study acted as a proof of concept for both the prototype and the approach to evaluating it. The study also provided us with the confidence to deploy such a study in a client context. The second field study allowed the evaluation of a more refined Mobile Diary prototype in a real-world design project with a client. Running the Mobile Diary study as part of an actual design project enabled us to experience and evaluate the method more fully in terms of the design outcomes and experiences it could support, and the role of the different tools in enabling those experiences.

The result of these two field studies was a refined version of the Mobile Diary method and online platform, which was implemented as an early design research method at the CD Agency for commercial projects. For reasons of confidentiality it is not possible to describe the commercial uses of the method in detail. However the experience of two subsequent commercial deployments that followed closely after the field studies (represented by the greyed-out boxes in the far right of Figure 1) helped to validate the findings of the initial field studies in different project contexts. As such a brief summary of the commercial studies, within the bounds of commercial confidence, is provided in Chapter 7 to account for their influence on the conclusions drawn in Chapters 8 and 9.

#### 1.4 Findings

In responding to the central research question, the findings of this research have shown that social technologies impact on participation in design in a number of ways. They enable new kinds of *design tools* and methods, such as the Mobile Diaries developed through this research. They constitute new *subjects* for design such as community platforms, social networks, and mashups that foreground a tight coupling between design and use and put emphasis on design *through use*. In addition, the expectations and capabilities enabled by social technologies as a broader cultural *context* for design are impacting on how stakeholders can, and expect to, participate in design. The everyday, emergent and social nature of social technologies demands and enables an emphasis on participation from the context of people's everyday, ongoing lives. At the same time the more public and participant-led approaches to research and design enabled by social technologies challenge traditional assumptions about the nature of participation in design, as well as concepts about how and where design is done, and by whom.

The findings are reported in two parts that correspond to the two research sub questions. The first sub question asks: *How and in what ways can social technologies as design tools support participation in early design*? This is addressed in Chapter 8 as **Designing** *With* **Social Technologies**. The results demonstrate how social technologies, *as design tools*, can support participation in early design by extending and enhancing the capacity of contextual design methods such as self-reporting. For designers, using social technologies in self-reporting has the potential to enhance the sense of immersion into the world of participants and create a greater sense of proximity to their lives. The digital, personal and networked nature of social technologies can allow designers to 'move even closer' to the lives of participants. For participants, the rich, personal and 'everyday' nature of social and personal practices of daily life, enhancing the ability of people to participate in design research in ways relevant to them. The social nature of social technologies also shifts self-reporting from a focus on 'self-documentation' to a process of co-discovery played out over the course of the study.

The traditional boundaries of participation in self-reporting, as a research activity, blur as the reach of self-reporting as a contextual method is extended. At the same time designing *with* social technologies also raises questions about privacy, ethics and ownership not accounted for in traditional methods. The 'sharability' of the tools and the increased capabilities of production, publication and distribution they bring to individuals challenge some of our existing assumptions and conventions about how participation is conceived and managed in early design. In Chapter 8 these findings are presented as seven experiential qualities of self-reporting and a discussion of the ethical and methodological issues that these raise.

The second sub question locates the investigation of social technologies as design tools within a particular domain by asking: How can such tools support participation in early design when social technologies themselves are the subject of design? This is addressed in Chapter 9 as Designing With and For Social Technologies. As a subject for design, social technologies foreground particular outcomes valuable to early design that go beyond informing and inspiring design to supporting participation in design through use. The results of this research show how social technologies as self-reporting tools can seed design, opening up new potential for participation through use in the early design of social technologies themselves. This is due to the creation of an experiential, concrete connection between the activities of researching, designing and using, and the location of the research activities within the context of people's everyday lives. Activities that were once associated with use, such as user-generated content or appropriating the 'project', can move into the early phases of design creating opportunities for community members to be active in shaping the design, through use. Such forms of participation are not accounted for in many traditional notions of selfreporting. Embracing such approaches again has a number of implications for how we conceive and manage participation in design, and how we support researching, designing and using as concurrent practices. In Chapter 9 this is presented through an analysis of how self-reporting can create potential opportunities for *seeding* the early design of community platforms and the impact of this on how we conceive of participation within design projects. The discussion of opportunities is balanced by the identification of challenges and barriers that exist within standard commercial design project infrastructures to embrace such emergent approaches.

#### 1.4.1 Contributions

The four main contributions of this thesis to design theory, practice and research are described below.

1. The development of Mobile Diaries, a specific self-reporting method beneficial to early design research and suited to commercial use

As a result of this research a specific self-reporting method, based on a particular set of methodological principles, was developed. The method is applicable for use in early design research in a commercial context. The method supports immersion by designers into the world of participants and creates conditions for dialogue with those individuals as active project stakeholders. It puts particular emphasis on gaining access to the mobile, social, ongoing aspects of people's daily lives, and their right to represent and share their lives, in their own way, on their own terms. This contribution includes:

- A descriptive analysis of the iterative design of the specific method
- The communication of the method, processes and principles to the research and design practitioner community
- The development of technical and practical guidelines to assist other designers in the use and evaluation of this and similar techniques
- A detailed demonstration of how the technique can be applied in practice.

This contribution can be found in Chapters 5, 6 and 7.

2. Conceptual tools that reflect the impact of social technologies on self-reporting and draw attention to the new ethical and methodological implications they introduce

This contribution to practice and theory about designing *with* social technologies includes:

 Seven experiential qualities that describe the capabilities social technologies bring to, or augment in, self-reporting that benefit the goals of early design research. *Layered representations*, capturing *life on the move* and *in the moment*, *shared windows, continual interaction, experimentation*, and *co-experience* are experiential qualities that impact on the experiences of designers and researchers and design research outcomes. These qualities can be used by other design researchers as conceptual tools for evaluating and choosing between different self-reporting tools. The intention in naming these qualities is to draw attention to capabilities of social technologies that impact on the nature of participation.

• The identification of ethical and methodological implications for design research methods such as self-reporting prompted by social technologies in relation to consent, anonymity, privacy and ownership that suggest how notions of participation in design are being renegotiated by social technologies.

This contribution is described further in Chapter 8.

3. Strategies to articulate and support experiences and outcomes important to the early design of social technologies in community settings, through the use of social technologies themselves

This contribution to practice and theory about designing *with* and *for* social technologies in community settings includes:

- An exploration of how the concept of *seeding* can be extended to describe activities important to the early design of social technologies in community settings and used as an analysis tool for understanding how such activities can be enabled
- The identification of *socialising the research*, *bridging between existing and future practices* and *developing early content* as potential strategies for seeding enabled by social technologies, that represent potential new patterns of participation appropriate to the context of social technologies
- A contribution to literature about how existing project infrastructure and assumptions about design and participation can frame and constrain the potential for participation in the design of social technologies.

This contribution can be found in Chapter 9.

4. An example of how practice-based design research can be conducted in a commercial context in ways valuable to both practice and research domains

This thesis presents a detailed description and reflection on the process of conducting practice-led research in a commercial design context.

This contribution includes:

- Making available to other researchers and practitioners a real-world, replicable account of the process of choosing and evaluating a particular method in practice, documenting the strengths, weaknesses and possible variations
- Extending understandings of how practice-led research can be conducted in commercial design practice
- An example of an approach to Design Research that enabled a direct contribution to practice

This contribution is developed through the entire thesis.

#### 1.4.2 A Note on Technology

The field studies documented in this research were undertaken in 2006 and 2007. Any research about current and emerging technologies faces the interesting challenge of the subject of that research changing over the course of the thesis. Some things have changed significantly; for example, in 2006 the term Camera Phone had a particular meaning and significance. In 2011 it is less relevant as a way to distinguish between different kinds of phones. Other changes have not been so dramatic; for example, many of the participants we worked with in more recent studies (e.g., between 2008 and 2010) are as new to MMS and blogging as participants were in 2006. Where possible I have accounted for the potential impact of new technologies on the findings presented throughout this thesis, based on experience from practice (including subsequent deployments of Mobile Diaries) and more recently published studies. However, while the field studies do focus on the particular technologies available at the time of the research, the analysis is framed in relation to how different social, technical and physical qualities impact on participation, moving the discussion beyond specific tools. Rather than advocate for one specific technology, the presentation of findings includes concepts and conceptual tools that help support critical thinking about the introduction and impact of particular kinds of technologies to design practice.

#### 1.4.3 A Note on Presentation

In this thesis visualisations have been used to highlight aspects of methods, concepts of participation or 'stages' in design. These visualisations have been important to the development of the thesis and to the identification of key theoretical and

methodological concepts. They create a visual shorthand for highlighting important points about design, participation and methods, and are included as part of retaining the designerly qualities of the research, its accessibility to more visually orientated readers, and the potential for findings to be published in more visually based formats.

#### 1.4.4 Chapter Outline

This section provides a summary of the chapters that follow and is a guide to the structure of this thesis.

In Chapter 2 the philosophical, theoretical and methodological positions on design, research, participation and methods for design that underpin this thesis are introduced along with a rationale and background to the practice-led research approach taken.

Chapter 3 provides a review of the literature relating to early design research, selfreporting and social technologies, introducing the trends, concepts and techniques that provide both the background to this thesis and a springboard for the empirical research and its analysis.

Chapter 4 describes the journey of the research, outlining the impact of the particular research context in shaping the research design and providing a rationale for the particular methods used. An overview of the field studies and approach to the analysis is given along with an account of how the practice-led research process was managed.

Chapter 5 documents the first field study, the design and evaluation of the first Mobile Diary prototype by the internal design team. The structure of the study, the findings, and how these contributed to the development of the Mobile Diary method are described.

Chapter 6 documents the second field study, a second iteration of the Mobile Diary prototype refined in the context of a real-world design project. The structure of the study, the findings, and how these contributed to the evolution of the Mobile Diary method are described.

Chapter 7 summarises the practical outcomes of the fieldwork including the final Mobile Diary method implemented at the CD Agency. It documents the work undertaken to ready the method for commercial use and provides a description of how the method was used in two different client projects and the experiences gained from that process. Practical and technical considerations relevant to adopting such approaches into practice are also provided as guidelines to other practitioners.

Chapter 8 draws together the results of the previous field studies and literature analysis to investigate and reflect on the implications of using social technologies as design tools for how we enable, conceive and manage participation in self-reporting. Seven experiential qualities of self-reporting brought to, or enhanced by, social technologies identified during the design of the Mobile Diary method are presented, along with a discussion of the ethical and methodological considerations such an appropriation of social technologies raises.

Chapter 9 draws together findings from the empirical research to investigate potential forms of participation enabled by social technologies as self-reporting tools, appropriate to the design of social technologies themselves. Experiences enabled by Mobile Diaries are explored for their potential to support, or be reconceptualised as, strategies for *seeding* design *through use*. The inherent limitations within our current approaches to supporting and managing these new forms of participation are also examined.

Chapter 10 concludes this thesis with a summary of the research outcomes. The research questions are revisited and key findings and contributions presented along directions for future work.

# 2

## Perspectives on Design, Research and Participation

This chapter introduces the philosophical, theoretical and methodological perspectives that together shape the particular stance on design, methods for design, participation in design, and research about design, taken in this thesis. It situates this thesis within particular design and research traditions and articulates our accountability, as designers and researchers, to our practice. A contextual background to doing research into design methods is presented, as is a rationale for going about that research in the context of design practice. Key grounding concepts in relation to participation in design are also introduced.

The chapter begins by laying out a working definition of the term 'design'. It then introduces and defines a position on Design Research. A phenomenological perspective on the practice of design and research is established to provide a bridge between the sometimes disparate domains of design theory and practice. An opportunity for the development of design methods applicable to practitioners and guided by such a philosophical perspective is then outlined. From these, practice-led research is introduced as a means through which Design Research that accounts for the situated nature of design can be done. Finally, an overview of Participatory Design is provided to ground discussions of participation in design.

#### 2.1 Doing Design

The perspectives taken on design in this thesis are inspired by phenomenological readings of what design is, and what it means to practice design. Below, four positions on design are introduced that together frame the approach to design, research and participation taken here. The positions are: *design is flexible, design is social, design is political* and *design is situated*.

#### 2.1.1 Design is Flexible

While this thesis seeks to contribute to the discipline of design, it is taken as a given that there is no single definition for design. In a discussion on the nature of design Buchanan (1992) describes it as:

A supple discipline, amenable to radically different interpretations in philosophy as well as in practice. (p.19)

The multiple places and ways in which the term design is used demonstrates the inherent flexibility of design as an activity. Importantly, Buchanan (1992) identifies that, at least in part, the changing ways in which we perceive design are dependent on the changing subject matter of design itself. For Buchanan the following examples represent different interpretations of subject matter in design over recent decades *symbolic and visual, material objects, activities and organized services, complex systems and environments* (ibid). Part of the essence of design then is in the indeterminacy of its subject matter (ibid). Correspondingly design refuses to be reduced to one or even a few models or definitions, rather it evolves in response to the subject with which design is concerned.

#### 2.1.2 Design is Social

Discussions on design often focus on the object of design, the product, technology or service or on the individual designer. But it is not only the construction of the artefact that interests us as designers. Rather, design concerns itself with how people live in the world (Ehn, 2008). Such a perspective on design is expressed in the following statement by Walter Gropius in his reflection on the founding of the Bauhaus in 1937:

*Our guiding principle was that design is neither an intellectual nor a material affair, but simply an integral part of the stuff of life...* (Gropius, 1970, p.20)

Design as a practice is caught up in the ongoing and ill-defined business of real life (Ehn, 1988). As Papanek argued in 1971, it is through design that our tools and our environment are shaped. For this reason it matters deeply how we go about design, and which philosophical approaches or perspectives underlie our design practice (Robertson, 2006).

#### 2.1.3 Design is Political

Decisions we make in design and the methods we choose to use constrain and afford different practices. As designers we have a moral and social responsibility to consider what kinds of practices we might be supporting or re-enforcing through the choices we make (Verbeek, 2006). As Robertson (2006) argues:

Some solutions enhance the possibilities for human agency, others diminish it. This means that there can be a moral basis for choosing between alternative interaction design decisions that might otherwise be considered equivalent in terms of the functionality and usability of the technology. (p.49)

While we may intend to build a system in response to stakeholders' needs, our designs themselves have an effect on the way people are able, or encouraged, to act in the world. Equally, the methods, tools and techniques we choose to use also shape how it is that people can participate in design. Particular kinds of design methods and methodological approaches privilege participation while others may not and these assumptions about participation can carry forward into use.

#### 2.1.4 Design is Situated

Finally, it is a premise of this thesis that design is a discipline constituted in the actual, and the particular (Buchanan, 1992; Schön, 1983; Stolterman, 2008). *Doing* design means dealing with specific, concrete situations. For this reason design has been labelled as complex (Stolterman, 2008), messy (Schön, 1983) and wicked (Buchanan, 1992). Designers are required to accommodate the specific and unique conditions of the task at hand (Stolterman, 2008). Importantly, design is not prescriptive. Rather, design is a process of learning, iteration, reflection, reframing and negotiation with the specificities of the world (Schön, 1983). This understanding of the situated nature of design practice impacts on how we consider, and go about doing, research in the realm of design.

These four foundational stances on design inspire and orientate the positions on Design Research, methods and participation outlined in the remainder of this chapter and motivate both the research questions and the approach to investigating those questions documented in this thesis.

#### 2.2 Design and Research

Design as a discipline means design studied on its own terms, within its own rigorous culture, based on a reflective practice of designing. (Cross, 2007, p. 4)

Design Research is still in the process of establishing itself as an academic research discipline (Davis, 2008; Dorst, 2008). It has gone through a number of evolutions in its attempts to demonstrate its rigour and validity as a domain worthy of academic research. Much of the early years were spent in an effort to align design to science (Cross, 2001). However a scientific model was found inadequate for the purposes of dealing with the complexities of design (ibid). Science generally seeks to describe or predict phenomena irrespective of context or situation (Forlizzi, 2008). In contrast, design (and therefore Design Research) deals with human interactions. The situations that take our focus as designers contain a great deal of uncertainty and, as noted above, are necessarily embedded in the specific and the particular (Forlizzi, 2008; Swann, 2002).
In a survey of Design Research over the last 40 years Cross (2007) suggests that design 'came of age' in the 1980s, severing the connections with the 'science of design' dialogues that had dominated the previous two decades. While arguments for a 'science' of Design Research can still be found in some contemporary literature, the emphasis in Design Research discourse since the 1980s has largely moved beyond this. The focus of more contemporary design theory is on the development of Design Research as a discipline that responds to the social, situated and flexible nature of design (Buchanan, 2001; Cross, 1999; Nelson & Stolterman, 2003).

As such there is a growing body of work that contends that design as a discipline has the capacity to maintain its own research practice, instead of being reliant on methods or frameworks of other (more established) disciplines such as science or humanities (e.g., Haseman, 2006; Wolf, Rode, Sussman & Kellogg, 2006). According to Cross (1999), Design Research is concerned with:

...forms of knowledge peculiar to the awareness and ability of a designer, just as other intellectual cultures in the sciences and the arts concentrate on the forms of knowledge particular to the scientist or the artist. (p. 5)

Design has its own distinct intellectual culture, and its own 'designerly ways of knowing' (Cross, 2001). In seeking a philosophical perspective that supports this approach to Design Research many researchers in the field of technology design have drawn upon phenomenology. The emphasis on experience that constitutes phenomenology as a philosophical approach allows us to stay connected to, and explicate, the particularities of design and use (Bannon, 2005).

#### 2.2.1 Phenomenology

As a practice of philosophy, Phenomenology has been interpreted in different ways by its various proponents including Husserl, Heidegger, Merleau-Ponty and Sartre (Moran, 2000). However its common thread is the emphasis on an examination and understanding of the world through our experience of it (ibid). Rather than imposing a preconceived idea or theory on our experience in advance, phenomena are understood from within (ibid). The world precedes knowledge and is always *already there* before reflection begins (Merleau-Ponty, 1962).

#### Moran (2000) states that:

The program of phenomenology sought to reinvigorate philosophy by returning it to the life of the living human subject...this call to renew philosophy went hand in hand with an appeal to return to concrete, lived human experience in all its richness. (p.5)

The focus on actual human experience and the specificities of everyday practice as the source of knowledge building make phenomenology a natural start point for those concerned with the situated and messy practices of design and use. As such, numerous significant works in computing and technology design have taken phenomenology as their start point for understanding the human experience of, and relationship to, technological artefacts (Bannon, 2005). For example, Winograd and Flores (1986) call upon Heidegger's philosophy of technology in their frequently cited book Understanding Computers and Cognition. This is a seminal work in the field that has greatly influenced human-centred approaches to design (Bannon, 2005). In a similarly significant work Work Orientated Design of Computer Artifacts, Ehn (1988), also draws on Heidegger's philosophy of technology. Ehn takes a phenomenological perspective to develop his focus on the importance of the 'everydayness of use' (Bannon, 2005). Ehn's work has been foundational in the Participatory Design movement, which in itself could be considered a phenomenological approach to design (Robertson, 2002). In another key HCI text Where the Action is, Dourish (2001) draws upon phenomenology to conceptualise user interface design and use as 'embodied interaction'. Robertson (1997) used Merleau-Ponty's account of embodied human experiences as the start point for an investigation into supporting cooperative design work over distance. Loke (2008) also took a phenomenological perspective based on Merleau-Ponty and the work of Sheets-Johnstone in her research into dancers, and accessing the felt experience of the moving body in interaction design.

Phenomenology privileges lived experience, positing that our primary access to the world comes from practical involvement (Winograd & Flores, 1986). Rather than extrapolating the findings from an individual case or cases to theorise more generally, we see the general in the individual (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2000). In phenomenology it is experiential understandings that take priority (Moran, 2000; Robertson, 2002). In this thesis phenomenology provides a theoretical framework for understanding the practice of design, as well as a perspective on how we might investigate that practice. It

also provides a perspective on the necessary dynamic between practice and theory that is helpful when navigating between the two domains of design; Design Research in an academic sense and professional design practice.

#### 2.2.2 Two Domains of Design

Jon: ...how is it that professional designers, strategists, and managers can do their work without the larger intellectual context of theory and academic discourse?

**Richard:** ...many professionals have neither the time nor the inclination to understand the relevance of theory and academic discourse. And, of course, sometimes—or perhaps often—there is little relevance, which lowers that inclination even more. (Anderson & Kolko, 2009, p.80)

Doing Design Research that makes a direct contribution to professional design practice requires us to engage with the relationship between design in industry and design in academia (Ehn, 1988; Stolterman, 2008). The above excerpt is taken from a discussion in the March/April 2009 edition of *interactions*, an online magazine from the ACM intended as a publishing venue for practitioners. The editors of the magazine, Richard Anderson and Jon Kolko, highlight the tension between academic knowledge and industry practice. As the above dialogue suggests, the two design domains of industry and academia have traditionally remained relatively separate, and at times oblivious to the activities of the other (Rust et al., 2007). According to Anderson & Kolko (2009) many practitioners work in ignorance of a great array of potentially useful theoretical resources. Stolterman (2008) and Rogers (2004) also observe that Design Research done in academic contexts often has little uptake in industry.

A lack of understanding or collaboration between these two locations of design has also been reflected in my personal experience as a practitioner and researcher. Working across both domains there is at times little connection between the two spaces, or alternatively, efforts around similar issues fail to acknowledge the potentially beneficial insights of the other. Hobbs, Fenn and Resmini (2010) make a similar observation in arguing for the value of Design Research to 'maturing the practice' of User Experience Design<sup>1</sup>. A desire for a more reciprocal relationship between these design contexts is visible in a range of design literature (e.g., Anderson & Kolko, 2009; Laurel, 2003; Sanders, 2008; Stolterman, 2008; Swann, 2002; Wolf et al., 2006). The differences between the two fields and the benefits of developing a stronger relationship between the two are further explored below.

In discussing the role of research, Cross (1999) states:

The whole point of doing research is to extract reliable knowledge from either the natural or the artificial world, and to make that knowledge available to others in reusable form. (p.9)

As Cross suggests, Design Research has as its focus the development of a body of knowledge *about* design; space, time and resources are allocated to investigate, experiment, reflect and analyse aspects of design or designing. Among other things this allows for the development and dissemination of knowledge and collective learning about specific areas of design as well as overarching theories and frameworks that can help us understand broader shifts and connections between things (Davis, 2008; Hobbs et al., 2010). On the other hand, design practice in industry lacks the resources for such activity and tends to be focused on specific project outcomes. Arguing for the role of research in developing the field of User Experience and Information Architecture, Hobbs et al. (2010) describe how the nature of the professional field limits its ability to support the development of the discipline:

The informal structures of a community of practice are limited in their ability to store and disseminate knowledge; the validation of knowledge is not rigorous; opinion and knowledge are often confused; communities of practice tend to be impermanent; there is a lack of real progress made in the ongoing discourses (discussions are circular)...(p.37)

Despite its more transient nature professional design practice does help to motivate and orientate research questions that respond to new patterns in use. Sevaldson (2010)

<sup>1</sup> The terms Interaction Design and User Experience Design are often used interchangeably within industry, however the latter is increasingly more common.

argues that Design Research based in design practice results in new knowledge that can only be found within design practice.

The current low level of dialogue between the two spaces can in part be attributed to the proprietary nature of commercial practice. Davis (2008) alludes to how such commercial sensitivities discourage practitioners (and it, could be argued, companies) from sharing internal learning, though companies such as Ideo, Make Tools, Adaptive Path, and Cheskin are obvious exceptions to this. Yee (2007) suggests the lack of design practitioners who straddle both academic and commercial domains also contributes to the problem. At the same time, academic research outputs are necessarily designed for a particular audience and context and their format can be somewhat inaccessible for practitioners with little time to locate, read and follow such literature. Lunenfield (2003) argues that in order for design practitioners to understand their own work within the historical context in which it exists, design history, theory and criticism needs to be available in a non-academic environment. As a design practitioner and researcher, my intention in this thesis is to make a contribution to research that helps to bridge both domains of design. Part of the work of this research has been to document the activity of translating and actively negotiating the use of techniques and methodological approaches from academic literature into practice and to find ways to make accessible to other practitioners existing academic knowledge about methods.

#### 2.2.3 Developing Designerly Methods

In the paper *The Nature of Design Practice and Implications for Interaction Design Research*, Stolterman (2008) focuses on the gap between design methods developed in research contexts and those actually *used by practitioners*. Rogers (2004), Sanders (2006) and Stolterman (2008) all argue that methods developed in a research context are not necessarily easily translated into design practice. Rogers (2004) suggests that this is partly due to the different methodological underpinnings between the two design spaces. Sanders (2006) also distinguishes between design-led methods developed out of design practice, and research-led methods developed largely in academic contexts. Stolterman (2008) proposes that the latter fail to take into account the designerly nature of design practice, arguing that design methods that are of value to practitioners are those that are grounded in an understanding of design practice.

According to a study by Rogers (2004) and follow-up research by Stolterman et al. (2008), the kinds of methods being taken up by designers include methods like storyboards, prototyping, scenarios, use cases, cultural probes and brainstorming. Stolterman (2008) argues that what differentiates these methods from those such as GOMs, which are not taken up by design practitioners, is that they embrace the creative nature of design. Stolterman et al. (2008) use the term 'designerly' as a way of describing methods, tools and techniques that support design activity in way that is appreciated by practising designers. 'Designerly' methods are those that extend the natural abilities of creative designers, as opposed to those that are prescriptive such as engineering models of design, or those that require sophisticated theoretical knowledge. The kinds of methods that are taken up by practitioners then could be considered those that most readily connect with the way we already practise design. These observations reflect my own experiences of practice, where methods that revolve around sketching, storytelling (such as scenarios and personas), thinking-through-doing (such as prototyping) and visual or spatial analysis (such as affinity mapping and card sorting) have shown themselves to be accessible to other practitioners, actionable, and relatively easily introduced into practice.

The notion of designerly methods is important to this thesis. As a concept it helps to articulate why some methods and techniques are more popular in practice and orientates the development of new methods for practice. It also forms one of the perspectives from which methods and techniques explored in this thesis are discussed and evaluated. While the central research questions of the thesis are around notions of participation and social technologies, the vehicle for supporting participation is in part design methods and the empirical research in this thesis involves the development of a design research method for use in practice. To increase the likelihood that such methods would be useful, usable and used by designers, it should be possible to recognise within them designerly qualities. Based on Stolterman's research, designerly methods can be characterised as exploratory, creative, tangible, generative and visual methods. This correlates to my own experiences as a practitioner working in design, and to other literature and studies on early generative design methods (e.g., Gaver et al., 1999; Stappers & Sanders, 2003). Identifying examples of designerly qualities and explicating how they are being supported (or not) through different methods and techniques is covered in more detail in the following chapter.

Stolterman (2008) suggests that the development of rich and rigorous design methods relevant to practitioners can be achieved through practice-led research with a sound philosophical basis. In this thesis a phenomenologically inspired approach to Design Research, that starts with our experience of practice, provides a theoretical approach to research that keeps us connected to design practice. Practice-led research becomes the methodological approach through which grounded contributions to both design practice and theory can be made and bridges between the two domains of design can be built.

# 2.3 Practice-led Design Research

Research *through* practice, a phrase attributed to both Archer (1995) and Frayling (1993), depending on the literature, is increasingly being understood as a valid method for exploring and developing knowledge about design. Rust et al. (2007) propose practice as the natural arena for inquiry for Design Research, arguing this is an extension of learning-in-practice common to design, art and architecture. As Sevaldson (2010) suggests, such an approach to Design Research

emphasizes insider perspectives, a generative approach, operates in rich and multiple layers and relates to real life contexts. The output is new communicable knowledge that is only found within design practice. (p.8)

Design Research that takes this approach to investigating design is generally described as either practice-led or practice-based research (Scrivener & Chapman, 2004; Yee, 2007). While some authors choose to differentiate between the two terms (e.g., Candy, 2006), the Arts & Humanities Research Council's (AHRC) major survey of Practice-Led Research in the UK and internationally does not, arguing that there is no one clear definition of practice-led research (Rust et al., 2007). As such the terms practice-based and practice-led research are used interchangeably in this thesis.

Traditionally the practices of design and research have been considered quite distinct from one another (Scrivener, 2000b). Practice-led research instigates and negotiates a much closer, reflexive relationship between the two. From a methodological viewpoint, both the terms practice-led and practice-based research have been used within design and art to refer to multiple ideas and meanings depending on the discipline, context and focus of the investigation (Rust et al., 2007). The common thread is that practice becomes the location, start point or mode of research. Practice informs knowledge which in turn informs practice (Hobbs et al., 2010). In order to understand how design practice itself becomes a mode of research, it is useful to start by first explicating the nature of design practice and defining a language through which it can be discussed and reflected upon. Schön's (1983) theories of the Reflective Practitioner provide us with the theoretical tools to do this.

#### 2.3.1 Reflective Practitioner

Schön's (1983) theories on design have been fundamental to many descriptions of design that seek to explicate the often implicit and tacit aspects of practice (e.g., Loke, 2008; Ludvigsen, 2006; Sengers et al., 2005; Stolterman, 2008; Wolf et al., 2006). Stolterman (2008) posits that Schön's work has been taken up extensively by designers because Schön "managed to find a way to describe design practice that can be recognized by practicing designers..." (p.61). Similarly, according to Cross (2001), Schön's notion of reflective practice allows us to "put trust in the abilities displayed by competent practitioners" and tries to "explicate those competencies rather than supplant them" (p.52).

Schön (1983) captures the investigative nature of design, characterising design as the exploration of a problem space, rather than a response to a clear hypothesis: problem-setting rather than problem-solving. Importantly Schön (ibid) names and makes available for discussion processes within design that are often thought of as inexplicable, in particular designers' 'tacit' knowledge. Tacit knowledge, first presented by Polanyi (1966), assumes "*we can know more than we can tell*". Tacit knowledge is typically difficult to formalise and describe (Spinuzzi, 2005), but acknowledging how embodying such knowledge shapes us, and how the world presents itself to us, is essential to understanding how design is practiced by design professionals. As Schön (1983) explains:

When we go about spontaneous, intuitive performance of the actions of everyday life, we show ourselves to be knowledgeable in a special way. Often we cannot say what it is that we know... the workaday life of the professional depends on tacit knowing-in-action. (pp. 49-50)

Schön's concept of *knowing-in-action* articulates how our design 'knowing' is embedded implicitly *in* our actions (Scrivener, 2000b). At the same time, Schön proposed that as reflective practitioners we engage in a constant conversation with the design situation, and that the design situation 'talks back' to us (Wolf et al., 2006). We apply our existing knowledge as designers to propel design forward. When our moves result in something unexpected or unwelcomed we step back, evaluate, and then move forward again with a modified stance (Ehn, 1988). It is this reflection, this conversation between designer and situation, that allows us to move forward in iterative cycles of refinement. Schön terms this *reflection-in-action* (1983). Sengers et al. (2005) describe this process of reflection as an active, visceral process rather than one of detached cerebral analysis.

*Reflection-in-action* that occurs naturally throughout the design process is complemented by the more conscious activity of *reflection-on-action* (Schön, 1983). This occurs at break points, where we are able to consciously reflect back on, and perhaps share or document, aspects of practice as we have experienced it. As designers we oscillate between these two states of involved design and detached reflection (Ehn, 1988). Similarly as we move through a project we come to learn more about the subject matter and the problem domain (Schön, 1983). The talkback from the situation can, in turn, lead to a reframing of the problem. This articulation of the design process is at the centre of many methodological discussions about practice-led or practice-based Design Research studies (e.g., Rust et al., 2007; Scrivener & Chapman, 2004; Scrivener, 2000b).

#### 2.3.2 A Model for Reflective Practice-led Design Research

Scrivener has used Schön's theories of reflective practice, and in particular the activities of *reflection-in-action* and *reflection-on-action*, to develop a model for practice-led research in art and design (Scrivener & Chapman, 2004; Scrivener, 2000b). Scrivener (2000b) suggests that by making our naturally occurring episodes of reflection more public, and their documentation more systematic, the practice of design also becomes a rigorous research practice. According to Scrivener (ibid) the difference between design and Design Research in practice-based research exists only in the extent to which reflection in, and on, action and practice, and reflection on reflection are conducted. He employs Schön's notion of the reflective practitioner to explicate our naturally occurring processes of reflection, as well as to make them available for scrutiny (Scrivener, 2000a; Scrivener & Chapman, 2004).

Scrivener's model (depicted in Figure 2) differentiates between reflection-in-actionand-practice (RIAP) that takes place during a 'work episode', from reflection-on-actionand-practice (ROAP) that takes place at a break point (e.g., the end of the day or week) or at the end of the activity. He also identifies three significant stages of reflection during the research process. These are pre-project, within project, and post reflection (Scrivener, 2000a).



Figure 2. A reproduction of Scrivener's model of reflection in and on design episodes and projects

[Production Note: The author gratefully acknowledges the permission of the University of Hertfordshire to reproduce Figure 2 on page 34, Stephen Scrivener's model for practice-led research in art and design.]

Usually these processes of reflection-in-action and reflection-on-action are private to the practitioner (Scrivener, 2000b). To elevate this everyday design practice to Design Research, public and systematic documentation is required (ibid). This documentation may account for the decisions, reflections and learnings of the designer throughout the process, as well as identify the acts through which such reflection occurs e.g., writing up descriptions of the work. Scrivener's model for practice-led research provides a framework for Design Research that is located in and driven by the nature of practice. I have used this as a model for articulating how the practice-led research undertaken in this thesis was enabled and Chapter 4 provides more detail of how this approach has been applied.

#### 2.3.3 Rigour in Design Research

Doctoral studies in design are relatively new and the structures to support practice-led approaches to Design Research are still being developed (Rust et al., 2007). Unlike other more established disciplines, there is, as yet, no agreed or shared set of principles. For this reason, Scrivener and Chapman (2004) note that most doctoral students doing practice-led research are in the position of having to consider *"both methodology and*"

*methodological rigor*". For examples of other doctoral research that address this issue see Loke (2008), Ludvigsen (2006), McLaughlin (2008) and Sleeswijk Visser (2009). Schön maintained that design carries within it its own distinctive norms of rigour (Scrivener, 2000b). In writing about rigour in practice-based research, Biggs and Büchler (2007) suggest that what makes such research rigorous is dictated by what it means to do research *about* design. They argue that the obligations of rigour in *all* forms of research are, at their most basic, met by the practitioners' ability to demonstrate the validity of their selected method to deliver the research solution (ibid). They suggest that establishing rigour in Design Research is no different to that of other fields, because:

Rigor in research is based upon making explicit the necessity of a particular method, and that is what legitimizes the whole process...rigor in research is the strength of the chain of reasoning, and that has to be judged in the context of the question and the answer, for example, in the context of design as opposed to the context of physics or philosophy research. (Biggs & Büchler, 2007, p.69)

What this suggests is that rigour in Design Research is demonstrated by a research approach that takes into account the nature and practice of design as *flexible, social, political* and *situated*. Practice-led research allows the designer/researcher to be accountable to these qualities of design.

# 2.4 Participation in Design

At the beginning of the chapter the politics of design and our corresponding moral responsibility as designers was established as a core premise of this thesis. As a design tradition Participatory Design (PD) also has its politics up front. PD is built on the premise that as domain experts users should be involved in the process of design (Schuler & Namioka, 1993). Users are empowered as co-designers that actively contribute to the shaping of the technology throughout the design process (Greenbaum & Kyng, 1991) and design is understood as *completed in use* (Balka & Wagner, 2006; Dittrich, Eriksén & Hansson, 2002; Henderson & Kyng, 1991). The origins of Participatory Design (PD) are grounded in activism and attempts to democratise technology, as workers pushed for input into changes in their workplace in the late 60s

in Scandinavia (Schuler & Namioka, 1993). While PD and the contexts within which it is practised have evolved much since its inception in Scandinavian software development in the 60's, the overarching tenet of PD is still participation within the design process of the people affected by the technology being designed. PD works from the premise that it is our obligation as designers to create conditions *for* participation in design (Bødker, 1994). PD has always been, by definition, practice-based because of its focus on participation because it recognises the expertise of those who do the activity.

According to Kensing and Blomberg (1998) PD research is largely concerned with three things: the politics of design; the nature of participation; and methods, tools and techniques for participation. Of these three aspects it is the latter that has been most widely taken up within HCI and mainstream design practices.

#### 2.4.1 Participatory Design Methods

One of the goals of Participatory Design methods is to support the co-construction of understandings of practice between the design researcher and the user (Kensing & Blomberg, 1998). Ethnographically inspired methods such as observations, interviews and visualisations have been used to achieve this (ibid). In addition methods such as cooperative prototyping (Bødker & Grønbæk, 1991a), future workshops (Brandt & Grunnet, 2000; Kensing & Madsen, 1991), scenarios (Bødker, 2000), and design games (Ehn & Kyng, 1991) have been developed to allow both designers and users hands-on experimentation with design ideas. Participatory Design methods place value in play, co-operative and mutual learning, creating visions of the future and design-by-doing (participation through hands on-experience) (Greenbaum & Kyng, 1991). Rather than focusing on data collection about users, Ehn (1988) describes these approaches as practice-research. The methods used in PD are a form of intervention that enable users to experience, reflect on and share otherwise implicit knowledge, and then use that knowledge to act (Bødker & Iversen, 2002). They prioritise our obligation as designers to privilege openness, sociability and flexibility in our designs (Schuler & Namioka, 1993).

As noted above, PD methods such as prototyping and scenarios have had wide uptake in more mainstream design practice (Friedman, Borning, Davis, Gill, Jr., Kriplean & Lin, 2008). Building on Stolterman's (2008) argument that design methods relevant to practitioners should be grounded in design practice, the successful uptake of PD

methods and their designerly nature can be understood as a reflection of their basis in design practice. They enable us as designers to engage our natural creative and explorative abilities whilst also providing opportunities for users and stakeholders to participate in similar ways. In the design of Mobile Diaries documented in this thesis, I have sought to embed participatory and designerly qualities. How these might be translated into the context of self-reporting is explored further in Chapter 3 and makes up part of the evaluation of the method in Chapters 5 and 6.

While methods from PD have made their way into mainstream design practice, the use of these participatory methods does not necessarily equate to a participatory design process as first intended. Without a broader commitment to the politics of PD, these methods become ways of *involving the user*, without necessarily giving them an active role in the design process (Spinuzzi, 2002). The dilution of the political intentions of PD as it moves beyond its democratically driven source, and the ways in which PD has been interpreted in different contexts is the subject of a range of PD literature (e.g., Beck, 2002; Bergvall-Kåreborn & Ståhlbröst, 2008; Bødker & Iversen, 2002; Muller, Blomberg, Carter, Dykstra, Madsen & Greenbaum, 1991; Spinuzzi, 2002). It has been important for those seeking to return to or maintain the original intentions of PD to differentiate between participation where the intention is to enable users to influence design (Kensing & Blomberg, 1998), and that which represents 'mere' user involvement in design (Bødker & Iversen, 2002; Muller, Wildman & White, 1992). In the latter, users can become more like an information resource for designers to, for example, gain an increase in sales (Brereton & Buur, 2008).

As suggested by the above critique, while a self-reporting technique might be participatory in nature, the capacity for them to be constitutive of Participatory Design depends on the broader framework within which they are used and, in particular, the influence participants have over the actual shape of design in an ongoing sense. The politics and priorities inherent in commercial contexts can make this broader political commitment particularly problematic to support (Balka, 2006; Loi, 2008; Rönkkö, Hellman & Dittrich, 2008). Equally, while Participatory Design has long conceptualised design research as going beyond data collection to becoming participatory action research (Ehn, 1988), actually translating this into commercial practice requires negotiation. This thesis documents some of the new opportunities for participation in the design of social technologies presented by methods such as Mobile Diaries, as well

as the challenges encountered in supporting such ongoing participation in a particular practice-led context (detailed in Chapter 9).

#### 2.4.2 Participatory Design as an Analytical Frame

Kensing and Blomberg (1998) characterise PD as both a maturing area of research and an evolving practice of design. Applications of PD have expanded beyond their original workplace settings into a range of other design domains and contexts. One of the first to do this was Robertson's (1996) Participatory Design Conference paper on off-the-shelf technology in small design agencies and since then many more examples have followed (e.g., Boyd-Graber, Nikolova, Moffatt<sup>†</sup>, Kin, Lee, Mackey, Tremaine & Klawe, 2006; DiSalvo et al., 2007; DiSalvo, Nourbakhsh, Holstius, Akin & Louw, 2008; Dittrich et al., 2002; Harvard, 2002; Karasti & Syrjänen, 2004; Robertson, Mansfield & Loke, 2006; Somerville, 2007; Taxén, 2004). Social technologies are another natural focus for PD and, as Lievrouw (2006) points out, Participatory Design in the context of social technologies becomes recursive:

...participation is both the means of designing usable and meaningful systems and content, and...the goal or outcome of well-designed technologies. (p.122)

Several researchers have noted the need to extend PD into the areas represented by social technologies and have begun to map out the challenges and opportunities there (e.g., Bergvall-Kåreborn & Ståhlbröst, 2008; Binder et al., 2008a; Binder, Brandt & Gregory, 2008b; Brandt, Messeter & Binder, 2008; Brereton & Buur, 2008; Ehn, 2008; Lievrouw, 2006). Some of these challenges and opportunities are explored in further detail in Chapter 3. The analysis of social technologies in this thesis is motivated by, and seeks to contribute to, this ongoing research into theories and methods for supporting and conceptualising the design of social technologies within PD.

# 2.5 Summary

The positions on design, Design Research, design methods and participation outlined in this chapter set the scene for a particular stance on design. They set out assumptions, responsibilities and accountabilities pertinent to both design practice and research about design, establish the phenomenological perspective on Design Research taken in this thesis, and provide an argument for the value of academic Design Research that is deeply grounded in practice. The work of Stolterman (2008) and Schön (1983) in particular sensitise us to choices we might make as designers about methods, and provide tools for recognising 'designerly methods' suited to professional design practice. Participatory Design provides perspectives and analytical tools through which we can ask, and answer, the question of how, and in what ways, participation is being enabled in the design process, and the role of particular tools and methods within that. As such, the theoretical and methodological concepts presented in this chapter provide a lens through which participation, design and design methods are discussed, analysed and evaluated in the following chapters.

# 3

# Early Design Research, Self-reporting Methods and Social Technologies: A Review

This chapter provides a review of related literature on the topics that form the focus of this research: early design research, self-reporting methods and social technologies. The growing interest in generative, designerly methods is explored and a background to self-reporting as a design method is provided. The evolution of self-reporting through the appropriation of everyday, social technologies is also surveyed. The discussion and analysis focuses on how choices about methods and tools impact on the experiences of designers and participants and how participation is currently framed and supported. The chapter also explores emerging concepts and the focus they bring to participation. The concept of seeding is explored, and key studies from Participatory Design are examined, to better understand the nature of design and participation in this context, as well as ways in which design practitioners are responding.

The chapter begins with a discussion of the principles that underlie generative design research methods and techniques used in the early stages of design. Different approaches to self-reporting as a method for contextual data collection are then discussed through two examples common to design and HCI; diaries and probes. This is followed by examples of how self-reporting is being extended and augmented through the appropriation of everyday technologies as tools for research. The next section focuses on the challenges and considerations presented by social technologies themselves as a subject for design. Various considerations for designers working in community settings in particular are identified. The use by researchers of the concept of seeding, and its value as a metaphor for articulating and responding to these concerns for early design research is also explored. The final section looks at opportunities for design and participation 'in the wild' emerging in response to, and as a result of, social technologies, and connects this to opportunities posed by the co-opting of social technologies as self-reporting tools.

#### 3.1 Early Design Research

To design is to have a 'project'. Getting the design process moving is to expose and transform this 'project' in a conversation with those that it might eventually affect. (Buur, Binder & Brandt, 2000, p.16)

The domain being investigated in this thesis is the early, exploratory phase of the design process often referred to as the 'fuzzy front end' (Rhea, 2003; Sanders & Stappers, 2008). At the CD agency, this early, exploratory phase of design is known as the 'scoping phase'. At this point in the design process the project is yet to be defined. The emphasis is on gaining insights and exploring possibilities, rather than collecting specific data or evaluating or validating specific user requirements or priorities (Moggridge, 2008; Rhea, 2003; Sanders, 2005; Zimmerman et al., 2007). As designers we are seeking to gain a deeper appreciation of, and sensitivity to, the new design situation and, as the opening quote suggests, engage with the stakeholders who may be affected by the design.

Sanders and Stappers (2008) argue that while design research methods to study existing products in use, or to evaluate new products, have existed for some time, generative methods for the early stages of design aimed at generating ideas or uncovering new product opportunities with users have been the last to develop. Over the last decade

work by Liz Sanders (and that of co-researchers at Delft) has been particularly influential in shaping the face of generative design research and its associated methods. Her evolving map of design research (Sanders, 2006; Sanders, 2008) has become a commonly referenced resource for naming, describing, and locating design research methods in relation to various traditions. According to Sanders (2005), research-led methods often focus on the systematic collection of data for analysis, whereas more generative, design-led methods put emphasis on helping people to express themselves. While traditional research might have focused on informing design, early generative design research has the goal of informing *and* inspiring design (Sanders, 2005).

Generative design methods look beyond the specific product being designed, and seek to enable broader insights into contexts, actions, feelings, attitudes and expectations (Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002; Sleeswijk Visser et al., 2005). They put emphasis on enabling participants to share a rich, immersive picture of their world. Sleeswijk Visser (2005) (also of Delft) makes the distinction between methods such as interviews and observations which make available explicit and observable knowledge about contexts, and generative methods which aim to make available aspects of people's worlds that would otherwise remain implicit. Generative methods are designed to "*allow us to gain access to a hidden world of user experience*" (Sleeswijk Visser, 2009, p.122).

Generative methods build on the principles of participatory design with their emphasis on actual experience and in seeking ways in which to support participants to reflect on, and make available, otherwise implicit aspects of their lives (though they do not necessarily embody the same commitment to participation). At the heart of participatory design methods such as scenarios (Bødker, 2000), prototypes (Ehn & Sjogren, 1991; Spinuzzi, 2005) and design games (Ehn, 1988) is work to make the 'everyday' accessible to both participants and designers as part of facilitating conversation, exploration and co-design. As Greenbaum and Madsen (1993) suggest, people are not sources of explicit knowledge, each of us experiences the world differently. These different participatory methods act as interventions, designed to help the researcher and the user co-construct an understanding of practice (Kensing & Blomberg, 1998).

Generative methods incorporate these principles, often including activities such as collage, mapping, building things, role-play with props and visual scenarios, which become tools for expression, sharing and reflection. The outputs are personal, subjective and tangible objects that can be used as a concrete resource by designers and

participants for inspiring and informing design. Sleeswijk Visser (2009) emphasises the value of this personalised material; actual images, quotes and sketches created by participants to enable designers to feel connected to people's everyday. Such material helps designers build empathy for the lives and experiences of participants and facilitates dialogue between participants and designers (Kouprie & Sleeswijk Visser, 2009; Mattelmäki, 2005; Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002). It becomes a 'shared design language' that design researchers and stakeholders can use to communicate with each other (Sanders, 2006).

Examples of generative methods include Cultural Probes (Gaver et al., 1999) (discussed in more detail in the following section), generative tools (Sanders, 1992; Stappers & Sanders, 2003) and Context Mapping (Sleeswijk Visser et al., 2005). Generative tools are visual and verbal tool kits created to assist participants in expressing themselves (Sanders, 2000) and through which design researchers and participants can communicate visually and directly (Sanders, 2006). Context Mapping takes from both probes and generative tools and is a framework for mapping, and then communicating, the context of people's interactions with products (Sleeswijk Visser, 2009). In order to support the process of reflection, and to access the more private, personal and domestic aspects of people's lives, generative activities are often combined with forms of self-reporting. Cultural probes (Gaver et al., 1999) are in themselves a form of self-documentation, whilst generative tools (Sanders, 2001; Stappers & Sanders, 2003) and Context Mapping (Sleeswijk Visser et al., 2005) usually include some form of self-reporting to 'sensitise' participants prior to workshops.

# 3.2 Self-reporting

The section begins with a brief definition of self-reporting as a design research method before giving an overview of two different self-reporting methods common to HCI and design: diaries and probes. Attention is paid to the epistemological and methodological heritage of these approaches, the choices they offer designers and participants for different forms of participation, and the role of different tools and techniques in this participation. This is followed by a review of self-reporting techniques which together indicate the trend in self-reporting to co-opt everyday technologies as research tools. The opportunities for research these approaches create are summarised at the end of the section. The aim of this section is not to provide an exhaustive review of self-reporting methods. Rather the focus is on, firstly, identifying key aspects of how self-reporting methods are defined in terms of the experiences they enable for participants and designers and the design outcomes they support. Secondly, the section considers how these methods are evolving in response to, and as a result of, the ubiquitousness of technology and its use in personal, domestic, mobile and social settings.

#### 3.2.1 Self-reporting as a Method for Research

Self-reporting is a generic term for a range of techniques that have a long history across disciplines such as health, psychology and education and have more recently been adopted into HCI studies and related areas (Palen & Salzman, 2002). Self-reporting can be described as an intervention into people's daily lives that asks them to become observers of their own practices, thoughts, attitudes and/or emotions. This allows for the gathering of contextual 'data' over time and in situ without the physical presence of researchers (Reis, 1983). In situ methods allow researchers access to the everyday lives of stakeholders while research conducted over time is critical to measuring usefulness, seeing patterns of use or understanding how technologies might be appropriated by people (Blomberg, Burrell & Guest, 2003). Self-reporting methods are also useful as a way to initiate and build up a relationship with the stakeholder community (Crabtree, Hemmings, Rodden, Cheverst, Clarke, Drewsbury, Hughes & Rouncefield, 2003; Gaver, Boucher, Pennington & Walker, 2004). Self-reporting is complementary, though quite different, to face-to-face methods such as interviews or workshops because it allows people to participate in design from within the context of their ongoing lives. However it also puts the burden of data collection on participants, and the workload associated with self-reporting for participants can be considered a limitation of the approach (Carter & Mankoff, 2005; Graham, Rouncefield, Gibbs, Vetere & Cheverst, 2007a; Lucero & Mattelmäki, 2007).

Illustration 1 draws attention to the key attributes of self-reporting as a contextual method.



Illustration 1. Key aspects of self-reporting

Self-reporting is a contextual research method where data collection is conducted by the participant, in situ and over time, as part of their daily life.



Diaries and probes are two forms of self-reporting widely written about in HCI and design research literature (e.g., Crabtree et al., 2003; Gaver et al., 1999; Hemmings, Crabtree, Rodden, Clarke & Rouncefield, 2002; Hutchinson, Mackay, Westerlund, Bederson, Druin, Plaisant, Beaudouin-Lafon, Conversy, Evans, Hansen, Roussel, Eiderbäck, Lindquist & Sundblad, 2003; Jones & Marsden, 2006; Kuniavsky, 2003; Loi, 2005; Saffer, 2006). Traditionally diaries and probes have embodied different methodological emphasis. In practice their implementation varies widely with designers combining aspects of both approaches. Carter and Mankoff (2005) distinguish between probes and diaries by describing the former as more focused on general attitudes and social trends, while the latter favours everyday interactions. This distinction helps to emphasise the different trajectories from which these two approaches to self-reporting have evolved. The summary of each approach below emphasises how different tools, techniques and approaches to data treatment impact on the design outcomes and the

experiences of participants and designers, as well as how broader methodological commitments to participation are embedded within self-reporting as a method.

#### 3.2.2 Diaries

Diaries have a long history within the social sciences as a naturalistic approach to studying social interaction, allowing access to what people do, as well as what they think and feel at different times in their daily lives (Reis, 1983). Diaries have been used to provide access into the private, personal and mobile aspects of people's lives that are often difficult to access through traditional methods such as observation or interviews. They have been particularly popular in studies of mobile practices, where the small scale of mobile technology, the mobile nature of use, and its private and personal functions can make observation inappropriate or even impossible (e.g., Carroll, Howard, Vetere, Peck & Murphy, 2002; Grinter & Eldridge, 2003; Ito, 2003; Jones & Marsden, 2006; Kjeldskov & Sage, 2004; Newcomb, Pashley & Stasko, 2003; O'Hara, Black & Lipson, 2006; O'Hara & Perry, 2001; Palen & Salzman, 2002; Tamminen, Oulasvirta, Toiskallio & Kankainen, 2003). For example, Grinter and Eldridge (2001) conducted a study into how teenagers used text messaging using a diary method. Participants logged their SMS activities in a handwritten diary giving researchers access to data where conventional direct observation was not appropriate.

Key aspects that differentiate diary studies from each other are their structure and the data collection methods used. In highly structured studies, such as with the Electronic Sampling Method (known as ESM or sometimes Beeper Studies), the goal is systematic data collection through a representative sample (Larson & Csikszentmihalyi, 1983). Participants answer survey questions delivered at random times via a pager or similar device, or are asked to log certain activities as they occur over the day. In more openended approaches data collection is only semi-structured around a particular topic. Participants have control over data collection and interpretation and are able to select information that they consider relevant and important (Palen & Salzman, 2002). In this way participants are recognised as experts of their own lives and are encouraged to choose what and how to represent their world. Such studies can be considered more participatory or, at least, participant-led (Carter & Mankoff, 2005). The aim is still to gain insight into daily practices and experiences, but exactly *what* is captured, is left open for interpretation by participants. While this gives participants control, it can also

lead to uncertainty on their behalf about what is relevant (Mattelmäki, 2005; Palen & Salzman, 2002).

The introspection and reflection encouraged through diary studies makes insights about daily practices available to both participants and design researchers (Blomberg et al., 2003). By documenting aspects of their life, participants gain an awareness of their own practices, rituals and decisions (ibid). This self-reflection enables rich dialogue around day-to-day activities that might otherwise go unnoticed or unreported in an interview (Palen & Salzman, 2002). Researchers using this method have noted that participants often find the reflective aspect of self-reporting rewarding (Lucero & Mattelmäki, 2007; Mattelmäki, 2005). In their study of teenagers' SMS habits Grinter and Eldridge (2001) also found that an additional awareness of personal practices could lead some participants to alter those practices, further demonstrating the interventionist nature of the method. For example, some participants reduced the number of text messages they were sending in a day (ibid). Both these outcomes of self-reporting were confirmed in the research documented in this thesis.

In terms of data collection tools, traditional diaries largely relied on participants logging handwritten entries. However these can place a significant burden of data collection on the participants and are not very practical 'on the move' (Palen & Salzman, 2002). As technology has evolved, many researchers have extended original paper diaries to include photography and other media (e.g., Brown & O'Hara, 2003; Kankainen & Oulasvirta, 2002; O'Hara & Perry, 2001; Perry, O'hara, Sellen, Brown & Harper, 2001; Tamminen et al., 2003). The use of such tools simplifies data collection for participants whilst also introducing new, more designerly, aesthetic and experiential qualities. For design researchers, images taken by participants themselves provide a direct 'window' into the participant's world. They also become a shared visual resource that can be used to promote dialogue and discussion in workshops and interviews (e.g., August, 2006a; Carter & Mankoff, 2005).

From a participant perspective the inclusion of rich visual media also significantly changes the experience of self-reporting. The potential for self-expression and representation offered by such tools is quite different to that offered by written accounts. Participants represent a view of the world through their own eyes and are also in control of how that representation is constructed. Self-photography has been used in social change research projects such as Photovoice (Wang & Burris, 1997), because of

the accessibility of visual imagery and the empowering nature of visual story-telling. In addition the act of actually taking photos is relatively easy, meaning it is a form of selfexpression within reach of most people (ibid).

The brief discussion of diary techniques covered here draws attention to the capacity of self-reporting to:

- Support reflection by participants through the intervention of self-documentation
- Access insights into the mobile, private, personal spaces and practices of people's lives
- Make available visual artefacts that can be used as design resources.

It also demonstrates how the experiences of designers and participants are impacted by:

- The structure of the reports and the role of the participants in determining what and how data should be captured
- The significance of different tools to enable different types of data collection
- The potential 'workload' introduced for participants by self-reporting
- The potential uncertainty of participants about *what* to capture.

These are issues and concepts taken into consideration in the design and evaluation of the Mobile Dairy method documented in Chapters 5-7.

#### 3.2.3 Probes

While diaries have been used at all points in the design process including evaluation, testing and data gathering and analysis, probes were deliberately developed for early inspirational design research, and can be considered specifically as a generative method. The original Cultural Probes were introduced by Gaver and his team in the seminal paper *Design: Cultural Probes* in 1999. Cultural Probes consist of 'probe packs' that are sent to participants and completed over time. They most often contain cameras, collage activities and various other provocations designed to induce autobiographical accounts of people's lives (Graham & Rouncefield, 2008). Probes share with diaries an emphasis on reflection, intervention, dialogue and a desire to make aspects of the everyday 'visible' as a resource for design. However, in their original form, probes were much more concerned with interpretation and playfulness and deliberately embraced ambiguity and subjectivity (Boehner et al., 2007; Gaver et al., 2004).

The emphasis on the creation of tangible, visual materials in Cultural Probes is partly about making them fun and accessible for participants (Gaver et al., 1999). They were deliberately structured to appeal to the visual and creative nature of designers. The value of the material that is produced through Cultural Probes stems from its personal and subjective nature as well as the visual, tangible form that it takes (Mattelmäki, 2005). Designers benefit from working with concrete things they can see and feel and the immediacy and accessibility of imagery means that it can be quickly scanned and absorbed (Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002). Importantly, such visual material also leaves room for, or even invites, designers to perform their own interpretation and sensemaking (Gaver et al., 2004; Sleeswijk Visser, 2009). Probes were not designed to gather specific information, but rather to be a source of inspiration and empathy for designers (Gaver et al., 1999; Gaver et al., 2004; Mattelmäki, 2005).

Since their initial inception, probes have been widely taken up by researchers and industry alike and the term probes is now used to refer to a 'cluster of approaches' (Graham, Cheverest & Rouncefield, 2005). A range of other 'branches' of probes have developed such as empathy probes (Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002), technology probes (Hutchinson et al., 2003) and urban probes. See also Graham & Rouncefield (2008) for a review of the evolution of probes. However, as Boehner et al. (2007) argue, in the adaptation of probes to other contexts the initial methodological intentions have at times been lost. In their original form Cultural Probes reinforced a move away from rationalist models of users in HCI. Specifically, Cultural Probes rejected the notion of the researcher as the objective observer, embracing instead the subjective position of the designer/researcher (Boehner et al., 2007; Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002). However many researchers are not using probes in the way Gaver et al. (1999) intended. In the literature this has created a tension characterised as the information versus inspiration debate. (For further details of this debate and around the 'misuse' of the term probes in research see Boehner et al., 2007; Crabtree et al., 2003; Gaver et al., 2004; Graham et al., 2007a; Hemmings et al., 2002; Mattelmäki, 2005; Sanders, 2006). As Boehner et al. (2007) argue, the crux of the debate stems largely from people's attempts to analyse the designerly material generated by probes in the same way as traditional research data. There is a tendency for researchers to do what Gaver et al. (2004) describe as: "appropriating the probes into a scientific process" (p. 53). Boehner et al. (2007) suggest that to attempt to introduce or force analytical methods onto this interpretive data is to:

[Use] the kind of method that the original probes attempted to resist: producing data instead of responses, closing instead of opening the design space. (p.1084)

Rather than being codified, transformed or translated into a report as a source of information, the rich, subjective, personal and visual material was designed to stand on its own as a design resource; an "assemblage" between participants and designers (Graham & Rouncefield, 2008). As Mattelmäki (2005) argues, translating the images and words created by participants into written form negates their value. The significance of probes, then, is not just in the activities that participants engage in, but also the way in which the material developed through the probes is treated or 'read'.

Probes tell us something important about the nature of designerly research methods and how they differ from more traditional approaches to research. As Boehner et al. (2007) have noted, probes are often known (particularly in industry) by their colourful, well crafted packs and intriguing contents. But they also provide a perspective from which to approach the generation and treatment of very rich self-reporting material. Working with this kind of subjective and personal material is quite different to dealing with textual data, but it is at the core of generative design methods. While the original Cultural Probes demonstrated how such material became a raw source of inspiration for designers, work by researchers such as Mattelmäki (2005; 2008) and in particular the recent thesis of Sleeswijk Visser (2009) demonstrates how this material can be more formally organised for communication, distribution and use by participants themselves, as well as other members of the design team, whilst still retaining their personal, empathetic and designerly value.

The role of probes in enabling participation, and the nature of that participation, has also been the subject of discussion in literature (e.g., Graham & Rouncefield, 2008; Mattelmäki, 2008; Sanders, 2006). Graham and Rouncefield's (2008) analysis of probe literature determined that probes enabled a variety of forms of participation in design, though not necessarily with the political commitment implied by Participatory Design. In the original Cultural Probes, participants were not involved in the interpretation of the material. According to Sanders (2006), in order for probes to be considered participatory in an emancipatory sense, participants need to be involved past the point of collecting the probe data by playing an active role in interpretation of the material. So while probes in themselves may not go far enough to constitute co-design, the designerly aspects of Cultural Probes, the generative nature of the material created and its potential to function as a shared (design) resource lends probes to participatory or collaborative uses. Again the variations of Empathy Probes (Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002) and Context Mapping provide examples of how this might be done.

In summary, when considering approaches to self-reporting, probes draw attention to the value of:

- Play and ambiguity in enabling people to make available different aspects of their lives
- An emphasis on visual materials for representation and storytelling by participants
- Visual, creative, playful and tangible methods for designers
- The generative, personal and subjective nature of the material they make available maintained as a resource for design
- Participants involvement in the interpretation of the material
- Designerly approaches that engage in alternative kinds of relationships with participants.

As with diaries researchers have continued to build on the original Cultural Probe toolkit with digital tools, for example digital cultural probes (Iversen & Nielsen, 2003) and Mobile Probes (Hulkko et al., 2004).

#### 3.2.4 Co-opting Social Technologies for Self-reporting

The following section provides a review of how self-reporting methods like diaries and probes are being extended through the appropriation of everyday digital, personal and networked tools. Digital tools such as beepers (Intille, Tapia, Rondoni, Beaudin, Kukla, Agarwal, Bao & Larson, 2003), digital cameras (Brown, Seilen & O'Hara, 2000) and even video cameras (Sanders, 1992) have been used in self-reporting for some time, however as these earlier tools and techniques join an ecology of more mobile, personal, networked and digital tools and practices, they take on a different significance.

In traditional versions of probes and diaries, the self-reporting material generated by participants is accessed only at set periods during or at the end of the study. One of the

most significant changes to self-reporting enabled by emerging technologies is the ability to communicate with participants and collect reports remotely and continually throughout the study. As suggested, the design researcher becomes more involved in and connected to the activities of self-reporting when material is made available to them throughout the study using networked technologies.



#### Illustration 2. Introducing networked technologies to self-reporting

The use of networked technologies in selfreporting allows participants to send material and communicate with the design researcher throughout the study. This enables a greater connection between the participant and the design researcher during the study.

The examples of specific methods given below are organised by key indicative studies, generally differentiated by how particular tools have been leveraged and the value these tools brought to the self-reporting study. The exception is online tools which are discussed together. To date, the documentation of these tools and techniques has largely been limited to promotions by specific companies about their custom tools (e.g., August, 2006b; zilverinnovation, 2009) or write-ups of individual studies and techniques that tend to focus on specific aspects of technology (for example, *Digital Ethno*<sup>TM</sup> (Cheskin), Mobile Probes (Hulkko et al., 2004), Voice-mail Diaries (Palen & Salzman, 2002)). In each of these studies or articles the tools and techniques are named and framed differently, and industry versions are often presented as new or unique

approaches to interactive or remote user research. Examined together they reflect an emerging group of methods and signal important directions and trends in self-reporting that deserve further consideration. The section concludes with a brief discussion of the limitations of such approaches, and an analysis of the various opportunities they pose for research.

A number of the examples below were developed in parallel to my own work. While they are included here as references it is worth noting that several of the academic projects are nascent, at least with respect to their use of digital self-reporting tools for self-reporting e.g., Owela (Näkki, 2008; Näkki & Antikainen, 2008; Näkki et al., 2008) and Citizen Media (Jans, Vanattenhoven & Geerts, 2007; Trogemann & Pelt, 2006). As such there is more material available about what they intend and hope to do than there is documentation about actual projects using the method. Documentation of industry examples (e.g., Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009; Cheskin, 2003; Khalil, 2009; Pering, 2006) is similarly limited to single blog posts or articles in industry magazines. Nevertheless they all contribute to a growing international body of work that signals emerging approaches that make use of everyday technologies as tools for design research. I use these examples as secondary data in the analysis of my empirical studies in later chapters.

#### Digital Ethno™

One of the earliest examples of co-opting everyday communications tools for selfreporting was demonstrated by marketing and design firm Cheskin, in an approach they termed *Digital Ethno*<sup>TM</sup> (Masten & Plowman, 2003). Cheskin made use of email, online chat via desktop computers, and random mobile phone interviews to investigate people's experiences of Valentines Day. They found that the immersive value and quality of self-reporting was enhanced as people conveyed the richness of their own lives in more immediate and contextual ways (ibid). In comparing *Digital Ethno* <sup>TM</sup> to previous methods they had used, the authors suggested participants were more active in sharing findings and insights, engaged in interpretation of their own behaviours and appeared more invested in the outcome (Masten & Plowman, 2003).

#### Voice-mail Diaries

In Voice-mail diaries by Palen and Salzman (2002), participants made use of phones as their self-reporting tool, leaving voice messages for researchers that described their experiences with first time mobile phone use. Participants could use the mobile phones themselves to leave reports *in situ*, and researchers had access to the reports as they were logged. This technique was later included in Digital Diaries (Pering, 2006) by design agency Frog, as well as studies into mobile telephony by O'Hara et al. (2006). Using the inbuilt recording capacities of mobile phones had a significant advantage over handwritten paper diaries, reducing the workload for participants (Palen & Salzman, 2002). They were also easier to conduct whilst on the move (ibid). The ability to monitor participant contributions as they happened also meant problems such as lack of user feedback or extraneous reports became apparent early on when there was still an opportunity to intervene (ibid). In addition, Palen and Salzman observed that having one point of contact across the study helped to build continuity and loyalty with participants. In reflecting on the use of mobile phones to investigate mobile phone use, Palen and Salzman (2002) noted that the ubiquitousness of these personal devices allows them to be more easily incorporated into daily life than other extraneous recording devices or techniques.

#### SMS Probes

Also building on the potential of the mobile phone as a research tool, Jönsson et al.'s (2002) 'SMS probes' used random text messages to prompt participants to capture something about their current situation. A similar technique of reminders was also used by Church and Smyth (2008), Cereijo-Roibás et al.(2009) and Raijmakers et al. (2009). These kinds of prompts could be compared to more formal methods such as ESM however they differ in that communication methods like SMS are very popular two-way communication methods. Indeed Raijmakers et al. (2009) describe one of the advantages of SMS for supporting self-reporting is that it is an "intimate tool for communicating". Jönsson (2002) noted that in addition to supporting more *in situ* recording, the sustained and frequent contact helped to foster the connection and relationship between researchers and participants. These tools double as data collection devices *and* channels of communication between design researchers and participants.

#### Mobile Probes

Researchers and designers have continued to appropriate new technologies as they have emerged. In their Mobile Probes study, Hulkko et al. (2004) took advantage of built-in cameras in mobile phones and the real-time distribution capabilities of mobile devices to study shopping habits and mobile work practices. Multimedia messages (MMS) containing text and images were sent by participants in situ, and automatically displayed on a website visible to researchers and participants in real-time (ibid). This made it possible for both participants and researchers to monitor and reflect on the material over the course of the study (Hulkko et al., 2004). Graham and Rouncefield (2007) subsequently built on the idea of Mobile Probes in their study of families. Cereijo-Roibás et al. (2009) used a similar technique combining SMS, email and MMS to explore the behaviours and needs of mobile phone users in developing markets. The use of personal, mobile, networked devices, mobile phones in particular, enables participants to easily generate reports in situ and share with researchers in (near) realtime, regardless of participant location. This enhances the *in situ* nature of self-reporting as people convey the richness of their own lives as it happens. Reflecting on the potential for design research suggested by Mobile Probes, Hulkko et al. (2004) imagined an "interactive dynamically changing system where user replies would direct the research focus" (p.50). While they were unable to achieve such a vision at the time, others have continued to build on this, including the Mobile Diaries developed through the empirical research in this thesis.

#### Reporter Tool

In 2005 Carter and Mankoff did a comparative study of different types of portable media tools in self-reporting, comparing participants' abilities to recall situations based on the use of audio recordings, images or objects. They reiterated the value of using portable recording tools over traditional paper diaries, as it increased the likelihood that participants would capture experiences, thoughts and actions as they happened, rather than report retrospectively (2005). Their study also demonstrated the value of enabling participants to choose between different modes of data collection (e.g., audio, text, image) depending on the context. Different media afforded different reporting qualities and experiences for participants, for example, although images were easy to capture, audio reports could be done more clandestinely. Enabling participants to annotate images and therefore provide additional contextual information was also important. To support this, Carter and Mankoff (ibid) recommended tools that enabled lightweight, *in situ* capture in-the-flow of daily activities, as well as opportunities for more detailed *ex situ* reports later. Based on these results they developed the Reporter Tool which made use of custom reporting software on a Nokia phone to support in situ reporting and

allowed participants to add annotations later. However it relied on participants to upload the reports via a desktop when they returned home, removing the capacity for researchers to receive reports in real-time, and creating more workload for participants. The Reporter Tool was evolved in later work into Momento (Carter, Mankoff & Heer, 2007), which used SMS and MMS to exchange information between researchers and participants and included the automatic gathering of log data. Data collected via the mobiles was stored on a desktop platform, although this was only accessible to the researchers. Inspired by Mankoff and Carter's earlier work, Brandt, Weiss, & Klemmer (2007) developed the 'snippet technique'. This approach encouraged short-hand *in situ* reports using text, audio or image via the mobile and sent in real-time, and allowed this to be combined later with more in-depth reports via an online interface.

#### The Experience Clip

In the Experience Clip method (Isomursu, Kuutti & Väinämö, 2004) pairs of participants were recruited at a shopping mall. One person received a new mobile shopping device to trial, the other a mobile phone on which to video record their experiences and impressions of the new device. The researchers found:

Instead of staying within the predefined roles of user and data collector, the user pairs took a much more active stance as design collaborators, and created, acted out and recorded mini-dramas and mini comedies around use situations to make their point clear. (Isomursu et al., 2004, p.87)

The Experience Clip method demonstrated the possibility of self-reporting tools to facilitate playful interaction *between* participants, using mobile devices to play off the natural dynamic that occurs between friends and the 'movie making aspect' of video. Video has long been valued as a tool in research and Buur et al. (2000) recognised the value of video for play and creative storytelling in particular. However it is only recently that video has become accessible as a mobile self-reporting tool with its integration into phones and the advent of cheap, small video cameras such as the KCam used in Mobile Diaries, or the more recently released Bloggies and Flipcams. In Raijmakers et al.'s study (2009) for the design of a new telecommunications service, participants created video diaries using the palm-sized Flipcam which they carried with them during the day. Raijmakers et al. (ibid) noted in particular the rawness of the video

reports, describing them as "undigested reality". The authors found the SMS-prompted video material was particularly useful as a resource for empathy and inspiration throughout the design process, effectively putting designers "in the shoes of the participants".

#### Online Tools

The online platform used in Mobile Probes (Hulkko et al., 2004) was an important inspiration for the Mobile Diary method and many more examples of online platforms have emerged in parallel to this research. Some are proprietary custom tools such as *Revelation*<sup>TM</sup> (August, 2006b) and *7daysinmylife*<sup>2</sup> (zilverinnovation, 2009) while others, like Mobile Diaries, are configurations of existing, everyday software such as blogs (e.g., Brandt et al., 2007; Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009; Khalil, 2009; March & Fleuriot, 2006). A platform for 'Online Probes' is also part of Owela, an online participatory tool being developed by researchers at VTT (Näkki & Virtanen, 2007).

The inclusion of online platforms as part of self-reporting is significant because it creates a persistent location for the aggregation of self-reporting material that both participants and design researchers can access, throughout the study. They also become places where participants can edit and annotate early reports, or provide more reflective accounts as in Brandt et al.'s (2007) 'snippet' technique mentioned above. In Digital Cultural Probes, which made use of the blogging platform *Tumblr*, Khahil (2009) extended the data collection to include the aggregation of other existing life streams from sites such as *Flickr* and *Twitter*, websites visited and IM chats. An online platform can also support groups of participants collaborating in shared data collection and discussion, such as in the 'friendship groups' that were part of March and Fleuriot's research (2006). Online platforms also make it possible to grant access to the research material to a wider audience across client and design organisations (August, 2006a).

These examples come closer to fulfilling the ambitions of Hulkko et al.'s (2004) dynamically changing system mentioned above. Their interactive nature means it is possible to evolve the studies in response to participants' contributions. However, while Hulkko et al. (2004) used the online platform to augment the collection of mobile material, many of the online examples do not support mobile data collection, instead

<sup>2</sup> Based on the Context Mapping research from DelfTU.

putting the emphasis on online interactions via a web interface. Whilst participants are encouraged to upload images and video via the desktop, this can be less convenient for participants (Brandt et al., 2007) and some studies have reported less success with this approach (e.g., Vanattenhoven, 2008). The other main limitation of having participants upload via desktop, rather than *in situ* via mobile data collection, is that interaction with the research happens mostly at the location of the desktop computer. This puts the focus primarily on *ex situ* reporting, that is, reflective reports or those that take place *in addition to* daily activities, rather than *in the flow of* daily activities.

An emphasis on the use of portable tools and mobile-reporting in particular is one of the aspects that differentiates the approach taken in Mobile Diaries from other custom and proprietary 'diary' tools developed for qualitative online research such as *7daysinmylife* (zilverinnovation, 2009), *Piipl* (2009), *Revelation*<sup>TM</sup> (August, 2006b) or *QualVU*. While support for mobile tools and real-time delivery have more recently been bolted on to some of these tools, they are treated as a secondary means of data collection and in many cases their function is limited. It is a premise of this thesis that tools and infrastructure that support people to document, capture and reflect *in situ*, regardless of their location, are critical to exploring and understanding the mobile, social and ongoing nature of people's lives.

#### Limitations and Considerations

An advantage of collecting digital material in self-reporting studies is that it can be more easily captured, stored and shared online than those developed as part of physical probes or diaries (Hulkko et al., 2004; Masten & Plowman, 2003). However, the ease with which such material can be recorded and uploaded also increases the amount of material researchers/designers need to handle (Hutton, 2006). Workload becomes a consideration for both participants and designer/researchers.

Other limitations of these emerging approaches to data collection identified in the literature include: the prohibition of recording in privately owned 'public' places such as shops (Hulkko et al., 2004; Newcomb et al., 2003) and the possibility of users having to learn new interfaces or technologies to operate self-reporting devices (Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009; Jönsson et al., 2002). For example, March and Fleuriot (2006) found some participants had trouble gaining access to their blog sites due to the complicated sign-up process. Usability was also thought to be a contributing factor to the low rate of images

uploaded to the 'research blogs' used by Vanattenhoven (2008). At the same time, a number of researchers have reported that the novelty of using such tools can also increase participation and engagement (Hutton, 2006; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Näkki & Virtanen, 2007). The value of such tools for motivating participation in self-reporting was also confirmed in this research.

### 3.2.5 Considering Participation and Opportunities for Research

In the literature review of self-reporting techniques presented above, discussions of participation highlighted aspects such as structure, the value of imagery, and the importance of open-ended studies that position participants as experts of their own lives. Whether or not participation goes beyond the point of 'data collection' has also been raised as critical to whether the self-reporting approach is participatory in an emancipatory sense. In-depth descriptions of approaches such as Empathy Probes (Mattelmäki, 2005; Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002) and Context Mapping (Kaptein, Weisscher, Terken & Nelissen, 2009; Sleeswijk Visser et al., 2005) demonstrate how the activity of self-reporting fits into a broader co-design framework and it is not the intention of this thesis to replicate this work. Rather, the focus here is to better understand the role of the different aspects of their lives, and to identify some of the implications of co-opting these tools into design practice.

In self-reporting studies our choice of tools is the most tangible aspect and the medium through which we build our relationship with participants. The size, form, format and features of the tools and materials provided to participants will impact on what, when and how self-documentation is produced, and the experiences of participants in creating that material. It is for this reason that probe packs themselves are a designerly artefact. They are deliberately designed to provoke a response from users and to allow people to make and play in order to share particular kinds of things (Gaver et al., 1999; Gaver et al., 2004). Different tools will support particular kinds of structured (or unstructured) data collection and generation, help to make available particular types of material for analysis or interpretation, and shape the experiences of designers and participants. There is already significant existing literature that explores more traditional variations of diary tools and probe kits, describing in detail the use of different analogue tools, activities and their value to early design research (e.g., Crabtree et al., 2003; Gaver et al., 1999;

Graham et al., 2005; Graham et al., 2007a; Hemmings et al., 2002; Lucero & Mattelmäki, 2007; Mattelmäki, 2008; Visser & Kouprie, 2008).

Less work has been done on the broader changes to self-reporting brought about by the introduction of the various digital, personal and networked tools described above. From one perspective co-opting the kinds of tools described in the above section enables researchers to access more data (Hagen, Robertson & Sadler, 2006). Much of the recent research in mobile and pervasive computing is focused on ways to use mobile devices to combine data gathering methods such as diaries, with log data, sensors or other contextual, automated data gathering tools (e.g., Carter et al., 2007; Froehlich, Chen, Consolvo, Harrison & Landay, 2007). However, this thesis takes another perspective. The everyday tools and technologies being co-opted into the self-reporting methods described above are constitutive of larger and more complex emerging social practices and behaviours (e.g., sending SMS or picture messages, blogging, leaving comments, personal media production, distribution and publication). There is an opportunity to consider how the appropriation of digital, personal and networked tools is impacting on self-reporting, and the relationship between this and the emerging culture of participation within which social technologies are embedded. Taking the perspective of 'co-opting social technologies' as a way to interpret this evolution of self-reporting sensitises us to particular issues and questions about participation. In this thesis I build on earlier work of researchers such as Hulkko et al. (2004), Graham and Rouncefield (2007a) and Mattelmäki (2005) and designers such as Cheskin (2003) who noted both the potential for more dynamic and interactive methods of self-reporting, as well as the need to better understand the new kinds of ethical issues they raise.

# 3.3 Challenges for Designing Social Technologies

The first two sections of this literature review have focused on establishing key characteristics for early design methods and the potential for social technologies to become design *tools*. The remaining three sections focus on social technologies as the *subject* of design. This first section focuses on the challenges and considerations raised for design by social technologies. It begins by outlining the impact of their complex, variable and emergent nature. This is followed by a discussion of the new kinds of skills and responsibilities for designers that social technologies give rise to, with a particular emphasis on design in community settings.
#### 3.3.1 Complex and Variable Contexts of Use

The complex and variable contexts of use across which social technologies are manifest present challenges for designers seeking to apply traditional contextual approaches or methods (Kurvinen et al., 2008). Methods developed in workplace contexts assumed the ability to identify and access the context of use and the users within them. Conversely, the 'social' nature of social technologies can make it difficult to identify *who* exactly the users are and *where* exactly use might take place. Use is mobile, domestic, and woven through complex, ongoing social contexts (Isbister & Höök, 2009). 'Users' are heterogeneous (Ehn, 2008), geographically distributed (Bergvall-Kåreborn & Ståhlbröst, 2008) and potentially anonymous or unknown (Clement, Costantino, Kurtz & Tissenbaum, 2008; Ehn, 2008).

Adequately simulating *what* it is that people are using social technologies for is equally difficult. Rather than tasks or clear goals, social technologies support activities like hanging around (Hart, Ridley, Taher, Sas & Dix, 2008), messing around (Ito, Baumer, Bittanti, boyd, Cody, Herr, Horst, Lange, Mahendran, Martinez, Pascoe, Perkel, Robinson, Sims & Tripp, 2009), looking at, looking up, and keeping up (Joinson, 2008). These are dependent on and prompted by emotional or/and experiential factors such as a shared experience or shared interests (Battarbee & Kurvinen, 2003; Hess, Offenberg & Pipek, 2008). As Shirky (2003) notes, the emphasis of interaction is with other people as opposed to with the system. In attempting to define the nature of the social dimensions of user experience, Battarbee (2004) has developed the concept of coexperience. She states: "Co-experiencing means experiencing together, and it highlights the social quality of this activity" (p.16). Co-experience is central to the 'use' of social technologies. In considering how to design for such contexts of use, Isbister & Höök (2009) state: "We can't rely on re-using pre- existing interface metaphors and strategies because there are too many new variables of use..." (p.1). It is arguable that our experiences of social technologies are so complex, situated and dependent on the activities of others, that feedback about use only becomes meaningful 'in the wild' (Hutchins, 1995). New field methods and frameworks for design are required that take into account the variable and social nature of social interaction (Kurvinen et al., 2008). Contextual field methods that help to access how experiences happen in the 'here and now' are particularly useful (Battarbee & Kurvinen, 2003).



#### 3.3.2 The Emergent Nature of Social Technologies

**Illustration 3. The shape of social technologies emerges over time and through use** The dynamic relationship between design and use is emphasised in social technologies because so much of their form is constituted through use.

As suggested by Illustration 3 another central characteristic of social technologies is that their form emerges over time, through use. The concepts of design in use, or that design is completed in use, are basic principles of Participatory Design (Henderson & Kyng, 1991). Themes of appropriation, customisation, personalisation and tailoring are central to the work-orientated literature of both PD and Computer Supported Collaborative Work (CSCW) as can be seen in, for example, Balka and Wagner, (2006). However as Battarbee et al. (2008) suggest, "this phenomenon of open products, open source and user generated innovation is not of merely customization or personalization ... " (p.299). While people do undertake specific acts of personalisation and tailoring in the use of social technologies, design in use also occurs in more implicit ways. In addition to acts of 'configuration' the design is determined by the content we add as users, the messages we leave and the contributions we make. Through our contribution and participation as users we affect the experience of others, and our participation in social technologies alters their form over time (Karapanos, Zimmerman, Forlizzi & Martens, 2009; MayField, 2002; Shirky, 2003). In her discussion on the evolution of HCI, Bødker (2006) points to a similar extension of tailorability, suggesting we see it:

...not as individual adaptation of technology, but as adaptation and further development through interaction and cooperation among people. (p.5)

Examples in this context might include social navigation where links between data and metadata emerge to reflect subjective and collective viewing behaviours (Chalmers, Dieberger, Höök & Rudström, 2004; Dourish, 1994), folksonomies where the relationships people make between data and metadata form collaborative categorisations or social tagging such as on the social bookmarking site, *Delicious*, or the photo sharing site, *Flickr*. The evolutionary nature of social technologies is particularly evident in popular technologies such as SMS, *Flickr*, *Twitter* and *Facebook*, which all perform radically different functions than those first envisioned by their designers. This is a challenge to models of design that presume use follows design (Fischer, 2008; Floyd, Jones, Rathi & Twidale, 2007; Hess et al., 2008). Social technologies disrupt the notion of design as a linear process by revealing the integrated relationship of design and use in quite literal and visible ways. Design activities are redistributed throughout the design life cycle (Ye & Fischer, 2007) and, as this happens, the conventional boundaries between design and use dissolve.

#### 3.3.3 New Responsibilities and Concerns for Designers

As Brereton and Buur (2008) point out, "participation is predicated upon delivering value to those who participate" (p.112). Use of social technologies in community settings is voluntary. In designing successful social platforms around which communities grow, evolve and share, our role as designers extends beyond researching, defining, creating and releasing a product. The facilitation of participation by the 'future community' also becomes a central concern. DiSalvo et al. (2007) argue that how, exactly, communities and participants actually come to take up the systems of coproduction is an obvious, yet under-addressed concern for designers. They warn not to assume that there is a motivated public willing and eager to participate (ibid). From my own perspective as a design practitioner, lack of significant participation is a central concern and risk to any social, community or political project. While luck and timing play a large part in the success of many campaigns, developing active strategies for seeding interest within the community becomes a central part of the project brief. To assist with this, DiSalvo et al. (2007) suggest strategies such as aligning the project with existing energies in the community, or seeding the project with content that makes it meaningful to the target stakeholder group. Botero & Saad-Sulonen (2008) highlight the value of working with existing communities around issues of community interest, but the role of designers may also extend to bringing the community 'into being' as part of the project (DiSalvo et al., 2007).

A study by Karasti and Syrjänen (2004) into successful ongoing grassroots communities developed by non-professional designers showed that the technology was sustained because it was owned, maintained and evolved by the community itself. Whilst this differs from situations where an external group of designers develop the technology on behalf of, or with, the community, a deeper understanding of how technology comes to be interwoven into, and driven out, of community needs helps us to be more sensitive to the social contexts in which our design projects might be taken up. Merkel et al. (2004) argue that ownership is central to projects in community settings:

An important goal in doing participatory design is to find ways to seed ownership for technology projects in the community groups themselves. In terms of promoting sustainability, we must see community groups as owners of the projects, not designers. (p.7)

Strategies for appropriately transferring ownership of the project from the designers to the user community become important to maintaining the energy, interest and momentum around projects and allowing them to continue to grow.

In many cases ownership and the sustainability of the system are explicitly tied up with the community's ability to change and appropriate technologies as needed. Karasti and Syrjänen (2004) argue that change needs to be understood as an aspect of everyday practice, not the privilege of professional design. Merkel et al. (2004) suggest that it is the responsibility of designers to provide community organisations, who are often under-resourced, with the ability to evolve and maintain the technology themselves, rather than leave them dependent on a design agency for expertise. Developing the skills of participants becomes another aspect of designing for participation in community settings (Dearden & Light, 2008; Merkel et al., 2004). The themes of 'ownership' and 'skilling up' have also been echoed in community-focused design projects with which I have been involved.

Questions about the role of design and the skills required of designers in the context of social technologies are further complicated by the use of existing platforms as starting points. Traditionally designers have been responsible for the creation of a range of artefacts (Brereton & Buur, 2008). In the design of social technologies, emphasis is on

the recomposition and configuration of existing software and pulling together combinations of existing open and free technologies (Lievrouw, 2006; Twidale & Floyd, 2008). At the CD Agency for instance, a community project might include appropriating existing platforms such as *MySpace* or *Facebook*, or customising open source platforms and APIs from other tools. The components already exist; the 'design work' to be done is in bringing them together in a way meaningful to the individuals and their networks who will use and evolve them.

The above discussion has highlighted particular qualities of social technologies including: their variable contexts of use, their emergent and participatory nature, and our role as designers in connecting or configuring them within the community in which they will live. When social technologies are the *subject of design* these qualities introduce additional considerations for early design to those outlined in the first section of the chapter that go beyond that of *informing and inspiring design*. They draw particular attention to the activities of connecting design and use, to *seeding* interest, ownership, content, momentum and even community. The next section further explores the notion of *seeding* and its value as a concept that articulates priorities and activities important to the design of early social technologies, not necessarily recognised in more conventional descriptions of early design research.

#### 3.4 Seeding: Early Design of Social Technologies

According to the *Macquarie Dictionary* (2003) the term *seed* refers to the germ or beginning of anything. Within design the term *seeding* is often used to describe the kinds of activities that can act to germinate participation. As seen in the previous discussion, seeding is already a commonly used metaphor in texts that address design, use and participation (e.g., Botero & Saad-Sulonen, 2008; Darren, 2007; Fischer, 1998; Light, Briggs & Martin, 2008; Merkel et al., 2004). It is also used in campaigning, for example, in an online marketing campaign a solid and well targeted seed list of email addresses increases the chances of campaign success because of the higher number of likely send-ons. Seed posts and seed advertising might also be key to a digital campaign (e.g., RedAnt). In the development of early virtual communities, the use of seed content, conversations and groups was an important strategy for encouraging, prompting and guiding new contributions and members (Figallo, 1998; Merkel et al., 2004) make use of seed prototypes

when developing community tools for use in civic contexts, in order to understand how people might put new technologies to use in context (discussed in more detail in the following section). Merkel et al. (2004) use the term to specifically articulate the processes of handing over ownership from designer to community.

As a design concept, seeding allows us to talk about the movement and relations between design and use, specifically, the work that needs to be done to move design from the 'abstract' into what Lee (2008) refers to as the "concrete places" where people live. As Ehn (2008) suggests, successful designs are taken up as part of people's existing "ecologies of devices" in people's "already ongoing life-worlds". Seeding draws attention to how this 'taking up' happens, and our role in creating conditions that make it more likely to occur.



a) A 'new' design in the world

Illustration 4. The role of seeding



 b) Connections developing between a design and its potential future community: seeding activities can facilitate this connection



c) Design being taken up in the world

A simple description of the role of seeding is provided in Illustration 4 which depicts three different 'states' of design over time, as a new design is appropriated into the world. a) shows a design that exists or has been 'released' into the world as a public object. b) shows the seeding of connections between the design project and people's daily lives. c) represents that design having been appropriated and taken up as part of (some) people's existing ecology of devices. In the process of moving from a) to b) to c), which takes place over time, the shape of 'the design' changes as it becomes coopted into people's daily lives. The term seeding serves to name activities we can do within the design process, as designers, to try and bridge the gap between state a) and state b). Seeding suggests activities that aim to embed design in the world; create connections between the design project and the people who may use it; and create opportunities for those people to shape the design in meaningful ways. In the depiction of state c), the design is not taken up by all the people, because, even in such a simplistic representation, it is important to acknowledge that we can only create conditions for participation through seeding, we cannot guarantee it.

It can be argued that seeding is a particularly valuable concept in the context of social technologies. As previously noted, luck and timing have a role to play in the success of many campaigns and community projects. However, in the design of social technologies, developing active strategies for seeding design, that is seeding interest, momentum and a sense of ownership within the community, becomes as important as informing and inspiring design *with* that community.

Part of the value of seeding as a metaphor is that it conveys both the intentions and the limitations of designers in their capacity to achieve this. The designer has control over only a small set of variables. As a metaphor seeding aptly reflects the fragility of human relationships and connections, the organic nature of design and use 'in the wild', and designs will take different shapes depending on the conditions. The concept of seeding sensitises us to aspects important to consider in the early design of social technologies.

While the value of seeding as outlined above might be implicitly (and in some cases explicitly) understood as important by researchers and practitioners working in these contexts, little infrastructure exists for supporting this within most of the commercial design contexts with which I am familiar. In this thesis the term seeding is explicitly taken up and extended to name activities that can be considered important to the early design of social technologies, especially community platforms. It is also used as an analytical tool for interpreting experiences and outcomes observed in the field studies.

#### **3.5 Opportunities for Designing Social Technologies**

The previous sections outlined particular challenges and considerations for the design of social technologies and explored the notion of seeding as a concept that sensitises us to the importance of connecting design and use in social technologies. This section reviews examples from Participatory Design that can be considered emerging responses to the above challenges and demonstrates how social technologies themselves provide particular opportunities for participation in design that directly engages the dynamics of

design and use. The examples cited have largely evolved in parallel to my own work and highlight emerging opportunities for, and approaches to, the design of social technologies in social and community settings. They provide further insight into the changing nature of participation in design and the evolving roles and responsibilities of designers and users. They are introduced here as current and related work, and are also used as a secondary source of data to support the discussion and analysis of the empirical work in Chapter 9.

#### 3.5.1 Prototyping as 'PD in the Wild'

In 2002 Dittrich, Eriksén and Hansson wrote a paper titled 'PD in the Wild; Evolving Practices of Design in Use'. The paper explored the multiplicity of ways in which design was taking place beyond the traditional boundaries of IT software development projects. The authors called for 'PD in the wild', highlighting the need for new methods and models that better supported design as ongoing and intertwined with use. They stated:

Design and use should not be regarded as two separate and sequential activities, but rather as on-going in parallel, intertwined, overlapping, with shifting foci and agencies. The question this raises is: how might these different, co-existing practices of design be more deliberately and consciously put in dynamic relation to each other. (p.124)

The authors pointed out that the malleability of software creates the opportunity for the integrated co-development of design and use. Social technologies in particular lend themselves to this approach, and the examples of 'prototyping in the wild' discussed here have emerged as a result of, and in response to, the malleable nature of these technologies.

As a collaborative and experiential method, prototyping has always been an important part of the Participatory Design toolkit (e.g., Bødker & Grønbæk, 1991a; Ehn & Kyng, 1991). Extended 'into the wild', prototyping becomes a 'living form' of design research that can enable designers to co-design with community members in the context of their daily lives. For example, Redhead and Brereton (2008) deployed an electronic-noticeboard prototype into a community setting. The prototype was then evolved in situ, in response to use and community feedback. The authors reported a lack of success with

traditional methods such as workshops which were only attended by a few of the identified stakeholders (Redhead & Brereton, 2008). Instead, installing a functioning prototype in a location (a local store) that was physically shared by many members of the community allowed people to experience the design as part of going about their daily lives. The authors saw this approach as a significant departure from earlier consultative Community Informatics approaches; rather than seek consensus on intended use, stakeholders were able to indicate *"usefulness through use itself"* (Brereton & Buur, 2008, p.111).

Patchwork Prototyping (Twidale & Floyd, 2008), a method for designing collaborative software, takes a similar approach, relying on the combination of open source tools, local code and mashups of existing services. Rudimentary prototypes or 'patchworks' are pulled together and immediately integrated and used as part of daily practice; an easy way of supporting real user participation in actual use (ibid). Importantly, Jones et al. (2007) note that Patchwork Prototyping was observed as a phenomenon emerging out of practice, rather than being a method designed a priori. The researchers have since formed a research program around the approach.

Botero and Saad-Sulonen (2008) also took a similar but deliberate 'living research' approach in the development of the Urban Mediator software. In seeking to understand how social technologies could allow citizens a more active role in shaping council policies and responses to community issues, prototypes were used in a co-discovery process with the community. The Urban Mediator allowed citizens to track and contribute data about events in their city. Rather than undertaking traditional usability evaluations of isolated software components, Botero and Saad-Sulonen (2008) repurposed existing software to create 'concrete interventions' that could be co-evolved. The authors described these as seed prototypes, and the process of seeding the project included engaging people who were already active in the community, further demonstrating the appropriateness of the term for considering the early activities of design in the context of social technologies.

The approaches to prototyping 'in the wild' described here are possible because social technologies lend themselves to the deployment of simple prototypes that can be modified and evolved through feedback (Brereton & Buur, 2008). Twidale and Floyd (2008) argue that such approaches only exist as a result of the current ecology of information technologies. The plethora of readily available and open source tools make

rapid deployment and reconfigurations feasible and achievable, further supporting the argument that reconfiguration is a key aspect of design in the context of social technologies (Lievrouw, 2006).

Floyd et al., (2007) described the advantages of such an approach in the following way:

The development proceeds and design decisions are made based on the users' collaborative experience of integrating the software into their every-day activities, not based on abstract design principles or predictions of what the users might need. (p.3)

Through this experiential process both researchers and community members come to understand how such technologies become useful and meaningful in people's lives (Botero & Saad-Sulonen, 2008). Participants are provided with what Twidale and Floyd (2008) describe as 'concrete and visceral' experiences of use as a way to evolve and participate in design. In all three examples the projects have been seeded through putting something into the community and letting it grow.

These approaches show how social technologies both demand and enable an engagement with the dynamic relations of design and use inherent within them; giving rise to new forms of participation *through use*. The practices of design and use become connected early in the design process by using (and evolving) social technologies *themselves* as design materials; prototyping is being extended or reconfigured to become design 'in the wild'. Community members are able to shape the design through use, and through feedback based on actual experiences of use. This approach to the design of social technologies provides inspiration for the analysis of findings about design and participation in this thesis, and, specifically, approaches to supporting participation in the early design of social technologies (presented in Chapter 9).

The approaches outlined above have an overlap with agile software development (Chang & Kiesler, 2006), which advocates 'release early, release often' and is associated with beta releases which can be evolved or 'tested' through use (O'Reilly, 2005). Such 'use-driven' approaches to evolving and testing design have also been described by designers as adopting (necessarily) a 'throw it out there and see what happens' approach (Merholz, 2006; Porter, 2006). While there is not room within the scope of this thesis to expand on this particular aspect, some of the similarities and differences with agile development have been further discussed by Hagen and

Robertson (2009). This thesis focuses on the opportunity to understand how the experiences and connections between design and use enabled by the approaches to prototyping described above might also be engaged through self-reporting, a method that already takes place 'in the wild'.

The next section creates a bridge between the first part of the literature review which covered early design research, self-reporting and social technologies *as tools for design*, with this second half of the literature review which has focused on considerations for, and approaches to, the design of social technologies as *a subject for design*. In doing so it provides background to the findings drawn about social technologies in Chapter 9.

#### 3.5.2 Opportunities for Designing With and For Social Technologies

In the above examples social technologies themselves become the material through which design is explored. When using social technologies as self-reporting tools in the design of social technologies, there is also an experiential relationship between the method and the subject studied that does not exist in the case of 'generic' methods like interviews, observations or focus groups. Other researchers have also observed this and noted its significance in different ways. In their Voice-mail study, Palen and Salzman (2002) identified the significance of the "device as subject and means of investigation", and pointed to the potential implications for studying usage when the mobile phone used for the study is also the subject of the study. Perkel (2007) digital photo-elicitation study was a "technology-dependent method for a study of technology use". They noted the value of this for exposing people's existing technology knowledge and practices in particular. In their study of a particular online community involving young girls, Isomursu et al. (2003) talked of the "comfort created" for participants by replicating aspects of the online communities to explore aspects of that same online community. Both Näkki et al. (2008) and Khalil (2009) note the natural connection created when studying online tools through online tools. Trogemann and Pelt (2006) describe the use of social media as tools for the exploration of social media as enabling 'thick' triggers, and highlight the importance of this 'thick' relationship between method and subject in their research into the development of tools to support Citizen Media. The prototyping examples provided above also demonstrate an opportunity to explore how the methodological connection enabled by designing with and for social technologies creates the potential for new forms of participation in the design of social technologies. A contribution of this thesis is the identification of new forms of participation and strategies for seeding enabled by the use of social technologies as self-reporting tools in the design of social technologies themselves.

#### 3.6 Summary

This chapter has given a background to current trends in early design research, demonstrating the growing importance of generative design research techniques that enable and put emphasis on facilitating participants to express their experiences and that respond to the natural capabilities of designers. It has shown the value of self-reporting as a way to access personal, mobile and tacit aspects of people's lives and the potential for different approaches to tools, structure and data treatment to reflect and embody different commitments to design and participation within self-reporting. Examples of how everyday technologies are being adopted as *tools for design* that extend the capacities of self-reporting were also presented and discussed in terms of how they enable access to the ever more mobile, social and personal aspects of technology use.

The second half of the Chapter focused on key concepts in relation to design and participation when social technologies are a subject for design. Particular attention was paid to how social technologies blur the traditional boundaries of design and use and foreground particular kinds of skills and considerations for designers around enabling participation, not necessarily accounted for in traditional design research approaches. Examples from current Participatory Design literature were used to help contextualise this in relation to community settings in particular. Seeding was explored as a concept used by designers to help plan, convey and give value to the how the design is moved into and taken up in the world, and its particular significance for naming aspects important to the early design of social technologies outlined. The final section of the Chapter reviewed how emerging approaches to 'prototyping in the wild' allow designers to engage directly with the dynamics of design and use inherent in social technologies and enable new forms of participation based on use. The trends, concepts and techniques identified in this chapter provide the background to this thesis. They also created a start point for the empirical research and are instrumental in shaping its analysis.

# 4

### The Research Journey

This chapter reports on the design of the research documented in this thesis and provides a rationale for the approach taken to data collection and analysis. It explicates how the theoretical and philosophical perspectives that guided this research influenced the design of the field studies. The chapter tells the journey of the research, its analysis and findings, and accounts for the impact of the particular practice context on the shape of the research.

The chapter begins with a description of the evolution of the research questions. The role of the practice context in shaping the research and the sequence of the studies is then provided along with a rationale for the approach to recruitment. The exploratory interviews, which helped to transition the research from theory into the field and so define the focus of the field research, are documented. The field studies are then summarised and the approach to data collection justified. The role of the subsequent implementation of the Mobile Diaries into commercial practice in this research is also outlined. This is followed by an overview of the approach to the analysis of the studies and structuring of the findings in the thesis. The chapter also provides an account of how the role of 'insider researcher' (Gothe, 2006), inherent to practice-led research, was managed and kept rigorous throughout the different stages and modes of reflection and documentation. A brief comparison to, and distinction between, the approach taken to research in this thesis and in Action Research is also provided.

#### 4.1 Evolution of the Research

The overarching research question driving this thesis is:

How are social technologies impacting on the nature of participation in design?

Two sub questions further focus the research:

- 1. How and in what ways can social technologies as design tools support participation in early design?
- 2. How can such tools support participation in the early design of social technologies themselves?

These questions did not exist prior to my research; rather they emerged as a result of initial investigations, and then further reflection and iteration. Schön (1983) describes design practice as a problem setting activity. We take action, reflect upon it, and then make a move based on our new understanding of both the object of design as well as the 'design space' in which we are operating. This process of iterative action and reflection underpins the design of my research.

At the outset my research was prompted by questions emerging from a review of literature into mobile research practices (Hagen et al., 2005). One of the trends identified in that review was the use of mobile and connected technologies to augment traditional self-reporting methods. In 2005 I was able to experience one of the most

innovative methods, Mobile Probes (Hulkko et al., 2004), as a part of an Aware (Aware, 2005) workshop in Sydney. I was encouraged by how straightforward and engaging the process was and motivated to understand how it might be put to use in a commercial context.

The CD Agency was planning future projects with a mobile focus. Inspired by these emerging design methods, the initial research questions focused on how mobile technologies as self-reporting tools could assist design practitioners in understanding mobile practices. A phenomenological approach to research requires that any investigation be grounded in actual human experience, suggesting that questions about practice should start with practice. As described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3), taking a practice-led approach to research places practice at the centre of knowledge generation. Locating the research within the design agency where I was working provided the opportunity to conduct an empirical investigation into methods within a real world context and meant the research would be grounded by the constraints of actual design practice.

The process of conducting the research and analysing the results allowed new knowledge about the 'design space' I was researching to emerge, and this lead to a reframing of the central research questions. It became clear that I needed to account for the ways in which social technologies were impacting on the potential for self-reporting as a method for early design research, and subsequently on the practices of research, design and use. The analysis of self-reporting, in light of social technologies, made available aspects important to participation and design not readily available in earlier literature. By asking how participation can be supported in a particular context, I also came to better understand the nature of participation and design *in* that context.

#### 4.2 Accounting for Practice in Research Design

As outlined in Chapter 2, addressing the dual accountabilities to practice and research embedded within a practice-led approach is not resolved through the use of any one particular existing theoretical framework. Equally it was not a matter of picking and applying a particular approach or set of methods. Instead, a constantly changing set of variables and accountabilities needed to be navigated. These relate to professional design practice and included: the culture of the CD Agency, business ethics, the market and environment, the team, the clients and the broader project stakeholders. The following four aspects, particular to the context of the study impacted upon and helped to shape the research:

#### Agency objectives and motivations

Interest by the CD Agency in extending the range of contextual methods used within the 'scoping phase' of the design project focused the research on early design research methods. It provided the practice-led objectives as well as a space for that research. Also underpinning and helping to motivate the research was a desire by the agency to bring on board more formal use and knowledge of 'methods' and to develop greater fluency with design research methods as interaction design practitioners.

#### The research participants

One benefit of doing the research in a practice context was being able to evaluate the method in the context in which it would be used, from the perspective of those who would use it. At the same time the CD Agency is a small commercial business with few resources for activities that do not directly generate revenue. This meant the potential impact on the team, on projects, and on client relationships of undertaking such research was a serious consideration. A rationale for how this was formally addressed is provided in Section 4.2.2 on recruitment, but it also required an ongoing consideration of what was appropriate for each step in the research as it progressed.

#### *How participant involvement was managed*

By prototyping the Mobile Diaries in context, it was possible to actively involve the research stakeholders in the design and evaluation process, and ensure that the reflection on, and evaluation of, the method was based on the lived experience of participants. At the same time this needed to be managed within the constraints on time and access that a commercial context brings. Further details of the use of a 'prototyping approach' are provided later in this section (4.4.1).

#### The approach to analysis

The approach to analysis was shaped by a commitment to understanding and informing practice. The evaluation of the method was informed by existing concepts within literature, but its value as a design research method was also based on the contribution it could make to design practice at the CD Agency.

For the above reasons the field studies did not just commence one day, rather they were carefully negotiated into being. An overview of the sequence of empirical activities that support the research undertaken in this thesis is described in the following section. A fuller description of the field studies is provided further on in the chapter.

#### 4.2.1 Research Design: Role of the Studies and the Relationship Between Them

The design of the empirical research was iterative, with each activity informing the next. The progression of the empirical activities that contribute to this research was briefly introduced in Chapter 1 and Figure 1 is reproduced here for clarity.



Figure 1. An overview of the different empirical studies and activities

The shift from theory to empirical research began with Exploratory Interviews. These grounded the investigation in a practice context and prefaced the field studies. The core empirical activities were the Mobile Diary prototypes where a hybrid self-reporting technique was trialled and iterated over two studies. The first prototype field study (Prototype 1) was done internally with the design team at the agency, resulting in a proof of concept for the Mobile Diary technique. The second (Prototype 2) was undertaken with a client as part of a real-world design project. While the second prototype built on the first, each study was designed to answer a different set of questions and to make available particular information or data for analysis. As such the results (in Chapters 5 and 6) are written up according to the specific objectives of each study. Reflective activities common to design such as interviews, workshops and questionnaires were used to assist the evaluation of the Mobile Diary 'prototypes' by participants.

These iterations lead to the development of a Mobile Diary platform and self-reporting method that was deployed in two subsequent commercial studies with clients (further documented in Chapter 7). While these last two studies were not formally covered in this thesis, due to reasons of confidentiality, their successful deployment did verify

findings from the field studies. To avoid creating a conflict of interest in this thesis, but to allow the influence of these studies to be felt on my research I have provided an overview of the two studies in Chapter 7. This overview is sufficient to demonstrate how they were able to confirm the findings from the field studies with regard to the experiences enabled by the use of social technologies as design tools for the design of community platforms. However, no identifying details of the client, the participants, the material or commercial-in-confidence findings produced as a result of that research are given.

#### 4.2.2 Recruitment

It is one thing to read about emerging methods such as mobile probes and photo diaries but another entirely to begin to use them with paying clients. The agency had no previous experience publishing research and there was no system for sharing Design Research findings outside of an individual project. As the research evolved it was necessary to develop strategies for appropriately integrating and managing the relationship between academic research and commercial practice. Particular care was required with regards to recruiting participants. Which clients, and which projects, might be appropriate was considered at length and in conjunction with my employer. Considerations for recruiting in this environment included:

- The circumstances of clients and their availability
- Whether they would be keen, willing and open to an experimental research project
- The ability to commit the time and resources to being involved
- The ethics, administration and power relations involved in gaining consent from participants inside larger more complex organisations
- Whether clients would be willing to allow research to be published.

In addition, this research equated to unfunded research and development (R&D) work for the company, not something that could be charged to the clients in its developmental stages. Introducing an R&D project to a new or potential client raised confusing issues of contractual boundaries and expectations about what work was being paid for, and what was being done under the banner of R&D in mutual collaboration. This was compounded by my dual role as the design project lead *and* researcher. It needed to be clear what activities I was working on in order to know who, if anyone, was paying for my time. While it is not uncommon for university researchers to do work with design companies, I was not able to find any precedence or examples of other designers working simultaneously as researchers and employees within design organisations.

To address the possible confusion around financial contracts the first two stages of the field research (the Exploratory Interviews and the first Field Study) were deliberately conducted outside the context of a commercial project. The initial exploratory interviews were conducted with people with whom we already had a close personal relationship. The first field study, which evaluated the initial Mobile Diary prototypes, was deployed internally with the design team rather than with clients. While the second Mobile Diary study was part of a larger project, it was possible to easily differentiate the research portion from the rest of the project. In this way, work undertaken by myself or anyone else at the design agency related to the Mobile Diary study could easily be kept separate from work undertaken on aspects that involved financial contracts and payment. Care was also taken that the client who was successfully recruited for this last study had a keen interest in participating in the research and was open to its experimental nature.

The client was recruited on the basis of the timing of the project, their availability, and their willingness to be involved. In addition, they were self-employed and this meant that communications and decisions about process and participation were undertaken with them directly, rather than involving some form of 'management'. Even when enthusiastic consent from all parties was given, and there was considerable support from the design agency for the research, particular care was still taken not to disrupt too significantly the commercial activities or relationships of the design agency. The studies themselves and the data collection methods are described in more detail in the following sections.

The complexities described above that needed to be considered when undertaking research as part of a commercial project contributed to why the clients of the later commercial deployments of the Mobile Diary method were not approached to participate in this broader research project. The process of successfully pitching this new and relatively different design research method to clients was complex enough from a commercial perspective. We felt that an unnecessary burden could be placed on the client relationship by the extra layer of consent and negotiation that would be

required with clients and participants to formalise these commercial deployments of Mobile Diaries as Design Research field studies.

#### 4.3 Exploratory Interviews

Stakeholder interviews are often used in design projects during the requirement gathering phases of a project (Preece, Rogers & Sharp, 2002). They are a starting point for exploring issues and provide an opportunity to connect personally with stakeholders (ibid). If kept brief and conducted in a convenient location, they can be little burden on the participant. For these reasons interviews were selected as an appropriate stepping stone to the field studies. They provided a safe and familiar start point for exploring the issues and generated data to focus the research. They also offered some early validation that the issues were genuine and appropriate for the research.

An understanding of the methodological considerations involved in doing research in a commercial context was central to this first step. The initial interviews provided a vehicle for initiating discussions with my employer about appropriate approaches as well as instigating a research relationship with clients. The exploratory interviews were designed to help clarify and focus the research questions around the use of mobile tools, to identify appropriate methods for collecting data in a commercial context, and to test findings from literature in our particular context. A brief summary of the exploratory interviews and their contribution to research design is provided below.

Figure 3 summarises the purpose of the exploratory interviews, the research questions that guided the development of the interview questions and the key outcomes.



Figure 3. Overview of the role of the Exploratory Interviews

#### 4.3.1 Structure

Two pilot interviews were conducted in August and September 2006, one with a participant from an existing client organisation and one from a potential client organisation. Participants were both highly mobile workers and likely to be heavy mobile phone users. The interview questions enquired into how mobile phones were currently used within the workplace and how participants used their phones to negotiate remote access to work and personal practices. The extent to which the participant knew or used various mobile technologies such as Bluetooth, camera, MMS, email etc, was also explored. Participants were asked about various forms of communication in the workplace such as email and face-to-face meetings to build up a picture of usage.

#### 4.3.2 Discussion

Clearly two interviews is not an in-depth study. However the purpose of these initial interviews was to begin to gain a sense of mobile phone use in our particular client organisations, understand the issues in the context in which I was working and compare them to existing literature based on more extensive studies (examples of which are noted below). These initial exploratory interviews provided four key insights that influenced the next phase in the research design. Firstly, that mobile phone use was ubiquitous within these workplaces, suggesting the easy adoption of mobile devices as data collection tools. Secondly, that support and instructions might be needed when using mobile phones as research tools. This observation was made on the basis that both participants had fairly new phones with a range of features, but a limited knowledge or experience in using many of them. The third and fourth points correlated directly to findings in literature about mobile phone use. The first of these was the habitual use of mobile phones 'in-between times' (e.g., in between meetings or appointments) also reported for example by Ito and Okabe (2005), Perry and Brodie (2006) and Perry et al. (2001). Such behaviours would potentially provide opportunities for reflective data collection. The other was the benefit to be gained from supporting a variety of input mechanisms. For example, Carter and Mankoff's (2005) comparative study of devices suggested that allowing participants to choose recording modes, perhaps through multimodal devices, is important to the success of self-reporting methods. Both interview participants had expressed different preferences for input types at different times. These things suggested that mobile devices would be viable as research tools and pointed to some aspects to consider if they were to be used for this purpose.

#### 4.3.3 Impact on Research Design

The process of locating the research into a practice context and moving into the field shifted the focus of the investigation. The original intention had been to continue with further interviews, however several factors led to a change of plan. Firstly, several client projects that involved mobile-services design were put on hold and thus obvious interview candidates were no longer available. At the same time, the experience of the two pilot interviews encouraged the shift of focus away from mobile services towards the contribution that mobile devices as self-reporting tools could make more generally to early design projects. The next step in the research was to design a field study that provided empirical insight into the experiences of using digital, personal and networked tools in self-reporting and how they might benefit our practice. Other methods besides interviews, such as prototyping, employed in the subsequent two studies described below, were more appropriate to achieve this requirement and so it was decided that further interviews were not a priority.

#### 4.4 Field Studies

Informed by the insights gained as a result of the exploratory interviews, the purpose of the field studies was to investigate the potential of augmenting self-reporting with available technologies, to support early, generative, design research at the CD Agency. I was particularly interested in experimenting with and evaluating some of the mobile, networked and interactive technologies documented in the literature at the time. It was not appropriate or possible to just take one of the methods existing in literature and start applying it within the agency context for the following reasons. Firstly, the agency did not have access to the same technologies and resources as those documented in the literature studies. Secondly, the studies in the literature were developed for different purposes and in different contexts. Instead there was an opportunity to select, combine and compare aspects and technologies from different approaches and to develop a hybrid method, or combination of tools, suitable to the specific research context. As a result the fieldwork took the form of an 'iterative trialling and building up' of a hybrid technique, Mobile Diaries, from the resources available.

As a result of the research it was possible to gain a better understanding of what differentiated the different tools and techniques in terms of the experiences they enabled and the implications for participation. The influence of co-opting social technologies and the resulting opportunities and challenges for participation became clear during the process of designing, evaluating and analysing the results of the studies.

The sections that follow outline the two field studies and the subsequent work to implement the Mobile Diaries into practice (with full details given in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 respectively), beginning with an explanation of the 'prototyping' approach.

#### 4.4.1 Data Collection: Prototyping

Prototypes are a core Participatory Design method (Greenbaum & Kyng, 1991) and commonplace in Interaction Design (Preece et al., 2002). In addition to demonstrating and advancing abstract design concepts, prototypes play an important communication

role in the design process. They enable an experiential evaluation of a possible design and create a space for shared experience between stakeholders (Ehn, 1988). Prototyping is also common in design related doctoral studies as it enables an empirical, experiential and exploratory investigation into phenomena (e.g., Axup, 2006; Ludvigsen, 2006; Muller, 2009; Sleeswijk Visser, 2009). In this research a self-reporting technique was iteratively prototyped over two field studies. The field studies took place over a period of weeks and allowed us to evaluate the prototype self-reporting method and tools over time and in context.

Inherent in prototyping are loops of action, analysis, evaluation and reflection. As demonstrated in Bødker and Grønbæk's (1991b) work on Cooperative Prototyping, this makes it possible for stakeholders to be actively involved in the design and modification of prototypes, and the method provides a channel for users to consciously influence the future product. In the field studies reported in this thesis, participants used the Mobile Diary prototypes and were then prompted to externalise and reflect on this experience through methods such as interviews, group review sessions, email questionnaires and other informal feedback channels. These 'reflective sessions' (described in more detail in the respective field study sections below) were intended as interventions that would create spaces for discussion and the collaborative evaluation of the method from different perspectives. They were also selected depending on what was suitable given the commercial environment of the research and the constraints facing participants with regards to time. Sessions and methods for feedback needed to be fitted in around a normal working day and be open, collaborative and informal enough that participants felt free to contribute any thoughts or feedback they might have. The active role of the participants in evaluating and analysing their experience of *doing* and *using* Mobile Diaries, was critical to both the refinement of the prototype, and to the evaluation of its success (see Section 4.5 for further details on the approach to analysis).

#### 4.4.2 Study 1: Mobile Diary Prototypes - Internal Study

Study 1 focused on initiating and developing the idea of Mobile Diaries and the form they would take in the specific commercial context. Central to this was appropriating aspects of self-reporting methods and the capabilities of particular tools, observed in literature as having value to the goals of early design research goals, and evaluating them in a practice context. The initial Mobile Diary prototype was evaluated with members of the design team within the agency. The purpose of this was to sensitise ourselves to the potential opportunities and challenges of using such tools and techniques in design research, prior to attempting to deploy the method with clients. Developing and using the Mobile Diary prototypes ourselves made it possible to test out practical aspects of self-reporting, including different tools, activities and approaches to data capture and treatment. It allowed us to experience and evaluate the approach first-hand, rather than rely on the documentation of others. A brief overview of the structure of the study and its contribution to the research is provided below. Figure 4 summarises the purpose and shape of the study, the questions that guided the analysis and evaluation and the key outcomes.



#### Figure 4. Overview of the first Field Study: Mobile Diary Prototype (1)

#### Structure and Participation

The study took place over three weeks in September 2006 and included four members of the CD Agency design team including myself as a participant/researcher. Each team member used a different mobile recording device (either a digital camera, mobile phone, PDA or video camera), but was guided by the same set of tasks and activities.

Participants were able to formally feed back on their experience of *doing* and *using* Mobile Diaries and input into the iterative design of the method at four specific stages during the study (summarised in Table 1). The first was pre-project: a briefing session to introduce the study objectives and agree on the general structure. At this session participants also selected the recording tools they would use for the Mobile Diary prototype. The second opportunity was during the project: a workshop that occurred after we had used the Mobile Diaries for a week, designed to support discussion and reflection on participants' experiences to date. Feedback from this session informed how the Mobile Diary study was structured over the second two weeks. Figure 5 shows documentation of this workshop.



Figure 5. Discussions and stories being shared during the workshop

The final two formal opportunities for the design team to influence the design of the method were post-project: a shared review and a questionnaire. The shared review enabled the design team to share the material they had generated as 'participants'. This was a chance for the design team to further reflect on the experience of *doing* Mobile Diaries, as well as to experience 'reading' the data generated by other participants from the perspective of a design researcher. This involved assessing the potential value of this kind of material to the design process. The individual questionnaire allowed for participants to give personal reflections and feedback on the experience in their own time and make suggestions for improvements.

Session	When	Description	Outcome
Briefing	Pre-project	Initial briefing to introduce project goals and structure.	Participants chose topic and self- reporting tool.
Workshop	1 week into diary	Workshop session to discuss and reflect on experiences of doing the diary.	Sharing of initial experiences of doing the diary and feedback about format. Resulted in change in diary format to include prompts and reminders.
Shared Review	Post-Diary	Session to share and review material collected.	Discussion of material generated, experiences of doing the diary and of reviewing the material.
Individual Questionnaire	Post-Diary	30 questions about experiences and opinions of the method and the specific tools used.	Reflections on the method, potential improvements, potential value of method to design agency.

Table 1. Summary of the 'reflective sessions' in the first Field Study

#### Discussion

In this study the design team became the Mobile Diary participants. The focus was the practical aspects of putting together such a study, and what it felt like to be a participant. Illustration 5 shows the emphasis on our role as participants in the study and this is where our primary learning about the technique was located. In reviewing the material that other participants had collected, we were able to gain some insight into what it would be like to take on the role of the design researcher in such a study and see the value of the method. However the primary reflections were with regards to the experience of the participant and the differences between the tools. This study enabled us to consolidate the Mobile Diary toolkit, and laid the groundwork for Study 2 where the prototype was further refined and evaluated.



## Illustration 5. Focus of the first Mobile Diary prototype study: the experience of the participant

In the first study we were primarily sensitised to the experience of being a participant *doing* the Mobile Diary, but there was also opportunity to gain insight into the value and experience of using the method from the perspective of a design researcher.

In this first study the Mobile Diary packs also included a paper-based collage and a map, examples of generative tools and activities common to probes and generative studies. They were included in this first variation of the Mobile Diaries because the start point for the prototypes was the 'standard toolkit' of probes and primer kits in which such physical 'making' activities are nearly always included. Such generative tools and 'making' activities do enable particular important kinds of interactions with participants. As Sanders (2005) argues, what people 'make' tells us certain things that other kinds of documentation cannot. However, as part of the process of focusing and defining the research, the analysis and write-up of the first study is limited to the experiences and outcomes particular to the use of digital, personal and networked technologies. The rationale for this was that a significant amount of research has already been done on these tools (as noted in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.5) which I did not wish to replicate. Rather the analysis sought to explicate the particular qualities and capabilities that were brought to self-reporting through social technologies, as complementary to well-known and documented generative tools and activities such as maps and collages. As a result I did not include any such activities in the second study. However these analogue or 'making' tools can be and have been incorporated as part of later Mobile Diaries as complementary data collection tools.

One of the limitations of this first study was that it was not undertaken as part of an actual design project. This was addressed in the second field study which was undertaken as part of a client project.

#### 4.4.3 Study 2: Mobile Diary Prototype - Client Study

Study 1 provided a preliminary format for Mobile Diaries that we felt confident to deploy with a client. Study 2 was then designed to answer questions about how the method might contribute to the goals of early design research and test out findings from the first study in a project context. To do this, the Mobile Diary prototype was used by a client as part of an existing design project, with the client in the role of Mobile Diary participant. The purpose of the study was to evaluate the method in the context of an actual design project and thereby gain access to data about the kinds of material, experiences and design outcomes that such a method could contribute. A larger project, or more participants, might have generated more, and perhaps different, data. However what was important here was not the number of participants (or even projects), but rather that we were able to evaluate whether the technique was of value to the agency and if so, the role of the different technologies in enabling those experiences. A brief summary of the structure of the study and its contribution to the research is provided below.

Figure 6 summarises the purpose of the study and the questions that guided the analysis and evaluation, as well as the key outcomes.

Mobile Diary Prototype (2) The Mobile Diary was run over three weeks with points of reflection included throughout. **Purpose/Objective** Guiding Questions (based on Outcomes previous stage of research) Conduct the evaluation in Principles, Specifications a real world context What kind of data does it and Guidelines for produce? undertaking Mobile Evaluate and identify Diaries with clients contribution of method to What is the experience of the our process participant? Confirm format of method How does the method contribute i.e., tools and techniques to our design process? (meet our design research objectives?) Clarify requirements for final data collection and presentation platform

Figure 6. Overview of second Field Study: Mobile Diary Prototype (2)

#### Structure and Participation

The second study took place over three weeks in November 2006. The focus of the diary was a 'day in the life' of the client. The recording tools and structure of the Mobile Diary prototype provided to the client were selected based on the findings from the first study. As summarised in Table 2, reflections on the client's experiences of *doing* the method were gathered during and after the study. Feedback was collected informally and throughout the study via phone calls and emails to 'check in', as well as face-to-face as part of project meetings. A more structured 'reflection session' took place at the end of the study via a shared review of the material with the client and the Creative Director as part of the overall design project. The client was also interviewed separately so that information could be gathered specifically about the experience of *doing* the method outside the project context. The Creative Director working on the project also provided informal feedback about their experiences.

Session	When	Description	Outcome
Informal ongoing	Throughout the study	Informal feedback via phone calls and email. Face-to-face as part of project meetings.	Encouragement, confirmation that the participant was enjoying the process and insight into participant experiences.
Shared Review	Post-Diary	Collaborative session to share and review material collected (with Creative Director) as part of project meeting.	Discussion of material generated, experiences of doing the diary and of reviewing the material.
Semi-structured Interview	Post-Diary	Questions about the participant's experiences and feelings about doing the Mobile Diaries.	Reflections on the method, potential improvements, potential value of method to design agency and to participant.

Table 2. Overview of 'reflective sessions' in the second Field Study

#### Discussion



#### Illustration 6. Focus of the second Mobile Diary prototype study: the experience of the participant and the design researcher

Study 2 provided an experience of *doing* and *using* the Mobile Diary in a project context, from the perspective of both the participant and the design researcher.

As indicated in Illustration 6 the structure of this study provided access to experiences of *doing* a Mobile Diary from the perspective of both the participant and the design researcher. The client, in the role of study participant, reflected on her experiences of *using* the Mobile Diary to share her world with us. I and other members of the design team were able to reflect on our experiences as design researchers, *using* the Mobile Diary to immerse ourselves into the life of our participant. This enabled learning about the method and the impact of these particular self-reporting tools from both perspectives. The real-world project context also enabled a more effective evaluation of the kind of material that could be produced than the first internal study had done. In turn this allowed confirmation and refinement of decisions made about tools in the previous study. It also highlighted the need for a more sophisticated way of collating and sharing the Mobile Diary data during the study, and provided a set of requirements for achieving this (followed up in subsequent work described below).

#### 4.4.4 Subsequent Work

The experiences of the first two field studies enabled the CD Agency to see the value of the approach and feel confident to use the technique within a commercial context with clients. The findings from the studies also informed the development of an online Mobile Diary platform that aggregated participants' mobile data for later review or editing, as documented in Chapter 7. Based on this research, a refined Mobile Diary method was implemented in two subsequent commercial studies that took place outside the formal research undertaken for this thesis, and which has been repeated in other studies since. The take-up of the method in practice demonstrates the value of the research and verifies the findings that the Mobile Diary method made a valuable contribution to early design research in a practice context.

As noted, for commercial reasons there was no formal evaluation of these subsequent studies. A brief description of the two subsequent projects and key outcomes are documented in Chapter 7. The description of the projects in Chapter 7 is based on my experiences as the design lead on the projects and feedback gained from a client and design researcher involved in the studies. They are included because they further informed the development of practical and technical considerations significant to approaches such as Mobile Diaries also documented in Chapter 7. They also confirm findings from the first and second field study in different project contexts and enriched the capacity for reflection on Mobile Diaries as a method used in practice. The experience of implementing these studies contributed to the reflections in Chapters 8 and 9.

#### 4.5 Analysis

The philosophical and theoretical positions on design, design methods and participation laid out in Chapter 2 underpin the approach taken to analysis in this thesis. The primary lens for analysis is developed from the premise that our choices about tools and methods impact on the conditions created for participation. In this thesis the relationship between tools, methods and experiences has been scrutinised in a particular context, in order to make available knowledge that better equips us to support participation in ways appropriate to that context.

The commitment to contribute to knowledge that is of value to both Design Research and professional design practice also informs the analysis and the way in which the findings are presented. Throughout the thesis concepts from literature have been explored in relation to findings from practice, and experiences from practice reflected on in terms of their relationship to existing concepts in literature. This iterative moving back and forth has been an important part of understanding how academic literature can inform professional design practice. Just as importantly it has also allowed for the findings of the practice-led research to be understood in relation to, and located within, existing, ongoing academic dialogue about design methods, participation and social technologies.

The analysis and presentation of findings in this thesis can be divided into three phases. Phase 1 of the analysis was the evaluation of the Mobile Diaries as an early design research method as it was being iteratively designed and implemented. This is documented in Chapters 5, 6 and 7. The development of the method and its evaluation is both inspired and informed by concepts and technical capabilities introduced in the literature review. The second phase of analysis is performed from the perspective of asking what the impacts of designing with social technologies as self-reporting tools are on the nature of participation in self-reporting. This second phase of analysis is presented in Chapter 8, and draws upon the empirical research of Chapters 5, 6 and 7, as well as related self-reporting studies and research literature. The third phase of analysis, documented in Chapter 9, is a reflection on the insights gained about potential new forms of participation in the early design of social technologies themselves, which emerged from the fieldwork. This analysis was performed from the perspective of asking what the opportunities and implications are for participation when designing with and for social technologies. Key studies and concepts from Participatory Design literature helped to inform and support this last cycle of analysis. Each phase is briefly outlined below.

#### 4.5.1 Phase 1 Analysis

The design, iteration, evaluation and analysis of the Mobile Diary prototypes was guided by concepts identified in the literature, our design sensibilities as practitioners about what kinds of experiences and outcomes we were trying to achieve early in the design process, and the kinds of experiences for designers and participants we were hoping to enable. The perspectives on design and participation outlined in Chapter 2 sensitised me to particular ways in which participatory or designerly qualities may, or may not, be embedded within methods. In writing up the analysis of the field studies I sought to identify what and how, exactly, particular design outcomes and experiences were being enabled, and the role and capabilities of the different tools within that. As such the analysis of the two field studies in Chapters 5 and 6 includes an evaluation of the tools and the kinds of material produced throughout the study, and considers the perspective and experiences of the participant and the designer. Chapter 7 presents the final Mobile Diary method that was implemented into commercial practice along with reflections from the experiences of using the method in two subsequent commercial deployments. Practical and technical considerations for the use of the method, extracted from the process of implementing the method into practice, are also provided. The analysis and discussion of the two field studies and of the development and implementation of the final Mobile Diary method were structured to expose and account for the evaluation and decision-making process taking place, to highlight where particular decisions about tools and study structure were being made, and on what bases.

#### 4.5.2 Phase 2 Analysis

The second phase of the analysis, documented in Chapter 8, focused on explicating the impact of using social technologies as *tools for design* in terms of how participation is being enabled. Social technologies are constitutive of larger and more complex emerging social practices and behaviours. The intention was to identify how self-reporting was being augmented by social technologies, and the impact of this on the nature of participation. This was done through analysis of how social technologies are impacting on the experiences of participants and designers in self-reporting and the role of the different tools in enabling those experiences.

As a result of an analysis of the field studies, correlated with relevant self-reporting literature, seven experiential qualities of self-reporting were identified that were enhanced, or enabled, by social technologies and important to early design research. These seven qualities describe how some of the social, technical and physical attributes of social technologies, identified and exploited in the field research, impact on the kinds of experiences that are being enabled for participants. Many of these attributes (e.g., mobile, networked, multi-modal, interactive) were identified in the literature as important to enabling particular kinds of experiences in self-reporting and were deliberately fostered and explored in the design of the Mobile Diaries. Some attributes (e.g., sharable) only emerged as significant as a result of the fieldwork analysis and the
need to account for the social impacts of social technologies on the experiences being observed. These are drawn together in terms of the experiential qualities they enable for self-reporting in Chapter 8.

The intention behind presenting these findings from an experiential perspective is to move the discussion beyond the novelty of specific self-reporting studies, tools or platforms and help to connect the use of such tools, and more importantly our choices about the tools, to the conditions for participation they enable. It also provides a critical lens through which the trend to appropriate everyday, personal tools into self-reporting can be understood.

In analysing how social technologies were enabling and extending experiences in selfreporting, it was also possible to see that some of these experiences went beyond the traditional bounds of research, exposing assumptions about participation, and how we manage the boundaries of participation, embedded within our protocols. In particular, the process of implementing the Mobile Diaries into practice demonstrated that some of the experiences, activities and expectations enabled by social technologies were not accounted for, or anticipated by, traditional research protocols. The second output from this phase of analysis, also presented in Chapter 8, is a discussion of these ethical and methodological considerations raised by the appropriation of social technologies as design research tools.

The seven experiential qualities and the discussion of methodological and ethical considerations are both presented in Chapter 8 as a way of addressing the impact of using social technologies as *tools for design*. While the former focuses on how participation is being enabled for participants and designers through the use of social technologies as self-reporting tools and the role of the various tools in enabling those experiences, the latter provides insight into the impact this has for how emerging forms of participation might be conceived and managed.

Where possible, in the presentation of the findings in Chapter 8, links to earlier literature that inspired the Mobile Diaries are retained. Where a finding identified in my research corresponds with an earlier study, that study is referenced or given as an example. Such links are largely distinguished by literature published prior to 2006. I have also used more recent studies as a secondary source of data, providing a reference

to those studies that confirm findings from my own field studies about how particular experiences are being enabled or assumptions challenged.

#### 4.5.3 Phase 3 Analysis

In the process of doing the empirical research and analysis presented in Chapters 5-8 it became clear that social technologies created the potential for new forms of participation in the early design of social technologies themselves, in ways not accounted for in traditional (or indeed emerging) forms of self-reporting. In the third phase of analysis presented in Chapter 9, findings from the field studies are examined in terms of how the Mobile Diaries enabled experiences and outcomes valuable to the early design of community platforms in particular. The concept of seeding is used to identify the experiences and demonstrate how they support a connection between design and use, becoming 'strategies for seeding' valuable to the early design of community platforms. Emerging concepts and methods from Participatory Design literature are also used in the analysis to explore the significance of these strategies as opportunities for participation appropriate to the design of social technologies themselves. These findings demonstrate how the nature of participation is changing in the context of social technologies. In attempting to implement or take up these findings within design practice a number of limitations and barriers were encountered and identified. These barriers were largely created by assumptions or expectations, embedded within our existing protocols and processes, about how participation in design is managed. The barriers to embracing the new forms of participation identified in the research are also discussed in Chapter 9, providing further evidence of the changing nature of participation in design.

#### 4.6 Reflections and the Rigour of the Research

This section provides an account of the modes and stages of reflection that took place throughout my research and their significance. Scrivener (2000a) argues that reflection is central to practice-based research:

...the relationship between the issues, concerns and interests explored and the artefacts produced is so tied up with the act of making that this can only be revealed through description and reflection. In my research these processes of reflection, and the documentation of that reflection, have been critical to externalising the research and making it available for analysis and scrutiny. The roles I have played during this research include that of researcher, participant, designer, employee, team member and team leader. Each has required me to maintain a different set of accountabilities and responsibilities. For two years while I worked at the CD Agency my research-thinking and activities were threaded through my daily actions and discussions with peers and clients.

The research can be broken into two main phases, each emphasising a different kind of reflection. In writing about practice-led research, Gothe (2006) talks about the dual role of the 'insider researcher'. In the first phase of my research this was my primary role. The field studies were intensely pragmatic and concentrated activities and the first phase, conducted in the rapid-paced context of commercial practice, was characterised by many cycles of reflection-in-action. All the field research was undertaken during this time. In order to externalise and capture the research process I maintained a written and visual diary of activities, experiences, thoughts, questions and decisions in relation to the research. I produced numerous sketches and documented activities with notes, recordings and photographs. Once the field studies were complete, analysis and writing up of the studies and early draft chapters became the core reflective process. Figure 7 shows examples of sketches and the visual organisation of concepts that were central to the identification of key themes and draft chapter structures. Papers and blogposts related to the research and published during the lifetime of the thesis enabled the articulation of significant ideas as well as feedback on those ideas. In addition, writing proposals and commercial documents about our research methods enabled and facilitated a reflection and maturing of ideas. Presenting to clients about the possibility of the Mobile Diaries also contributed to the development of strategies to articulate the benefits and issues of the method and helped to identify the challenges to using such an approach.



Figure 7. Examples of documentation supporting the analysis of key themes and writing up of studies

The second phase of the research occurred after all field studies were completed and I had moved from working in practice to being a full-time researcher. I no longer had to play the role of 'insider researcher', instead having the time and space to reflect on the practice-based research as whole. In this phase, writing and visualising relationships through methods such as card sorting became core modes of reflection (as demonstrated in Figure 8). Sketching was also particularly important for exposing key ideas and relationships and interrogating key themes emerging out of the research (see example in Figure 9). Throughout this second phase I also sought informal opportunities to share and discuss my research with other practitioners and compare my findings with their personal experiences, opinions and expectations. This process of communicating and socialising the preliminary findings helped to both make sense of the research and shape it in such a way as to be accessible and useful to other researchers and practitioners.



Figure 8. Key concepts and connections represented through cards and sketches



Figure 9. Sketching out key concepts and connections as part of reflection and data analysis

These periods of action and reflection inherent during, between and after the studies are visualised in Figure 10 in relation to Scrivener's (2000a) model for practice-led research introduced in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3.2). Each field study is a complete work episode. There were breaks within the studies that provided additional points for reflection (e.g., interviews, diary writing). During each episode is reflection-in-action as a matter of course, and between each episode is reflection-on-action. The totality of the fieldwork makes up another larger work episode upon which reflection takes place. During the first phase, particularly throughout the field studies, the predominant mode is reflection-in-action. In contrast, the later stages where I reflect on the project as a whole were characterised by reflection-on-action.



#### Figure 10. Mapping research design to Scrivener's model of practice-led research

Episodes of reflection in and on action that took place over the field studies and duration of the research are visualised through Scrivener's model of practice-led research.

#### 4.7 A Note on Action Research

The iterative and collaborative approach taken to the design and evolution of the research in this thesis has many similarities to Action Research (AR). There is value in looking at AR as a model for Design Research, and I briefly touch on the similarities between design and AR here whilst also providing an explanation for why AR is not used as the formal research methodology in this thesis.

Swann (2002) has written explicitly about bringing an action research approach to design, highlighting in particular the value of adopting the more collaborative nature of AR. Swann starts by pointing out that the methodology of Action Research and the reflective practices of design are already very similar. While design is often articulated as a process of research-analysis-synthesis-evaluation, AR is distilled down as four stages of plan-act-observe-reflect. They both rely on iterative steps or cycles of action, reflection and evaluation and a commitment to responding to, and building upon, the initial outcomes of the research in order to shape the project direction. Swann (ibid) also draws attention to the relationship between Schön's epistemology of practice and action research stating: "*Reflection "in action" and reflection "on action" lead to "action research.*"" (p.50).

Swann (2002) suggests that there are two things that tend to differentiate action research from design as approaches to research. The first is a commitment within action research to equitable collaboration between all parties (including the researcher and participants). The second is the commitment within AR to an emancipatory agenda. I have also sought in my research to work collaboratively through the use of participatory methods and by involving stakeholders in shaping the development of the research. However it was not possible within the commercial environment of the CD Agency to support what Swann (ibid) describes as the 'totality' of the collaborative nature of action research. The small size of the agency and the commercial considerations required a more patchwork approach to collaboration and negotiation of participant involvement. The relationship between the agency and its clients, and between clients and users meant there was neither the resources nor the necessary research culture available to truly undertake a systematic action research program based on the equitable collaboration of all parties.

Furthermore, as argued in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3) there are sufficient models from within design to achieve rigorous, reflective and accountable research such that the adoption of external frameworks from the social sciences are not required. Instead it is

adoption of external frameworks from the social sciences are not required. Instead it is possible, and valuable, to talk about this Design Research thesis as Design Research *about practice*, being done *through practice*. Indeed one of contributions of this thesis is as an example of practice-based Design Research where practice itself is the basis for systematic research. According to Swann (2002), one of the benefits of bringing AR to Design Research are processes for externalising the research and the development of a systematic approach to documentation and reflection. As demonstrated in Chapter 2, the work of Donald Schön (1983) and Stephen Scrivener (e.g., 2000a; 2000b) also provide such frameworks, but from a design perspective.

That being said, the research approach taken in this thesis and the findings about design practice are certainly complementary to areas of Participatory Action Research (PAR) (McIntyre, 2008). As Swann (2002) argues, there is significant value in encouraging and supporting designers towards more equitable relationships with the people with whom they are designing, and frameworks such as PAR could help support this evolution of practice. As such, ways to better integrate a PAR approach into design projects is included in the discussion of future work in the concluding chapter.

#### 4.8 Summary

This chapter has documented the journey of the research and the evolution of the research questions, paying particular attention to how the practice-led nature of the research was managed and accounted for. An overview of the research design was presented along with a rationale for the methods of data collection and analysis. A description has been provided of why and how the Mobile Diary prototypes provided the primary source of empirical data for the research and how opportunities for collaborative reflection and evaluation of the method were sought. The final sections of the chapter outlined how the modes and stages of reflection enabled me to play the dual role of 'insider researcher'. It also outlined the relationship to action research. The chapters that follow document the field studies in full, the development of the Mobile Diary method, and the subsequent analysis of participation and design in the context of social technologies that it allowed.

# 5

### Designing a Mobile Diary

The Mobile Diary method was iteratively designed and evaluated over two separate field studies. In this chapter the evaluation of the first Mobile Diary prototype as a self-reporting method for early design research is described. Different potential self-reporting tools were evaluated and concepts from literature tested out. The process enabled an empirical understanding of the kinds of experiences and outcomes that are possible through such approaches to self-reporting and gave insight into the role of different tools on enabling those experiences. The chapter outlines how the field study was developed, its findings, and how these contributed to the development of the Mobile Diary method.

In this first study the design team at the CD Agency evaluated the Mobile Diary prototype through an internal study. This was the Agency's first foray into self-reporting as an approach to design research. The goals were to ground and explore concepts and technical capabilities identified in the literature within our specific practice context, and to understand for ourselves what it meant to conduct and participate in such a study. The study was designed, and the analysis presented, around the following three objectives:

- To experiment with and evaluate different potential recording tools
- To sensitise us as a design team to some of the issues involved in using such a method
- To enable a preliminary insight into the potential design outcomes and contribution to early design research the method could provide.

In order to achieve these objectives, Mobile Diary prototypes were trialled by four fulltime members of the CD Agency design team, including myself, for three weeks. The process allowed us to experience the method from both the perspective of a participant *doing* the Mobile Diary study, and that of a design researcher *using* the Mobile Diary as an early design research method. As described in the Methodology Chapter (Chapter 4, Section 4.4.2), to enable the design team to share and discuss their experiences, specific 'reflective sessions' were held before (Briefing), during (Interim Workshop) and after the study (Shared Review & Questionnaire). The feedback gained through these sessions from the design team was critical to evolving and evaluating the method and to understanding its value as an early design research method to the CD Agency. In addition to participating in the study my main role was to facilitate the Mobile Diary study as the researcher. This dual role allowed me to have empathy for the experiences of the other designers and be sensitive to the process of using the Mobile Diaries. However, in the analysis of people's experiences and the material created, the focus has been on those of other team members rather than my own.

The chapter begins with a detailed description of the design and rationale for the initial prototype and study set-up. The outcomes from the study are then presented, structured around the three objectives and followed by an account of how the choice of tools for the Mobile Diaries was iterated as a result of the study. A summary of findings is presented at the end of the chapter.

#### 5.1 Designing Mobile Diaries

The approach and tools selected for the Mobile Diary prototype were based on our experiences as design practitioners and informed by the concepts described in the Literature Review. We drew upon the principles of generative design methods, existing self-reporting methods such as probes and diaries, as well as emerging self-reporting methods that made use of digital, personal and networked technologies. The goal was to develop a method that supported immersion by designers into the world of participants and created conditions for dialogue with those individuals as active project stakeholders. An open-ended approach was adopted to put participants in the role of active contributors with the right to represent and share their lives in their own way, on their own terms. It was important that participants were able to capture material in situ as they went about their day and moved through various locations, places and spaces. The intention was to enable participants to share the personal, mobile, social and ongoing aspects of daily life including thoughts, attitudes and experiences, over time. To do this we aimed to leverage the opportunities offered by everyday, personal and digital technologies identified by practitioners and researchers such as Cheskin (2003), Hulkko et al. (2004) and Palen and Salzman (2002). Specifically we aimed to experiment with networked tools that would support real-time reports and tools that were both multi-modal and mobile. Tools and techniques where data collection was restricted to end-of-day reflective accounts or focused solely around desktop computer terminals were deliberately avoided.

The name 'Mobile Diaries' reflected these intentions. While the term 'Mobile' emphasises the more personal and mobile aspects of the method, referring to the method as a 'diary' was an acknowledgement that whilst seeking an open-ended, playful and participatory approach to data collection the diary would still be more focused than the intention behind the original Cultural Probes (1999). In addition, when discussing the potential name with the design team who had no prior knowledge of either probes or diaries, it was felt that the term 'diary' would be better received in a client context than 'probes'. Practical constraints around time and cost, imposed by the commercial context of the research, were also factored into the design and evaluation, encouraging the use of resources that were readily available or low cost.

#### 5.1.1 Digital Tools

Four different mobile documentation tools were trialled: a PDA phone, Camera Phone, Digital Camera, and KCam video recorder. The first three were readily available while the fourth was purchased for \$40 for the study. Each of the devices had different properties and qualities as recording and communications tools. The sketch in Figure 11, used to introduce the tools during the briefing session, shows the differences between the tools, including the recording media they supported and their connectivity. Not all the devices were networked, but it was expected that they were sufficiently mobile to enable *in situ* reports. All of the devices supported more than one form of data capture such as combinations of audio, text, still images and video and so could be considered multi-modal.



Figure 11. Sketch of the different tools and their technical characteristics

Each member of the design team used a different digital tool for documentation. We lacked the time and resources for a systematic comparison of tools and this approach had the advantage of allowing a rapid induction into the various issues involved in the use of each. During the briefing session each participant selected a device and shared some information about their choice. Participant 1 had never had a camera phone before and was interested to experiment with it. Participant 2 chose the digital camera because they liked photography and did not particularly like using mobile phones. Participant 3 chose the KCam because they were interested in experimenting with the low-fi and cheap video technology. These initial expectations provided some context to participants' existing relationships with the devices and their approach to using it. The fourth device was the PDA and this was the digital device that I used. To make it easier

for the participants, instructions for use were physically attached to each device as Gaver et al. (1999) had done. A voice message service had also been set up for participants to record and send messages as an audio file to a specific email address. This enabled *in situ* voice data capture in the same form as Palen and Salzman's Voice-mail diaries (2002), however no participants used this mode of data collection.

While we were able to access a range of portable recording devices, it proved more challenging to find an online platform to collect and aggregate the diary material that could compare to the Aware (2005) architecture used by Hulkko et al. (2004). At the time there were no appropriate custom 'diary' tools that we knew of. Revelation<sup>TM</sup> (August & August, 2005), an 'immersive' commercial online qualitative research tool, was being built in parallel to our research, but it did not support mobile. Initially we sought to support the online functionality through existing free or low-cost platforms. The ability to support the display of audio and text alongside the images was critical to viewing the mobile phone reports. While third-party media-sharing websites would accept images from specific handsets, nothing would easily accept text, audio, video, or still images from the two phone types we had access to. As an interim alternative, MMS and Voice-mail messages from the Camera Phone and PDA were sent directly to a dedicated email address. The intention was to collate them manually during the project and reflect them in some way back to the participants (as indicated by the Diary Gallery in Figure 11). In practice this was not possible until the end of the study when all the participants shared their material in a review. This was due in part to time constraints and the challenge of accessing the non-connected data during the study.

#### 5.1.2 Study Set-up

The topic of the study, decided collectively by the design team during the briefing session, was '*signs of sustainability in your neighbourhood*'. The topic was selected based on its interest to all the participants and its connection to the types of social and sustainability projects the CD agency was involved in. It was likely to generate experiences, reflections and data similar to some of our real-world projects.





Figure 12. Mobile Diary prototype packs

Examples of the packs are shown in Figure 12. The contents included: guidelines for the study, the selected recording tools, and materials for two mapping/collage exercises. As outlined in Chapter 4 (Section 4.4.2) the mapping/collage exercises are not included in the analysis. Unlike normal probe packs which are quite 'designed' (Gaver et al., 1999), the physical form of the packs was very primitive. This reflected their prototype-like nature, a desire to keep costs low and that the emphasis was on experimentation with the recording tools rather than the design of the physical packs. The prompts provided to participants around data collection (Figure 13) were intended to provide some form of direction around data collection, but remain open enough to allow participants to interpret what was appropriate, interesting or relevant from their own perspective.



Figure 13. Instructions on data collection provided to participants

Some of the studies discussed in the literature review made use of SMS prompts to support data collection. In this prototype there was some hesitancy about employing this approach partly because these prompts had some similarities to the more structured Electronic Sampling Method (Intille et al., 2003); it was important not to 'over-direct' what was meant to be open-ended data collection. There was also a fear of interrupting and overburdening participants in an already busy commercial environment and thus adding to their workload. However based on feedback from participants (discussed in more detailed in section 5.2.1), SMS and email prompts were introduced in the second week. It became clear over the period of the research that the exchange between researcher and participants enabled by these technologies was a central part of the method, in particular to maintaining connection and dialogue with participants.

At the end of the study all the material was collated and reviewed collectively by all participants via a Keynote presentation. The physical reviewing of probe or diary material is not as extensively documented in literature compared to aspects such as the design of the packs themselves. Examples that do exist (e.g., Hulkko et al., 2004; Ivey & Sanders, 2006; Sleeswijk Visser, 2009) describe printing things out or putting them on the wall. However this does not account for rich media. Using Keynote allowed us to easily display the diverse audiovisual material generated by the different digital reporting tools. The material was reviewed in a group, each participant 'talking' to their data. Sharing and discussing the material in this way allowed us to take on both the perspective of the participant sharing our own material, and that of the design researcher, viewing the material of other participants. It also exposed us to some of the practical considerations of how Mobile Diary material might be shared after the study with client or participant groups.

#### 5.2 Analysis

The analysis presented in this section is based on the material generated through the diaries, feedback from the participants on their experiences of doing the Mobile Diaries, as well as my observations and reflections on the study. As a result of the study, 66 different reports were created across the four Mobile Diary participants. In comparison to other studies (and our later diaries) this was a relatively low number of returns, but it was sufficient to provide a sense of what kind of material might be produced. Where relevant, our findings are also related to studies in literature. The analysis is structured around a comparison of recording tools, insights into the experiences of participants *doing* a Mobile Diary study, as well as the potential value of *using* this method of self-reporting as an early design research method. How this influenced the iteration of tools for the next prototype is also documented.

#### 5.2.1 Comparing the Recording Tools

The study enabled a comparison between the tools and an insight into the impact these could have on the overall design outcomes of the study. Particular differences were noted in terms of *portability, connectivity, quality, reporting styles* and *usability*. Although there was no opportunity to evaluate the shared platform, it was possible to gain a sense of its potential value and impact based on its absence. This is also reported at the end of this section.

#### Portability



Figure 14. Reports from different locations from the different participants, using the different reporting tools.

We had sought tools that enabled participants to capture snapshots of their lives throughout the day regardless of their location. Figure 14 shows that all four different tools were portable enough to be carried and used 'on the move' by participants. There were, however, differences between them in terms of *how* portable they were. Compared to the other three tools that were pocket-sized, the KCam (see Figure 15) needed to be carried in a separate bag.



Figure 15. KCam video camera

The participant using the KCam stated:

[The KCam is] nice and small, maybe less appealing for men who don't have handbags ...but it's good because you don't fear breaking it.

As the quote suggests, while the bulkier form meant it was less portable when compared in size to the other tools, its toy-like appearance still allowed it to be used in other, more playful ways. For example, Figure 16 shows the KCam being used to create a 'riding to work' video with voice-over commentary.



Figure 16. Still from KCam 'ride to work' video

#### Connectivity

As anticipated, the Camera Phone and PDA supported the real-time sending of reports via MMS, though size restrictions limited this to images, audio and text, not video. While the KCam and Digital Camera material were collected at the end, it was possible to monitor this other material as it arrived, check that reports were being done and gain a sense of what participants were doing in real-time. This comparison of tools confirmed the value of continuous reporting proposed by other researchers (e.g., Brandt

et al., 2007; Hulkko et al., 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002). It also drew attention to other ways in which networked devices might impact on self-reporting.

For example, the participant with the Camera Phone described recording multiple versions of the audio annotations before sending the final MMS showing that mobile reports might not be as real-time as they first appeared. This was partly due to the 10-second time limit, but it also suggested the immediacy of sharing the real-time reports could impact on how participants 'crafted' their message. This was reinforced by a comment from another participant who indicated that she would have felt the need to censor the content more had it been instantly uploaded. Using the Digital Camera, on the other hand, offered the potential for her to go back and edit which images were ultimately shared, even though in practice she did not do this.

The study also showed that real-time reports introduced a greater expectation of reciprocity than existed when using non-networked tools. Having sent something to the 'researcher', participants expected confirmation that the messages were arriving, and possibly some form of appreciation or encouragement in return. Carter et al. (2007) report a similar expectation and even frustration from their participants when trialling Momento. Although other researchers such as Palen and Salzman (2002) had emphasised the bi-directional nature of using such tools, it was the expectation of reciprocation from the participants in this internal study that prompted a conceptual reframing from my perspective of self-reporting as a conversation and an exchange with participants, rather than just a personal data collection activity. It also meant rethinking the role of the design researchers in interacting with participants and maintaining this momentum throughout the study.

#### Quality and Format

The differing digital quality and format of the material also revealed factors to consider when selecting between devices. For example, the MPEG-4 video from the KCam codec was much easier to transfer to a hard drive than traditional digital video. It could also be played back by a wide range of video players and easily shared or distributed electronically. However, the compression format greatly reduced the quality of the video and the audio, and the device was not practical for low light situations. This impacted on the types of recording activities that it could support. In contrast, the Digital Camera produced much higher resolution images than any of the other tools. The better quality picture and digital display allowed for more creativity and flexibility at the time of capturing the image, but it was problematic for later processing and uploading the images to an online platform, making it much less sharable. This suggested a need to design self-reporting activities around the strengths of particular devices.

#### Reporting 'Styles'

Technical, physical and social factors influenced how people used the tools to create reports. Both the PDA and the Camera Phone had limits on what could be recorded, e.g., 10 seconds for audio and a 100k limit on the MMS messages. This emphasised the creation of quick, fast snapshots over detailed reports. The KCam video camera on the other hand supported longer and more in-depth narrations of the participant's surroundings, descriptions of events and associated feelings. It was natural to adopt a documentary-style approach when using it, correlating with findings by Isomursu et al. (2004) that participants readily adopted the role of 'film-maker' when using video for self-reporting.

The physical form of the devices, and existing associations about their role in our lives, also had the potential to impact on reporting styles. For example, participants picked up the KCam and immediately held it up to their eye in one hand like a conventional video camera, even though the viewfinder was almost impossible to see through. The Camera Phone on the other hand was more likely to be held up and away from the body. Existing studies of camera phone use (e.g., Oksman, 2006) suggest that camera phones are often used to capture fleeting and unexpected moments, whilst conventional cameras have traditionally been reserved for documenting special events. The results of our study suggested a potential for these associations to impact on the usefulness of the tools for self-reporting. The participant with the Camera Phone captured a range of snapshots of her neighbourhood, while the participant with the Digital Camera struggled with what to document. Our small sample prevents any systematic analysis but it is possible that this was in part due to previous associations about the role of such tools in daily life.

In future work it will be interesting to observe how new technologies which break from traditional form factors disrupt some of our existing preconceptions of how different tools should be used. For example, the Flipcam, used in later commercial diaries, is

shaped more like a mobile phone than a traditional video camera. It is not yet clear what impact, if any, these kinds of changes have to the reporting styles people adopt.

#### Usability

Usability, especially the need to learn new interfaces, can be a barrier to participation in self-reporting. In the Mobile Diary study all participants were able to generate Mobile Diary reports of some kind based on the simple instructions that were provided, demonstrating at least a basic level of usability across all the devices. However some devices needed frequent charging and this prevented participants from creating reports during those times. The KCam was the most straightforward to operate; in keeping with its toy-like character only one click was needed to start the video/audio record mode. Being video, it was also easy to capture visuals and narrate verbally at the same time. In comparison the other three devices required participants to 'learn' the interface and complete a number of steps in order to add audio or text annotations to images. The participant with the Camera Phone did not find this too prohibitive, describing the process as 'automatic' by the end of the study. However the lack of any annotation on the images generated through the Digital Camera (discussed further in Section 5.2.3) was partly attributed to the unintuitive interface.

#### Shared Platform

As stated previously, technology and resource limitations meant it was not possible to trial the automatic aggregation and display of mobile material on an online platform during the study. However, the following feedback from participants provided insight into how such a shared platform might have impacted on their experience of creating a Mobile Diary:

[During the study] I wasn't sure how well it was looking. I imagine if I saw them I would have been prompted to do more.

And:

...wish I could have seen the stuff straight away or sent it to myself...I'd like to see my emailed pictures so I can keep track of what I'm doing and see them grow.

The current format of the Mobile Diaries did not enable participants to reflect back on the material they had created. As these quotes suggest, this made it difficult for participants to see what exactly they had covered in their reports, or how the reports looked to others. While an online platform that aggregated the mobile material would have obvious value for researchers monitoring the diaries, this feedback demonstrated the value of such a shared online platform for participants as well. It would be a secondary point of reflection for participants that could potentially encourage and direct future data collection. Such a shared platform would also allow participants to check for themselves that messages had arrived, rather than rely on confirmation from researchers.

#### 5.2.2 Doing Mobile Diaries

*Doing* the Mobile Diaries provided the design team with an experiential understanding of what it felt like to be a Mobile Diary participant and sensitised us to some of the issues involved in self-reporting. It also provided some insight into potential experiences and outcomes for participants beyond the actual data collection. In particular we were made aware of issues relating to: *participant confidence, patterns of data collection* and *reporting and sharing in public*. We were also able to gain insight into *potential motivations and outcomes of participation* in Mobile Diaries.

#### Participant Confidence

Self-reporting requires participants to document and reflect on practices, experiences, emotions and attitudes that are normally implicit and embedded in their everyday lives. As Palen and Salzman (2002) point out, from a participant perspective such information can seem mundane and can lead participants to question the value of the material they are collecting. The domestic focus of our study, in which participants were asked to consider sustainability in their home and neighbourhood, also highlighted this potential. Participants documented things like rubbish containers, laundry habits, showerheads, cleaning products, recycling activities: all examples of domestic items and practices. There was concern from some participants about whether these were the 'right' things; the domestic subjects did not seem interesting enough to warrant the special attention provided them through self-reporting. Palen and Salzman's (2002) suggestion for dealing with this aspect is to balance the open-ended structure with guidance around data collection when reporting is participant-directed. We also considered providing further direction or more structure to the data collection to reduce participant uncertainty about what was the 'right' kind of data. It was decided, however, that the

most important thing for maintaining a participant-led approach was to ensure participants felt empowered in their role as active interpreters and decision-makers in the documentation process. Ways to support this informed the structure and approach to the next Mobile Diary prototype documented in Chapter 6.

#### Patterns of Data Collection

The study revealed potential patterns of data collection that could impact on how, and when, participants do self-reporting. The first was a tendency to create reports 'in between' times, such as on the way to or from home or work. This was likely influenced by both the activities and the topic of the study. However, it also aligned with known patterns of mobile usage; that people are likely to use mobile phones to fill voids between activities (Ito & Okabe, 2005; Perry & Brodie, 2006; Perry et al., 2001).

Another pattern was to forget to take the device and then, once remembered, use it to capture a series of images all at once. One possible response to this was to make use of participants' own phones (which they are likely to have with them at all times) as reporting tools. The implications of this approach are further discussed in sections 5.2.4 and 8.1.6. The use of SMS and email reminders, such as those used by Jönsson et al. (2002), Church and Smyth (2008) and Masten and Plowman (2003), could also help to encourage reports at different times. As noted in the study set-up, such prompts had not been used initially, due to matters of workload, apprehension about over-burdening participants with interruptions and requests and concern at 'over-directing' the data collection. However, participant expectations of reciprocity to their reports, and the difficulty participants noted in remembering to do the reports, further demonstrated their potential value. As a result, a limited number of email and SMS prompts were sent in the second week of the study to encourage participants. Some of these included random suggestions about potential images to capture, e.g., an SMS saying "take a photo of an item in your fridge". These prompts appeared to have little impact on the specific data collection in that participants did not necessarily capture what was suggested. However, positive feedback from participants about the reminders during the evaluation suggested that such messages were as important for maintaining connection and momentum in the study as they were for providing specific instructions for data collection.

#### Reporting and Sharing in Public

The literature had forewarned about legal and ethical issues involved in recording in privately owned public spaces such as shops and malls (e.g., Hulkko et al., 2004), and the need for participants to use discretion when capturing others (Carter & Mankoff, 2005). The Mobile Diary study revealed similar sensitivities about documenting in public and the potential impact of mobile reporting tools. While the focus of the method was on 'self-reporting', it was other people or scenes with other people in them that were often the subject of reports. For example, on one occasion, upon noticing they were being photographed, a curious member of the public approached the participant and asked what they were doing. Conversely participants themselves were aware of being observed by others when they were creating their reports. One participant noted feeling "a little embarrassed" when documenting in public, while another felt they had "been given permission" to do so by being involved in the study. Interestingly, the participants all felt the KCam video provided some sense of legitimacy about recording in public spaces, even though it was more like a toy than a video camera. In their study of different diary tools, Carter and Mankoff (2005) drew attention to the value of audio for clandestine reporting. The experiences of Mobile Diary participants described here also suggested people may feel more confident using some devices over others in public, while at other times participants may not feel comfortable to record at all.

A sense of self-consciousness was also felt by participants when hearing the material played back at the end of the study. One participant observed:

*I went on a bit! Never great hearing your own voice but happy with it actually.* 

Whilst another reflected:

## ...glad that I didn't have [video] camera or audio, too embarrassing to review in a group.

Noyes (2004) noted a similar sense of surprise by diary participants when later watching video interviews of themselves. Listening to our own voices or seeing ourselves on video is an uncommon occurrence for most people, an aspect to be sensitive to when reviewing and sharing this kind of material with participants, particularly in a group forum. At the same time, it is the very personal, immediate and direct nature of audio

and video that make them so powerful as tools for empathy and immersion for designers (discussed further in Section 5.2.3).

#### Motivations For, and Outcomes Of, Participation

Motivation of participants is a key factor in the success of self-reporting (Hulkko et al., 2004; Jönsson et al., 2002). One of the concerns from the perspective of the CD Agency about using the method had been participant workload. There was apprehension that doing the diary could feel a bit like 'homework', an aspect also noted in other probe studies (e.g., Graham et al., 2007a). However, the majority of the feedback from the participants about their experiences was positive, suggesting that it might be more about 'finding the time' than the method itself being time-consuming. In particular, participants enjoyed the opportunity to gain a different perspective on their own lives and homes, confirming the findings of other literature about the value of self-reflection for participants (e.g., Lucero & Mattelmäki, 2007; Mattelmäki, 2005).

The Mobile Diary study also re-enforced the potential for self-reporting to enable behaviour change, as reported by Grinter and Eldridge (2003). For one participant, doing the diary study had triggered conversations with flatmates about the issue of sustainability. The result was the introduction of a new recycling system into their share flat. In turn, this demonstrated the capacity of the method to be a catalyst for change and action in and of itself, not just a method for informing designs that might support such change. This finding was particularly relevant for the CD Agency whose aim was to promote and encourage behavioural change around sustainability through design. The potential to use Mobile Diaries as a catalyst for behaviour change was intentionally leveraged in later commercial uses of the method where participants were asked to take up particular sustainability challenges as part of participating in the diary study.

Another rewarding aspect of the Mobile Diary for participants was the opportunity to play and experiment with new technologies. Mobile Diaries created a safe context for trying things out. In the words of one participant, "[I] ... felt like I could make a mistake". Other studies have also shown new technologies to be both an enabler for participation in self-reporting as well as a motivation to participate (e.g., Graham et al., 2007a; Hutton, 2006; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Näkki & Virtanen, 2007). This finding takes on additional significance from the perspective of designing social technologies themselves, such as the community platforms the CD Agency was involved in creating.

This is because, as a result of participating in Mobile Diaries, participants were learning new skills and behaviours around the use of social technologies. Mobile Diary activities were, in effect, skilling up participants in particular forms of interaction relevant to participation in future social technology platforms. In existing self-reporting literature the value of this connection is framed in terms of how they can assist participants to envision new forms of possible interaction (e.g., Graham et al., 2007a). But such activities could also be understood as bridging existing and future 'use' practices in ways that may help to seed the design in its future use context. The potential value of this connection between the Mobile Diary method and the design of future social technologies such as community platforms is explored in the second Mobile Diary study (in Chapter 6) and described in further detail in Chapter 9.

#### 5.2.3 Using Mobile Diaries

The goal of this first Mobile Diary study was to gain an experiential understanding of what it would mean to deploy such a method at the CD Agency. While the emphasis was not on an analysis of the material generated during the study per se, the study did allow us as a design team to experience something of what it would mean to work with the kind of material that was produced through such a method and its value to the early phases of design. The key aspects that stood out as significant and that informed the design of the next prototype were: the impact of working with *rich, personal media* and the *value of annotation*. In addition, we were able to identify a connection between *self-reports and user-generated content*.

#### Rich, Personal Media

The approach taken to 'reading' the data at the end of the study was guided by concepts from literature relating to generative research (e.g., Gaver et al., 1999; Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002). Specifically we assumed that rather than a formal process of analysis or coding, the value of the data was in its raw form as a resource for immersion, empathy, inspiration, information and dialogue. Material included spontaneously captured images, audio and video such as the examples in Figure 17, home or lifestyle choices, such as in Figure 18, and more expressive moments such as those in Figure 19.

These snippets and snapshots provided a view into the participant's world, through their own eyes. This was quite different to that experienced by the design team when using different forms of research. As one designer noted, the Mobile Diary material provided:

...a very interesting insight into people, it really exposes people's styles, attitudes and lives in general in a way that a survey never could.

Another identified the value of the approach for understanding patterns and habits and the capacity to shape the research as appropriate to different participants:

Great for evaluating lifestyle tools and their effect over time, subjects direct the research depending on their personal experiences

Stolterman (2008) argues that designers are more likely to take up design methods that they recognise as being related to design practice. This feedback from the design team suggested that they were able to recognise the value of the Mobile Diaries both in terms of the different kinds of insights it gave, as well as the material form it took.



Figure 17. Spontaneous reports responding to activities and events



"This is another sign of our more sustainable society, the low impact shower head... now installed to reduce my rather lengthy showers..."

Audio+Image



"This is our recycling bin... it freaks me out..."



"These were installed not long ago, industrial strength machines, I've no idea of their sustainability."

Figure 18. Documenting home and lifestyle choices



"My apartment is, I guess, a sign of the kind of living we'll need to do in the future... the main is the size of the apartment, it's very, very small..."

The visual and personal nature of the images and stories shared by participants supported a sense of immersion and empathy. Both still image and video were important for allowing us to see the world from the participants' perspectives and the





Figure 19. Self-portraits as 'self-reports'

audio recordings of people's actual voices also had a particularly emotive quality. Listening to people describing their thoughts and experiences was a little like reliving the moment with them. This created a sense of intimacy with, and closeness to, the participants. Both the audio and video content also conveyed significant information about context and surrounding in addition to what the participant was explicitly sharing. The images and videos also acted as shared objects around which dialogue could take place. The visual nature of the material made it easily accessible and open to different kinds of interpretation. It was possible to see the value of this material for both grounding the design process in people's actual lived experiences and for being inspired by those experiences.

One limitation of the method was the

length of some of the video reports. Ranging from 30 seconds to 5 min 47 seconds, they were time-consuming to watch all in one go. The potential increase in workload that comes from the use of video in ethnographic work is well-known (Bloomberg, Giacomi, Mosher & Swenton-Hall, 1993). The Mobile Diaries showed this could also be a potential disadvantage when viewing the material in a collaborative environment with other participants, as the video sequences were significantly longer and more time-consuming to engage with than any of the other material.

#### Value of Annotation

None of the Digital Camera images were annotated even though the device supported this function (Figure 20 shows examples of the Digital Camera images). The lack of annotation did leave more room for personal interpretation by designers, important in methods like Cultural Probes (Gaver et al., 2004) where uncertainty and ambiguity are privileged over other qualities. However, without additional context the images had less connection to the actual participant, reducing their capacity as sources of immersion, empathy and insight into people's daily lives. Even the participant herself couldn't always remember why she had taken the images. Similar difficulties working with visual imagery have been reported by Carter and Mankoff (2005) and Hulkko et al. (2004). In this case the lack of annotations was attributed to a combination of personal preference by the participant, traditional associations of how a camera is used, and the complexity of the user interface of the camera. The result emphasised the need to support and encourage participants to provide annotations, but also to make sure that the tools themselves made this easy to do.



Figure 20. Images without additional contextual information

#### Self-reports and User-generated Content

While the findings above reinforced the value of methods like Mobile Diaries to early design research generally, it was also possible to identify an additional 'role' for the self-reporting material important to the design of community platforms specifically. The material generated through Mobile Diaries could also be 'read' as indicative of potential future user-generated content. The videos, stories and images being shared about the topic *sustainability in your neighbourhood*, were the kinds of things that we would expect or hope to see being shared on a community platform about the topic. The potential for this material to be interpreted as seed content was in part due to the subject matter; the stories people share with the design researcher might also be stories they would like to tell each other. But the format was also an important aspect. It was visually rich and technically 'sharable': picture messages (MMS) and short compressed video clips constitute much of the 'user-generated content' that is found online. The potential value of self-reporting to generate seed content is further explored in the second study (in Chapter 6) and is central to the discussion and analysis of seeding in Chapter 9.

#### 5.2.4 Iterating the Mobile Diary Tools

The outcomes and experiences from this study enabled us to refine the tools for the second prototype. In most self-reporting studies only one recording device is used, however it was decided to pair the KCam and the Camera Phone together for the next iteration due to their complementary nature. The mobile, personal, networked nature of the Camera Phone and the brevity of the messages made it suitable as a diverse 'life' documentation tool. The KCam emphasised more localised in-depth and/or reflective reports. While not networked, it used the MPEG-4 compressed digital format which lent itself to distribution and sharing. They were also the easiest out of the four tools to use and more readily supported multi-modal reports. When evaluating which of the devices were most suitable, we also considered the risk of loss or damage. The Camera Phone and the KCam were significantly cheaper and easier to replace than the PDA or Digital Camera and so were more suitable in this regard.

The possibility of having participants use their own phone was also considered. This would alleviate the need to introduce participants to new tools and learn new interfaces.

We did not proceed with this for two reasons. Firstly, it was dependent on participants having camera phones, not yet ubiquitous in 2006<sup>3</sup>. Secondly, it meant we would have to reimburse participants for the costs of sending MMSs. This seemed like a possible barrier to participation, one that could be avoided by supplying participants with a phone and prepaid SIM card, and this was done for the second prototype.

The Voice-mail diary phone number was not used by any of the participants and participants showed little interest in it when asked. While the reasons for this were unclear, it may have been that this tool was somewhat extraneous compared to the immediacy and tangibility of the other physical reporting devices. Given the lack of interest shown to this particular 'data collection mode' by participants, and that the second prototype would already contain two data collection devices, the Voice-mail tool was dropped entirely from the second prototype.

#### 5.3 Summary

The role of this study was to enable an experiential evaluation of a particular approach to self-reporting in a specific practice context. The evaluation allowed us to confirm, ground and expand on concepts already documented in literature through an appropriation of tools and resources readily available to the CD Agency. The study enabled a preliminary insight into how Mobile Diaries could support outcomes important to early design research, and the role of various tools in enabling those experiences. For example, it was possible to confirm:

- The value of the rich, personal media and continuous, real-time reporting for enabling a sense of immersion and empathy in participants' lives
- The capacity of different reporting tools to support participants in documenting and sharing their everyday, ongoing and mobile lives
- The potential for the self-reported material to act as a source of inspiration and information for design, as well as facilitate dialogue between participants and members of the design team.

<sup>3</sup> In 2010 it is difficult to find a phone without a camera although it is not unusual for participants not to have used the MMS or picture messaging functions. Although the reasons have changed, the decision of whether to supply participants with a phone or have them use their own still remains a consideration in designing Mobile Diary studies. This is further discussed in Chapter 7 (Section 7.1) and Chapter 8 (Section 8.1.7.)

Another key outcome of *doing* the method ourselves was the development of a more sensitive eye as designers and researchers for planning studies, recruiting participants, relating to participants and 'reading' the material produced. We gained an empirical understanding of some of the considerations involved in managing participation in self-reporting studies. In particular, the impact of some of the capabilities, tools and practices constituted by social technologies, in terms of how participation in self-reporting was experienced by participants, and potentially managed, by designers. For example,

- The mobile and networked nature of some tools supported continuous reporting and reporting 'on the move', but also put different kinds of pressures on participants in regards to reporting in public or in real-time.
- The use of rich media and multi-modal tools was rewarding from a participant perspective, but also had the potential to be unnerving to use and review in a public setting.
- The use of tools such as mobile phones, MMS and continuous real-time reporting introduced an emphasis on reciprocity between participants and design researchers.

The findings also indicated ways in which the appropriation of social technologies was enabling other forms of participation that went beyond inspiring and informing design, such as:

- The aspects of learning, experimenting and play that came with the use of some of the tools could be a potential motivator for participation, whilst also facilitating participants to learn new skills for participation *in* social technologies themselves.
- The connection between material generated in the process of 'self-reporting' and user-generated content.

The findings of this first study also allowed us to iterate the tools for the Mobile Diary prototype and provided us with the confidence to trial the method in a real-world project. Chapter 6 documents the second iteration of the Mobile Diary method undertaken as part of a client project. Chapter 7 presents the final Mobile Diary method that was implemented as part of commercial practice at the CD Agency.

## 6 Refining a Mobile Diary

This chapter documents the second iteration of the Mobile Diary prototype. This second study enabled the further refinement and evaluation of the Mobile Diary prototype and toolkit within a real-world design project. The study expanded our understanding of the experiences and outcomes that could be achieved through the method from the perspective of both participant and design researcher, and the role of the tools in enabling those outcomes. The chapter describes the structure of the field study, its findings, and how this contributed to the evolution of the Mobile Diary method.
The goal of the second study was to build on the first prototype by further iterating and evaluating the Mobile Diary method within the context of a real-world design project. The study was designed, and the analysis developed and presented, around the following four objectives:

- To evaluate the kinds of insights into participants' lives that could be gained through Mobile Diaries and the role of the tools in enabling those insights
- To further develop our understanding of the participant experience in Mobile Diaries and what it meant for participants to *do* Mobile Diaries
- To deepen our understanding of how Mobile Diaries could support dialogue and relationship building between participants and the design team
- To further iterate the prototype and develop the rationale for the different tools being used.

In order to achieve these objectives, the Mobile Diary prototype was trialled within an existing design project with a small business client. The client herself was the primary participant in the Mobile Diary study, with her assistant also involved to a lesser degree. Members of the design team helped to manage the diary study and reviewed the material with my role again being both designer and researcher.

The chapter begins with a description of the project context and study set-up. The evaluation and analysis of the second Mobile Diary prototype is then presented, structured around the objectives outlined above. A description of how this shaped the next iteration of the Mobile Diary toolkit is also provided. The chapter closes with a summary of findings.

## 6.1 Designing the Mobile Diary

The second Mobile Diary study was shaped by the commercial context and particular design project in which it was deployed. A brief background to the design project and how it impacted on the evaluation of the Mobile Diary prototype is provided here to ground the description of the study design and analysis that follows.

#### 6.1.1 Project Context

The CD Agency had been engaged to design an online platform for a client with a paper-based lifestyle publication. The goal was to provide a 'virtual' home for the publication and connect the already loyal and enthusiastic community of readers. An initial site was being built using a blogging platform that could easily be integrated with other existing social media tools such as *Flickr* and *Delicious*. While the platform was simple in the short term, there was an intention to make greater use of social technologies to further support and encourage communication, sharing and interaction within the community in the longer term.

As a design team, we were conscious that any online presence or tools we provided needed to embrace, facilitate and enhance the existing community energy. The business was small and the current relationships were fostered at a very personal level with the community keen to give feedback and share their own experiences. The Mobile Diary would allow us to rapidly immerse ourselves into the client's world and gain sensitivity to the nature of the relationship with the community. This could better position us to work with the client in identifying and designing appropriate tools and strategies for the future.

In addition to the formal research objectives of the field study listed in the previous section, two project-specific objectives, developed in collaboration with the client, further focused the Mobile Diary study. The first was to understand potential ways for responding to the community's interest in how the publication was produced: how did it come together, who was the team behind it and so on. Specifically we aimed to explore and experiment with sharing 'behind the scenes' information from the production process. The second was to explore how new forms of online and mobile interaction (such as mobile blogging, also known as 'moblogging') might be incorporated into how information was shared and communicated with, and within, the community. The client had never used a camera phone or experimented with blogging or moblogging. By participating in the Mobile Diary she would be exploring and experimenting with new technologies and forms of interaction that could be useful in the future. This second objective deliberately took advantage of findings from the previous study: that participating in the Mobile Diary would allow participants to explore the potential use of such technologies and forms of interaction and perhaps pave the way for incorporating these practices in the future.

## 6.1.2 Study Set-Up

The Mobile Diary study was aligned with the three-week production timeline in order to take advantage of the in-depth access to the publication this would provide. This meant the Mobile Diary had to be deployed very quickly and there was only an afternoon to ready the pack. While this left little time for preparation, it was in keeping with the style and pace at which design agencies are often required to respond to opportunities or pre-existing deadlines.



Figure 21. Mobile Diary Pack Instructions

As with the first study, an open-ended approach to data collection was taken. The client was not given specific directions on what to capture but instead encouraged to interpret what was important from her own perspective. Open-ended questions for triggering reports were provided as 'cue card prompts' using index cards, which were easy to generate in the short time-frame. Figure 21 shows the instructions and prompts sent to the client to guide the reports.

Based on the findings from the first study, the client received phone calls and emails of encouragement during the study. These were intended as reminders, confirmations that reports were getting through and to help build the client's confidence to capture what she considered relevant. Like the first study, at the end of the three weeks all the reports were compiled in a Keynote presentation and used as part of a co-design session with the client, the Creative Director and myself. In this session the Mobile Diary material was reviewed in context with other project discussions and updates. In order to support the evaluation of the method, opportunities for the client to reflect on her experiences of doing the Mobile Diary were included in addition to the standard project meetings, workshops and deliverables (detailed in Chapter 4, Section 4.4.3). This included informal feedback gathered through phone conversations and during project meetings and a formal interview at the end of the Mobile Diary study.

## 6.1.3 Digital Tools

The section on *Iterating the Mobile Diary Tools* in the previous chapter (Section 5.2.4) describes how the KCam and Camera Phone came to be the designated recording tools for the second Mobile Diary prototype. It was anticipated that these would support complementary forms of data collection but no specific direction was given as to how to use the different tools in relation to the other. Based on the findings in the previous study the participant was explicitly asked to annotate any images taken with the Camera Phone so we would better understand the significance of the images.

To facilitate ease of use, the Camera Phone was charged with credits and preprogrammed with an email address for sending MMS messages. As in the previous study, messages were sent to a dedicated email address where the design team could review them while the video material from the KCam material was collected at the end. Possible ways to automatically aggregate the Mobile Diary reports online were again explored. The goal was to identify an online platform that would allow the Mobile Diary participant and the design team shared access to reports throughout the study. Research conducted during the first study had established that existing third-party platforms were limited in their capacity to accommodate the variations of media we were using, and supported only a limited range of handsets. Reviewing potential tools in the context of a client study exposed additional kinds of considerations about privacy and ownership. For example, when using free media platforms such as *Flickr* or *Vox* the data is stored on their servers. In many cases these companies retain certain rights to the data and its usage. The lack of control over the data posed ethical challenges given the potentially private, personal or commercial nature of the information that might be generated through Mobile Diaries. This concern was further highlighted by the University of Technology, Sydney ethics guidelines, which required a particular level of protection and management of research data. The tension between these expectations of privacy and the tendency towards sharing and publication embedded within social technologies is a recurring theme explored in this thesis. In this case it raised questions for the CD Agency, and for me as a researcher, about our obligations to protect the participant. We erred on the side of caution, deciding not to use any of the existing free media sharing platforms. Instead, for the purposes of the study, we developed an HTML based work-around. Mobile reports were made available for the client to review using a static web gallery. She was able to see and listen to the reports online in a format similar to that of the Mobile Probe platform (Hulkko et al., 2004). This was sufficient to allow some insight into the potential impact of participants being able to reflect on and review their Mobile Diary material during the study.

## 6.2 Analysis

The Mobile Diary ran for a period of three weeks. In total, 34 annotated images were generated and three separate video reports were created. The analysis presented in the following section is based on the material generated through the Mobile Diary prototype, feedback from the client and members of the design team on their experience of *doing* and *using* the Mobile Diaries, and my observations and reflections on the study. The analysis responds to the four objectives and is structured around:

- The Mobile Diary material, what was shared and how
- The participant's experience of *doing* Mobile Diaries
- The impact of the Mobile Diary on the relationship between participants and design team
- An evaluation and iteration of the tools.

The analysis and discussion builds on the findings of the first study and, where relevant, draws upon related literature.

#### 6.2.1 Using the Mobile Diary Material

As anticipated from the results of the first study, the Mobile Diary allowed insights into the life of the participant in a profoundly different way to other user research methods we had experienced at the CD Agency. Of particular significance was the degree to which it enabled us to immerse into the client's (working) world and see it from her perspective. The sense of immersion was enabled both as a result of *what* was shared, as well *the way* in which it was shared. To explore these two aspects, the discussion of the material begins with an analysis of the types of content generated in the Mobile Diary study, loosely grouped around their emphasis on *activities and events, inner thoughts and feelings*, and *relationships and social interactions*. The focus then turns to the impact of how these different glimpses of daily life were shared and *the role of the different tools, mediums and delivery modes* in enabling them.

In reality, the content of the reports and the format in which they are delivered are intimately entwined. What is created and shared is shaped by the tools themselves, and the format or mode of delivery can impact on our reading of the content as design researchers. Discussing them separately, however, lets us firstly look at the different content themes that emerged and gauge the types of information or experiences that Mobile Diaries enable participants to share about their daily lives. A separate focus on *the way* this information was shared can then help to explicate the role of the different tools in supporting particular forms of expression and modes of delivery.

Importantly, in the process of *using* the material as designers we did not formally categorise the material in the way documented in this section. Rather, we immersed ourselves in the material as a whole.<sup>4</sup> The analysis and categorisation of the material presented here was done for the purposes of evaluating the Mobile Diary method.

## Events and Activities

The Mobile Diary reports provided a deeper understanding of the activities that made up the production process as well as 'how things got done'. The series of images in Figure 22, for example, all show significant production-related events. The annotations

<sup>4</sup> In this field study the material was treated as an additional, informal, design resource. However in later commercial studies where the outputs of the Mobile Diaries were formalised into a 'research deliverable' we found more structure was required to account for the results of the study and communicate them to paying clients and other stakeholders. See also section 7.2.2.

describe the events themselves and provide context about their importance, in this case to the inner workings of the client's business. Palen and Salzman (2002) suggest self-report material enriches existing findings from other data. In this case the Mobile Diary material enabled us to 'see for ourselves' actual examples and instances of things that had been mentioned in meetings and workshops with the client.

Audio+Image



"A girl called [Name] has just ordered [the whole product range] which we love. It means she's found [the product] and she liked it so much she wants them all."



"[Company name]'s 1100th subscription came through late last night! My reward for working til the small hours."

## Audio+Image



"We didn't have enough stock here to still sell it so we had to go to the warehouse... it's a garage in [Suburb] and that is where we... the royal we... that is where I store all the back issues and boxes of the current issues."

Figure 22. Reports in response to events during the day





Figure 23. How decisions get made

It was also clear that the method allowed access to kinds of data, nuances and behaviours not easily accessible in other ways. For example in Figure 23 the client has used the KCam video to describe the process of selecting different cover artwork. This 1 minute 51 second video revealed the in-depth nature and key considerations of the decision-making process. It also conveyed a significant amount of information about brand values and attitudes important to the design of any supporting systems. How a brand comes to life in practice, or innately shapes the decisions and activities of an organisation, is critical information for designers, yet is something that can be hard to describe out of context. The Mobile Diary reports enabled access to detail and to nuances of such decisions difficult to convey in words or style guides, where such instructions are often embedded.

Inner Thoughts and Feelings

## Audio + Image:

"Ah, it's late, 11.15 and I've just finished packing these orders for <company name> ahh I'm shattered...I should have been writing but instead I have been cello-taping. Um, I call this time Magness, a word I coined myself, to describe that everything is about the <name of product range>, and it's all magness."



## Audio + Image:

"Look at all those ticked boxes and the crossed lines, at this point in time it's all about this, trying not to forget anything, the tiniest little thing that I'll mean to get back to but you know if I forget it it's gone, ahhh but yeah, all those boxes are ticked which is very exciting, last night, it's all done, we just have to burn the disk tomorrow morning, well almost all done, pretty close, I keep saying that..."





Figure 24. Sharing personal or reflective moments through the Mobile Diary

As well as descriptions of external events and activities, Mobile Diary reports also captured more private moments. For example, in the first report in Figure 24 the participant shares a moment of late-night exhaustion. In the second, she shares excitement at a checked-off 'To Do list'. Some reports were more metaphorical, with images of objects being used to symbolise emotional states or feelings. For example, in Figure 25 a water bottle becomes a symbol for being a bottleneck, and an overflowing





"This rubbish bin looks like how my head feels, completely overflowing with all sorts of rubbish, buts it's not rubbish, it's all essential and vital, it's all sorts of..."

#### MMS – Audio + Image:



This is a self-portrait of me as a bottle neck, which is what I generally am at this point in the process...."

Figure 25. Metaphors for emotions and feelings

rubbish bin represents a state of mind. These reports again show the capacity of the method to convey inner thoughts and feelings that might have otherwise remained completely hidden, or been difficult to share or describe.

The above examples underscored the level of empathy and emotional proximity with participants' lives that can be achieved through such selfreporting techniques. In reviewing the reports we were struck both by their openness and honesty, as well as the humour included in their representation. They described experiences or feelings that were easy to relate to, connecting us

to the participant as an actual person with experiences common to our own.

## Networks and Social Interactions

The Mobile Diary reports also provided an insight into the social flows and networks that made up the client's world. For example, Figure 26 shows 'portraits' of people important in the production process. The candid images and accompanying descriptions conveyed something of their personality as well as their role and relationship to the client, providing a sense of the client's wider network. A video made collaboratively by the client and her assistant also conveyed a sense of personality, mood and social dynamics as they worked out together what to say. Physical 'traces' of interactions also provided a sense of the client's interactions and relationship with the community. For example Figure 27, is an image of personal notes and drawings added by people to their subscription forms, which conveyed something of the quality of the relationship currently fostered with the community. From a design perspective this information is subtle but important, particularly when attempting to design tools to support that interaction in the future. Again, these kinds of nuances are difficult to gather through other methods and it was possible here due to the visual, annotated and *in situ* nature of the method.



"This is [Name], he's a magic photographer that likes choc chip rasberry muffins and is exhibiting downstairs... He makes us laugh and keeps us sane."



"This is [Name] packing orders for the [Store name]. Darling [Name] has been helping me today and thank god she did because a couple of hours ago we got an order through for a couple of hundred magazines... and it would have taken me a couple of hours to do if [Name] hadn't been here."

Audio+Image



"This is [Name], my wing man, ahh, at this part of the process we have been working on this issue for only a couple of days now but I've given him loads of photos for the profiles... This is the part of the process that I really love as everything starts coming together visually and aesthetically and starts looking like a real magazine."



"This is [Name]. He makes me coffee every morning, ah quite possibly another one of the most important parts of my day... I love this place... most people I know come here for coffee... and [Name] is just divine. He even subscribes to [Name of magazine] which makes it extra special."

Figure 26. Mobile Diary reports that included people important to the participant's description of her world

Image + Audio



"I just pasted together this montage I guess of some of the things that people write or draw on their subscription forms when they send them in to us."

Figure 27. Letters and notes from community members

One of the most powerful aspects of the material developed through the Mobile Diary was the 'realness' of it. Rather than lists of stakeholders, bullet points of brand values or diagrams of work flows, we were presented with raw images, audio and personal messages. The representations of the production process came (largely) unfiltered and

unsanitised, conveying something of the messy, ongoing and ill-defined nature of everyday life (Ehn, 1988). The material allowed us access to the client's life in tangible ways. Regretfully, the representations and written descriptions of the reports included in this thesis do no justice to the actual feeling of listening to and watching the reports themselves.

## The Role of the Different Tools, Mediums and Delivery Modes

As anticipated, the different technical and physical attributes of the KCam and Camera Phone encouraged different types of reports. The Camera Phone lent itself to the quick capture of images along with brief text or audio annotations and these became snapshots of moments in time. Despite its low resolution the KCam enabled longer more in-depth accounts of particular activities, experiences or surrounds and conveyed additional contextual information beyond what was specifically shared in the report. This second study also confirmed the particular value of audio for fostering a sense of intimacy and closeness to the participant. The tools also played different social roles. Both enabled the participant to include others in the reports as described above. However while the video camera became a device for collaborative film-making between the participant and her assistant, the participant had deliberately used the Camera Phone to capture the portraits of the other team members on the basis that this was less confrontational (than the video camera). This suggested that mobile phones, as self-reporting tools, might allow access to certain personal spaces and interactions that other tools may not.



Figure 28. Mapping the participant across the day

The portability of the tools was also important in enabling the client to share different aspects and activities of daily life. The Camera Phone in particular allowed the client to report from a range of locations across the day. That the mobile reports were also delivered in (near) real-time via MMS further increased the sense of immersion in the client's daily life. As suggested by Figure 28, in viewing the reports there was a sense of accompanying the client on her journey. A sense of daily rhythm and pace was revealed, allowing habits and patterns to emerge. Over time we could also see various events unfold, making it possible to understand how different activities fitted together.

## 6.2.2 The Participant Experience

This section reflects on the experience and value of *doing* the Mobile Diary from the perspective of the participant. The client described the process of participating in the Mobile Diary as enjoyable, rewarding and sometimes confronting. Factors that made up this experience are explored here. Particular attention is paid to the *impact of self-reporting*, the experience of *using the tools* and further learning on potential *motivations for participation* in Mobile Diaries. Many of the findings from the first study were confirmed and a number of additional issues around building confidence, usability and motivation were identified.

## Doing Self-reporting

Both the literature and the previous study sensitised us to a number of potential barriers to self-reporting such as workload, remembering to do the reports, and participant uncertainty about what to report. In this study, feedback from the client and the high level of participation (up to eight MMSs in a single day) suggested that the additional workload was not necessarily a barrier to participation. This was reassuring given that the study occurred over a busy production period. Rather, the client described a process of *"getting used to having to remember"*. This feedback confirmed findings from the first study that *doing* self-reporting was a habit that needed to be developed and supported. It also further supported the value of using real-time prompts and reminders (e.g., via SMS) in addition to any static prompts or instructions (e.g., the index cards) which participants were also required to remember.

As noted previously, unstructured studies can cause participants to be unsure about what to report. To avoid this, I had been careful to encourage the participant to feel confident about her own choices. This seemed to have a positive effect, with the client stating that she was "*trying not to think too much about what would be useful and therefore censor too heavily*". However, the web gallery also appeared to play a role in building her confidence; seeing the reports collated and reflected back reassured the client they were being 'used' and of value. This further emphasised the merit of aggregating the reports in some form of shared online platform.

### Using the Tools

The study allowed us to confirm and identify a number of practical and logistical aspects about the tools, as well as how participants might use them. It appeared that the instructions were not read, or at least little attention was paid to them. Instead the client preferred to experiment with the different tools finding that the Camera Phone was suitable to be carried during the day and faster to use than the KCam, which was left in the office. Combinations of audio and image were found to be easier and faster than adding text, despite the 10-second audio limit. We had been concerned that the complexity of the phone interface might be a barrier, but even with no experience using MMS the client was able to begin sending messages immediately.

The study also highlighted a number of potential practical barriers to participation not encountered in the first study. For example, towards the end of the study the phone ran out of storage capacity. This forced the client to delete existing messages and contributed to a drop off in reports. On another occasion the client was unable to relocate images taken earlier but not sent. This highlighted a potential usability issue and also demonstrated that not all reports would necessarily be shared in situ. In addition, a small number of images the client thought had been sent had not been received. There is always potential for such error, particularly when using digital technology. However, a reasonable degree of reliability is important for maintaining participant confidence and motivation. The experience further demonstrated the value of a shared online platform which could be viewed by both participant and design team during the study. Such a tool would have allowed the client to check the status of the sent images and flag any problems early.

### Motivations For, and Outcomes Of, Participation

This study confirmed some of the findings from the first Mobile Diary prototype in relation to participant motivation, in particular the value of self-reflection and the novelty of using new technologies. A central aspect to the success of self-reporting is the potential for participants to begin to reflect more deeply on their own practices and the recording tools used in the Mobile Diary appeared to enhance the process of reflection. Mattelmäki & Battarbee (2002) suggest that the process of verbalising assists participants in the process of reflection. This was illustrated when, for example, the client corrected herself during the recording of the audio and video reports as she came to better understand what she was trying to communicate through the process of attempting to articulate it. Recording the audio was itself a process of 'working it out'. In the first study the process of self-reflection led to a change in behaviour by one of the client was in gaining a different perspective on her own life. She described it in the following way:

Actually forcing me to think in the third person, a little bit about what I do, get a slightly different perspective ... a perspective on the role that I play, and the number of different roles that I play and that I am juggling. I can never really explain it to people but trying to capture it over a period of time... The inclusive nature of the Mobile Diary tools also emerged as an important factor. For the client the ability to include others was one of the most rewarding aspects of the Mobile Diary study. In the first study the presence of others in reports raised issues about privacy and ethics. In this study the inclusion of others was intentional, initiated by the client and involved specific people from her surrounding social network. It suggested the client felt a sense of ownership over the process, as she appropriated the reporting method to meet her needs and fit her personal context.

The opportunity to test out new tools and interaction techniques was also a motivating factor for the client. A specific objective for this study had been to explore the potential for tools such as moblogging to offer ways for the online community to share and interact. In reflecting on this aspect the client stated:

Also my phone doesn't have a camera or anything on it so that was a learning process for me... and now I'm like I'm getting one with a camera on it...cos it is fun and the images do reproduce alright... I could upload them onto a post...which is the kinda...the point.

Participating in the Mobile Diary study enabled the client to learn experientially about new social tools and technologies. Even more significantly, she gained an understanding of how they might be applied in future practice, and was motivated to adopt these practices into daily life. This could be interpreted as a process of up-skilling, giving the client the capacity to use and take up new tools, within the context of her existing practices.

Both the ability for Mobile Diaries to facilitate the adoption of new social technology practices and the potential for participants to socialise the research through collaborative reporting practices are further explored in Chapter 9 as potential strategies for seeding the design of community platforms.

## 6.2.3 Connecting with Participants through Mobile Diaries

Self-reporting is known to help strengthen the relationship between participants and researchers. One of the objectives of this study was to evaluate how Mobile Diaries might support such dialogue and relationship building in the context of design projects at the CD Agency. We found that the material produced through the diary became *a shared resource for understanding existing and future practice* after the study. We were

also able to experience how Mobile Diaries enabled *a form of collaborative inquiry* during the study.

## A Shared Resource for Understanding Existing and Future Practice

In self-reporting, participants are externalising aspects of their everyday life. In generative design methods this material can be a source of information, inspiration and empathy for designers. It is also what creates the basis for shared understanding and dialogue. Reviewing the Mobile Diary material collaboratively with the client became a process of co-constructing understandings of practice. At the same time as gathering information about current practice, the images, videos and audio recordings naturally became resources for framing and generating design discussion about future practice. The reports inspired design dialogue, not just questions for further clarification. The visual material became points of reference *through* which we could together explore design concepts and ideas.

For example, one of the goals for the future platform was to bring the community closer to the product, perhaps showing some of the 'behind the scenes' activity. The client expressed it as wanting to strike a balance between "*sharing and fostering intimacy with the community, without losing the mystery*". This became one of the lenses through which we collaboratively interpreted the Mobile Diary material, exploring future design possibilities. These outcomes demonstrated the value of the Mobile Diary material as a generative design tool.

This study also further demonstrated the value of the Mobile Diary method for enabling the development of seed content, a potential outcome identified in the first study. Many of the stories about the publication, created by the client for the purposes of the Mobile Diary, were the sort of stories that could be shared more publicly with the community. This allowed us as the design team, and the client, to explore how the design could be shaped through this content, prior to the building of any platform. The potential value of using Mobile Diaries to generate content early in the design of social technologies such as community platforms is further explored in Chapter 9.

## Collaborative Inquiry During the Study

The face-to-face dialogue described above took place at the end of the study and was greatly enhanced by the connection and sense of familiarity we had built up with the client *during the study*. At a pragmatic level this was possible thanks to the (near) real-

time delivery of the mobile reports. Rather than processing the material all at once at the end, our sense of familiarity and awareness of the client's life was built up over time. We experienced the daily activities, thoughts and emotions in the same time-frame as the participant, in parallel to our own ongoing lives. Also important was the sense of reciprocity, interaction and collaborative inquiry that this connection enabled. As the participant sent in MMSs, we responded with emails and phone calls of reassurance and encouragement. The conversational nature of the process was demonstrated in a playful way when the chocolates we sent to the participant halfway through the study by way of thank you appeared later that day in a report. Both Jönsson et al. (2002) and Palen and Salzman (2002) found that a persistent connection with participants significantly contributed to the relationship-building between participants and researchers. While this was significant, it was also about a shared experience. As a result of using social technologies, the shape of the study was less like a personal diary and more like a process of co-discovery that, over time, revealed to both of us different aspects of daily life. This process of the Mobile Diary strengthened our relationship and created more common space and common reference points between us to support further face-to-face design dialogue.

## 6.2.4 Evaluation and Iteration of Tools

In addition to evaluating the method and tools in terms of the design outcomes and experiences it could enable, this study was also an opportunity to further refine the Mobile Diary tools and technique in preparation for commercial use. As a result of the study we were able to confirm the following aspects about the toolkit.

The choice and combination of recording tools

The different way in which the tools were used and the reporting styles they supported confirmed the value of combining both the KCam and Camera Phone in the Mobile Diaries. The combination of brief glimpses and longer descriptions built up a rich picture of the existing ecology in which any future design would take residence.

• The value of encouraging particular kinds of reports with the different tools

The video naturally lent itself to longer more in-depth descriptions or interviewstyle interactions. In future studies participants could be asked to take the phone with them during the day, but use the video to capture particular things, places or aspects of their life that would benefit from the opportunity of more in-depth reports.

• The usability of the tools

Importantly, neither device usability nor workload was shown to be a significant challenge to the adoption of Mobile Diaries within a commercial context. This gave us confidence that most participants, even without experience of MMS, would find it relatively easy to participate. However, issues with storage capacity indicated a need for phones with a larger internal capacity. Instructions for deleting existing images were also required.

• The value of the shared platform.

The trial of the static HTML web gallery, to collate and reflect back the diary reports, re-enforced the value of an online aggregation platform, particularly from the perspective of motivating participation. The very manual nature of preparing the web gallery used here meant this was not a long-term solution, however the prototype helped to further demonstrate the value of a more interactive tool and informed the requirements for the customised platform developed for the commercial Mobile Diaries documented in the following chapter.

## 6.3 Summary

Evaluating the Mobile Diary prototype within a specific design context enabled us to further develop our understanding of what it meant to deploy and to participate in such a study as design researchers and as participants. It was possible to further evaluate how Mobile Diaries could enable particular design outcomes and experiences important to early design and the role the different tools played in enabling those experiences. In particular we were able to confirm the potential of the Mobile Diary toolkit and technique to:

- Support participants to share a diverse, personal, rich and multi-dimensional picture of their lives, from their own perspective and in their own words and pictures
- Support the experience of immersion for designers, bringing the design context alive from a range of perspectives difficult, if not impossible, to achieve through other means

- Enable a tactile experience of the design context through audio, text, image and video, that could be worked with directly and collaboratively
- Support sharing and connecting throughout the project, shifting the emphasis from individual self-reporting and towards a shared conversation and process of codiscovery situated in the context of the participant's life.

These findings confirmed the value of Mobile Diaries as an early design method for the CD Agency from a practical, methodological and financial perspective, as well as the shape that the Diary method would take. As a result the Mobile Diary method and toolkit were refined and implemented in commercial practice. The final format of the method and the deployment of Mobile Diaries into two further client projects are described in Chapter 7 along with practical and technical considerations for the use of such methods.

The findings also indicated how the expectations about, and capabilities for, sharing and communication constituted by social technologies are extending and enhancing self-reporting, impacting on how we as designers might approach and manage participation. Further analysis of the capabilities social technologies bring to self-reporting as design tools, and their impact on participation from this perspective, is provided in Chapter 8.

A number of findings from this second study also demonstrated how, in some contexts, the appropriation of social technologies as design tools creates opportunities for design outcomes that move beyond informing and inspiring design. Specifically the capacity for Mobile Diaries to:

- Facilitate and encourage informal co-experience and sharing between participants and their peers/family/friends
- Support the development of potential early content
- Support experimentation with social technologies that create pathways for the participant to appropriate such practices into the everyday.

These outcomes become particularly valuable when social technologies are themselves the subject of design. They suggest potential new forms of participation early in design that respond to the social and participatory nature of social technologies. The implications and opportunities suggested by these findings are further explored in Chapter 9.

# 7 Mobile Diaries: A Self-reporting Method

This chapter summarises the practical outcomes of the fieldwork including the final Mobile Diary method implemented at the CD Agency. It documents the development of the online platform that occurred to ready the method for real-world commercial deployment. It provides a description of how the method was used in two different client projects and the experiences gained from that process. Practical and technical guidelines and considerations related to the use of such self-reporting methods in commercial practice are also given.

This chapter documents methodological, practical and technical aspects of Mobile Diaries as a specific method used in practice. It begins with a rationale and description of the final online Mobile Diary platform that was built by the CD Agency and deployed in subsequent client projects. A description of the Mobile Diary method as applied in two different commercial design research projects is then given and relevant key methodological outcomes from these projects documented. The practical and technical considerations for using methods such as Mobile Diaries are then presented. These considerations serve to provide a description of the mechanics of the technique useful to others considering similar methods, whilst also accounting for the specific decisions that were made about the design of the method in this particular context. They point to aspects, largely introduced by the use of networked technologies that have the potential to impact on the experiences of designers and participants.

## 7.1 The Mobile Diary Platform

From the outset Mobile Diaries had been envisioned with some kind of online platform similar to that used in the Mobile Probes by Hulkko et al. (2004). It had proved difficult during the field studies to locate a secure and affordable platform with the required features. However the evaluation of the Mobile Diary prototypes had further emphasised the value of an online platform for both designers and participants in any commercial deployment. Based on this, the CD Agency agreed to release funds for researching and identifying a suitable platform or customising an existing one. The actual financial investment made would be considered minor in comparison to most large companies' Research and Development (R&D) budgets. However in smaller companies such as the CD Agency the investment of any money into R&D or infrastructure that is not directly 'billable' is less common. The choice to invest resources in this way signalled a recognition by the company of the value of the method and of supporting its development. This is also demonstrative of the kinds of beneficial outcomes that can come from Design Research within a practice-based context.

In researching possible existing platforms we were guided by a number of factors including: the different kinds of material generated in the previous field studies, earlier reviews of existing 'free' platforms and the format of the substitute static HTML diary developed as part of the second prototype. The emphasis was on the automatic collation of data from mobile phones, although support for participants to email reports from

their desktop was also included as an alternative. The following list of requirements summarised the minimum functionality we wanted to support:

- A dedicated online space for each participant that could be password protected and data secured
- Support for automatic posting of messages sent via MMS including audio, text, and image
- Support for posts sent via email including audio, text and image
- Near real-time posting of entries (network permitting)
- Audio and text displayed inline with the associated image (rather than as a separate entry)
- Support for the diverse mobile phone audio formats used for MMS, e.g., 3PG, AMR, MP3
- Visible time-stamp display for each post (to track the arrival of posts)
- Display subject line of email or MMS as title of entry
- Easy annotation of existing posts via online interface
- Easy navigation of posted entries
- Low barrier for entry for participants to access, view or annotate.

These requirements were the criteria against which existing platforms were again evaluated. As discovered in the earlier field studies, the two main challenges to selecting a platform from existing media tools was their lack of ability to handle all the media types gracefully and the desire to protect privacy and ownership of data. Having failed to find an appropriate existing platform we decided to customise *Wordpress*, a free open source blogging platform, for the purposes of supporting the Mobile Diaries<sup>5</sup>. Using *Wordpress* had the following advantages:

- It was possible to support all the required data types
- The diaries could be installed on the CD Agency servers allowing us to retain more control over the data
- Existing plug-ins and scripts could be utilised to automatically post email and mobile messages

<sup>5</sup> Since this time other free tools have emerged such as *Tumblr* and *Evernote*. The basic requirements for the Mobile Diaries outlined here have continued to be a guide for assessing and evaluating these new tools as potential platforms for use in Mobile Diaries.

• It was possible to customise and brand the front end differently for each client project.

Customising our own system did also mean tackling a range of issues related to working with mobile technology and closed telecommunication networks including: how to handle different media codecs; embedded network metadata and; MMS size limits (further documented in Hagen, Robertson and Gravina (2007)). The difficulty of working across different telecommunications networks had been raised by the team developing the Aware platform (Aware, 2005), used by Hulkko et al. (2004) in their Mobile Probes and may partly account for why other online qualitative research platforms did not, and largely still do not, support mobile reporting.

The increase in the availability of camera phones also opened up the possibility that participants could use their own phones. However, giving participants identical handsets significantly reduced the variables we had needed to consider in the customisation and programming process, and allowed us to be confident that all messages would be successfully sent and displayed online. As previously noted, it also removed the need to reimburse participants for message costs, a possible deterrent to participation. It also meant all the phones could be set up with shortcuts making it easier for participants to send reports, and consistent instructions on use could be provided.



Figure 29. Example of a test diary entry on the Mobile Diary blog.

The final platform supported the sending of phone messages to a private blog (moblogging) where they were automatically aggregated and displayed. The message was sent from a phone via MMS. Any audio or text was automatically combined in the display with the associated image with an area for comments below. An example post is shown in Figure 29. These could be viewed, read, listened to and commented on by those with password access. The platform completed the technical toolkit needed to deploy Mobile Diaries on a commercial project. It also fulfilled the ambitions of Hulkko et al. (2004) when they imagined an *"interactive dynamically changing system where user replies would direct the research focus"* (p.50).

## 7.2 Implementing and Evaluating Mobile Diaries in Practice

This section describes how Mobile Diaries were implemented in two subsequent commercial studies and summarises key methodological findings that were confirmed about the method. A brief background to the two commercial studies is provided first. This is followed by a description of the form the Mobile Diaries took, demonstrating both the final method as well as how it built on the field study prototypes.

## 7.2.1 Project Descriptions

## Commercial Study 1

The client organisation was considering developing an online community tool focused on local sustainability issues. The goal of the Mobile Diary study was to explore how sustainability attitudes and practices manifest in the day-to-day life of potential contributors, and the potential role an online platform might play. Six participants were recruited to take part in the diary studies over a two-week period. The stakeholder groups we recruited from were not part of the client's traditional community, but represented groups with whom they hoped to build a stronger connection or relationship. The Mobile Diaries were intended to provide a window into the lives of participants and provide means through which they could share current activities, thoughts, attitudes and aspirations relating to sustainability in their own lives, from their own perspective.

## Commercial Study 2

In this study the client organisation, an NGO, wanted to explore ways to enhance their relationship with their existing, younger supporters. The Mobile Diary study was undertaken as part of a broader research and engagement project. Five young participants were recruited from an existing community of youth supporters and the diary studies ran for ten days. The study aimed to provide insight into the lives and attitudes of young people, identify opportunities for collaboration with them, and the role of suitable social media tools in that partnership.

## 7.2.2 Study Set-up and Structure

Figure 30 shows the typical toolkit used in the Mobile Diary studies. Participants were sent a physical Mobile Diary pack that included a Camera Phone and KCam video recorder. A physical notebook, customised for each project, contained all the information about the study such as prompts for data collection and instructions for accessing the personal online Mobile Diary.

As in the field studies, the structure of the diaries was open-ended. Questions and prompts were broad, designed to encourage participants to interpret what they felt was important and to allow for playful and creative responses. Based on the results of the field studies, we assumed the KCam would be kept at the home or office and participants were encouraged to use this tool for more in-depth narratives like a tour of the home, or a reflective account of their experiences doing the diary. The Camera Phone was intended as a constant companion to be used for snapshots and fleeting reflections throughout the day.

While these were the primary reporting tools, the Mobile Diary packs also incorporated generative activities such as collages and maps typical of Cultural Probes (Gaver et al., 1999) and Context Mapping (Sleeswijk Visser et al., 2005). In comparison to the mobile reporting these were 'static' activities where participants were asked to visualise and map aspects of their feelings or daily practices, likely to be completed at home, yet potentially generating complementary material to the mobile reporting tools.



researchers it was possible to view these reports as they appeared, and respond to them with comments and new questions. We dug deeper into particular areas and, where appropriate, redirected the focus of the study. Participants were able to log on to the online diary and view and annotate reports, or provide longer reflective, textual narratives about particular aspects. At the end of the Mobile Diary study all material for each participant was collated and then reviewed with the participant during an in-depth interview.

In the Mobile Diary prototypes (documented in Chapters 5 and 6) the treatment of the material as a design resource was informal. However the commercial nature of these studies required us to formalise the output of the diaries considerably. There was an expectation of a research 'deliverable' by the client at the end of the project, and that deliverable needed to be accessible to clients as well as other members of the design team, in an ongoing way. Our response was to create a visual report that could support video, audio and images allowing us highlight insights from the research, but also to retain the immersive, personal and subjective nature of the material. Participants were represented through their own words and images, and key themes and future possibilities illuminated. The approach was similar to that described by Sleeswijk Visser (2009) in her framework for communicating rich context information, but customised to support the range of media generated by Mobile Diaries.

## 7.2.3 Reflections on Mobile Diaries in Practice

The success of these two studies confirmed the value of the early design research method in different public and community project contexts. It also provided the opportunity to further reflect on the findings from the field studies about the impact and role of social technologies in self-reporting, in particular how the tools and practices of social technologies *supported immersion*, enabled *ongoing connection* and created the conditions for enabling particular kinds of participation valuable to the *early design of social technologies themselves*. The reflections presented are based on my experience as the project lead and feedback from client and design team representatives.

## Tools for Supporting Immersion

The studies confirmed the potential for the tools to support a range of different participants to share personal, diverse, rich and multi-dimensional pictures of their lives in their own words and images. It also further demonstrated the value of these materials for creating a sense of immersion for the design team. This is reflected in the following feedback from one of the design researchers on the value of the approach.

[The Mobile Diary] method works well when seeking real life examples of activities and when wanting to understand or see the lives of a range of people, especially people with lives quite different to your own. It builds greater empathy due to the proximity to their lives, values and priorities...the data is rich in terms of being grounded in people's lives.

The value of gaining access to the personal and subjective viewpoint of participants is also indicated in the following feedback from a client:

[It enabled us to] understand sustainability from our audience's perspective in the context of their day-to-day lives.

The entire [project] is about "meeting people where they're at" - not only in terms of online location, but also emotionally and in terms of perspective/headspace. The method was completely in tune with that.

The feedback suggested that the Mobile Diary method could assist the client in understanding the worldview of the participants, both in relation to the topic being explored as well as how it might influence potential future design efforts.

## Tools for Ongoing Connection

Continual interaction with participants was enabled through the real-time MMS reports being sent in, and the use of SMS to communicate with and encourage participants during the studies. The online diary platform was also a site of ongoing communication and exchange between the participants and design researchers. Originally designed for participants to comment on reports, the interactive and persistent nature of the platform meant that dialogue began to evolve around the individual images and reports. Importantly the online platform gave the Mobile Diaries a 'home'; it was a fixed location or 'touchpoint' for the study that was shared between participants and the design team. The ongoing interaction enabled by the various tools played a key role in fostering a sense of momentum and energy in the commercial studies. It also created a strong feeling of personal connection and proximity to the participants, as conveyed in the following statement by one of the design researchers:

Generally speaking it is quite novel and exciting from the point of view of using a new media to obtain data. It is certainly different to traditional research where often your first face-to-face meeting is quite neutral in that you and they know very little about the topic or each other. As a researcher I was confronted by the level of intimacy you develop towards the participant i.e., you know so much about their lives and you are communicating with them over a 2-week period - you see their world, life, how they look and yet they know very little about you.

#### Tools for the Design of Social Technologies

Both studies were undertaken as early design research into possible future community platforms or 'social technologies'. As such they provided an opportunity to further reflect on the opportunities, identified in the field studies, for using social technologies as tools for the design of social technologies themselves. In particular they highlighted: the significance of Mobile Diaries as a way to initiate participants into new technology practices, the inclusive and sharable nature of the tools, and the overlap between self-reporting and user-generated content.

We again found that, for most participants, doing the Mobile Diary was an opportunity to experiment with new tools and new forms of interaction. As had been the case in the field studies, many participants were using MMS and moblogging for the first time and this became a motivation to participate. The experiences of using MMS and blogging in the Mobile Diaries also provided participants with what Trogemann (2006) would describe as a 'thick trigger'. For example, the experiential use of social technologies as tools to explore the current and potential future use of social technologies better resourced participants to explore and articulate their experiences and boundaries around personal publication and mediated participation. These experiences became resources through which understandings of practice could be co-constructed (Kensing & Blomberg, 1998). As had been suggested in the field studies, the *doing* of Mobile Diaries was also an opportunity to experiment with, and initiate into daily life, new forms of interaction potentially relevant to the future community platforms being considered for design.

The sharable and inclusive nature of the Mobile Diary tools also made the research activity of self-reporting more sociable. As with the second field study, several participants chose to include others in reports or collaborated in the making of reports with friends and family. The personal blog site became a place for shared interaction and, in some cases, uploading and viewing posts become a fun activity for participants to do together with family or friends. Some participants blogged about their involvement, while another hoped to send the Mobile Diary material to a *MySpace* page to share with their existing online network.

The studies also further confirmed the blurring of distinctions between Mobile Diary content as 'self-reporting data' and 'user-generated content' which could be used to populate or seed the future platform. Many of the reports represented the type of material we hoped community members would contribute in any actual platform that might be designed, for example, home cooking tricks or recycling practices. As a way of trying to accommodate this, the consent forms were changed to include potential future use in the second study.

Another important aspect observed in these studies was the role the Mobile Diaries played in building up momentum and interest for the project. Throughout the study participants became engaged in the project and the topic. Participants enjoyed the opportunity to reflect on their own practices and attitudes and expressed interest in what other participants were doing and saying. There were clear opportunities to leverage this energy in an ongoing sense. For example it was possible to identify particular participants who could, due to their personality, knowledge or interest in the topic, be central nodes in any future community, such as subject matter experts. However, it was not possible to take full advantage of these additional outcomes during the projects. Some of the obstacles to doing so are further explored in Chapter 9.

## 7.3 Practical Considerations for Using Mobile Diaries

The field studies and the subsequent commercial Mobile Diary deployments drew attention to a number of methodological, practical and technical aspects important to consider in designing, planning and managing such studies in practice. Here they are summarised in relation to the *suitability and limitations* of Mobile Diaries, and *reliability and technical constraints*. There is a particular focus on concerns for commercial contexts.

## 7.3.1 Suitability and Limitations

When contemplating using methods like Mobile Diaries it is important to consider the suitability of the approach for the context, the need for adequate resourcing and the potential scalability of the systems. These are discussed as key questions and considerations below.

## Is the Approach Appropriate?

As with all methods, the suitability of this approach should be considered in relation to the specific design situation and the goals of the research. Designers might also consider:

- The degree of organisational willingness to experiment and be open to the process on the behalf of the design agency and the client
- The theme of the study and how this might shape or constrain what is explored, e.g., is it a personal project or focused on the workplace?
- The profile of the participants and the specific ethical or practical considerations this might introduce, e.g., teenagers, adults or whole families
- The current technology knowledge/competence of participants, e.g., how they might respond to the technology involved and how open they are to using new technologies.

Some clients may find these kinds of methods harder to integrate than others depending on their normal day-to-day practice, their internal organisational and political structure and their degree of openness. The physical material produced as a result of the studies is quite different to that of methods like interviews that tend to be written up in textual accounts. Some clients may be less familiar or comfortable with such outputs. When recruiting from within a client organisation, suitable attention also needs to be paid to the ethics and potential power relations between 'management', who may give approval for the project, and the actual participants involved. If political agencies or young people are involved, then stricter recording guidelines and permissions may be required alongside parental consent. Also, when deciding if this is an appropriate method, it is important to consider that some workplace environments and social cultures may not be open to mobile recording devices and some stakeholder groups may be less familiar with the mobile technologies. Finally, different participants will always approach the study differently, with differing levels of enthusiasm and confidence. As with all forms of self-reporting, participants need to be able to dedicate time to the project and be willing to engage.

## Are There Adequate Resources?

From a resource point of view designers also need to consider:

• What kinds of technology resources are available to the design team, the clients and the participants?

- How many people can we afford to recruit and what kind of incentives might be required?
- Is there adequate technical and research support, given the ongoing and involved nature of the approach?

From a financial point of view, Mobile Diaries are relatively cost-effective and easy to deploy given the breadth of material being collected, the distributed nature of the research and the time-frame over which they are run. There is a variation in costs of planning and creating the Mobile Diaries dependent on recruitment strategies, the physical diary pack and the degree to which the online platform is branded. Miscellaneous costs such as phone credit, batteries and return postage for recording devices are minimal. The technology costs remain relatively consistent as the blogs are easily replicated, mobile recording devices are reused and replacement cost for tools continues to decrease.

The main expense however is in human resources and the actual time required to manage and liaise with participants. The capacity for continuous reporting, or sharing, by the participant throughout the study enabled by social technologies significantly increases the workload for the design researcher. Prompts and instructions are developed and delivered on the fly, dependent on how the participants are going, and in response to participant reports. Adequate time and resources need to be put into monitoring incoming material, reading and responding to posts, and supporting participants. As projects run over weeks and participants are tracking aspects of their lives as it happens, participation occurs across evenings and weekends. The design researcher needs to be able to respond to queries at all times to ensure participants maintain momentum. Technical issues also need to be promptly resolved so as to retain confidence, interest and goodwill by the participants.

## What Scale is Suitable?

Both August (2006a) and Masten and Plowman (2003) suggest one of the advantages of digital remote research is its scalability, that is, the potential to run multiple, geographically distributed studies at the same time. This might be possible in more automated studies, or where material is going to be systematically analysed for the purposes of market research. The Mobile Diary studies we have run to date have had a maximum number of seven participants. It seems unrealistic in terms of the workload

for the design researcher to significantly increase the scale of the studies. Reflecting on Empathy Probes, Mattelmäki (2002) noted that the material of even ten participants is difficult to manage. Also, increasing the number of participants would decrease the capacity to engage individually with each participant, reducing the value of the relationship-building that is possible as a result of this approach. The use of rich media also increases the amount of material researchers need to handle; the video in particular is time-consuming to watch and edit. While the potential for geographical distribution is a major advantage of these mediated methods, the desirability of significant upward scaling depends on the goals of the research.

## 7.3.2 Reliability and Technical Constraints

The inclusion of digital devices, technology platforms and networks as part of selfreporting inevitably creates opportunities for technical breakdown and raises issues around management of accounts, reliability and security of data. Some examples of issues we have encountered are outlined below:

- Loss of data, e.g., images do not arrive or files are corrupt
- Network failures, e.g., timelag in delivery, failure to deliver or random changes in network protocols
- Platform/server failures, e.g., server maintenance, changes in service, changes to API protocols
- Battery lifespan on devices and the need for frequent recharging
- Storage capacity of devices.

Rather than preventing the use of such methods, these issues are risks to be managed in the planning of the studies, and to be prepared for in terms of their potential to put strain on time and resources. Failures in these areas, for example, loss of images or things not working as stated or expected, can be de-motivating for participants. At the same time, such breakdowns can create opportunities for interaction that ultimately lead to a stronger relationship.

Other technical and administrative issues that need to be planned for include:

• Management of user accounts and passwords, e.g., Are they easy for participants to use or lose? Are accounts set up on behalf of participants or by participants themselves? Do they link into existing user accounts?

- Security of data, e.g., Is it getting backed up? How will be it be stored after the completion of the study, particularly when the images are of individuals, families and children?
- Extracting the data afterwards, e.g., combinations of screen shots, tables and raw data exports might be required
- Compatibility issues between phones and online aggregation platforms for moblogging, especially if using participants' phones.

Lastly, as with all instances where participants are given tools, there is also the possibility of theft, damage or loss of devices. Although this did not happen in any of our studies, it should be planned for in costing, and the responsibility for replacement costs flagged with clients.

## 7.3.3 A Note on Technology

Of course, as the tools, infrastructure and expectations of participants change so do the various issues that need to be considered. In 2003, Masten and Plowman wrote, "*As the price of remote sensing devices has fallen, so too will the barriers to getting at content-rich data*" (p.78). Their expectation was that remote research and the sharing of rich media files by participants would become much easier as network capacity increased. This has been true to some extent. The introduction of 3G networks for example has significantly increased the speed of mobile data transfer and, in theory, the costs of sending mobile data has reduced. However, the image quality of digital cameras has also increased with the net effect of larger data files to send. There continues to be a trade-off between image quality and speed.

Our experience has been that each new technology introduces both advantages and disadvantages that need to be understood and considered, rather than solving any one problem completely. For example, the iPhone introduces a lot of easy to use functionality through its applications, however these tend to be custom designed for particular purposes making them less suitable to appropriate as research tools. In addition, some functionality such as email and GPS has become greatly more accessible with the iPhone, while support for others such as MMS is more limited. It is difficult to support the simultaneous sending of audio and image from the iPhone for example, something easy to achieve on most other contemporary handsets. As different tools and technologies emerge, it will remain necessary to continue to test out their various
technical capabilities and to evaluate how these may shape their capacity to support or impact on the experience of participants doing self-reporting. The practical and technical guidelines provided here and the analysis of experiential capabilities enhanced by social technologies for self-reporting presented in the next chapter can both be used as tools to assist in this process.

#### 7.4 Summary

This chapter described the subsequent work required to move from the Mobile Diary prototype developed in the field studies to using the method in practice, along with the experiences gained from that process. Details of the platform developed to support the method and the final format of the Mobile Diaries were provided. A description of two subsequent commercial Mobile Diary studies was also presented. These two studies confirmed patterns and practices identified in the previous field studies and contribute to the reflections and conclusions drawn in the following two chapters. These two subsequent commercial studies also represent the successful implementation of the method in practice and demonstrate the suitability and value of the approach as an early design research method at the CD Agency. A number of practical and technical considerations for using such approaches were also provided in this chapter as a resource for other practitioners.

This chapter marks an end to the documentation of the field studies that has taken place across Chapters 5, 6 and 7. It also concludes the first phase of analysis devoted to documenting the development, evaluation and implementation into practice of a specific self-reporting method. The findings from this empirical research, combined with related literature, become the basis for the analysis presented in the following two chapters. The remainder of the thesis develops concepts important to understanding the impact of using social technologies as design tools, and on how participation in design is enabled, conceived and managed. Chapter 8 looks specifically at the impact of designing *with* social technologies on how participation in self-reporting is being enabled and the boundaries of participation renegotiated. Chapter 9 looks at the opportunities enabled by designing both *with* and *for* social technologies, and the implications this has for how we support participation in the early design of social technologies themselves.

# 8

### Designing With Social Technologies

This chapter investigates the implications of using social technologies as design tools for how we enable, conceive and manage participation in self-reporting. It presents an analysis of the capabilities enhanced by, or brought to, self-reporting by social technologies as an early design research method. It also draws attention to some of the resulting ethical and methodological implications and questions raised by appropriating social technologies as design research tools. The findings are presented as a set of conceptual tools that can be used by other designers evaluating self-reporting tools or designing self-reporting studies and a discussion of ethical and methodological considerations relevant to managing design research in this context. Chapter 8 presents a reflection on how the use of social technologies as *design tools* is impacting on the nature of participation in self-reporting. It does so through an analysis of how social technologies are influencing the experiences of participants and designers in self-reporting. The findings presented in this chapter are based on the results of the empirical research reported in the previous three chapters and the concurrent analysis of these results in relation to other self-reporting studies in literature. References to literature are used in this chapter to show how the findings presented here build on previous and emerging studies of self-reporting and to locate the findings of this practice-based research in relation to broader and ongoing research dialogue about design research and methods.

The analysis found that social technologies enhance and extend the capabilities of self-reporting as an *in situ* method. Using social technologies as self-reporting tools for explorative, early design research brings us *closer to users* by further integrating research activities into the context of everyday life. However, this greater integration also challenges some of our traditional expectations and assumptions about how we conceptualise and manage the boundaries of participation. During the research it became clear that traditional conventions, protocols and assumptions about participation in research are being, or may need to be, renegotiated, often prompted by the actions of the participants themselves.

These findings are presented here in two parts. Part One is presented in the form of seven experiential qualities of self-reporting brought to, or enhanced by, social technologies. The qualities name experiences important to self-reporting studies that seek to privilege experiences and outcomes beneficial to generative design research and draw attention to the roles that the technical, social and physical characteristics of social technologies play in enabling and supporting such experiences. Part Two, which forms the second half of the chapter, presents a discussion of ethical and methodological considerations and questions raised by appropriating social technologies as design tools, which emerged during the process of the research. We found that the sharable and social nature of social technologies posed challenges to traditional notions and expectations about how participation is managed, not necessarily accounted for in our existing research protocols. The discussion identifies salient issues to consider when using, or seeking to use, such self-reporting methods. Combined, the two parts of this chapter demonstrate something of how the broader practices of sharing, capturing, producing,

publishing and distribution, constituted by social technologies, are impacting how we enable, conceive of and manage participation in self-reporting.

#### 8.1 Social Technologies as *Design Tools*

It is a premise of this thesis that choices and assumptions about participation are embedded in our design tools, methods and protocols and that different tools will enable people to participate in design in different ways. As suggested in the introduction chapter of this thesis, the shift from the use of pencil and paper and analogue tools in self-reporting, to digital, personal and networked technologies is significant. The seven experiential qualities presented in this section show how social technologies are extending and enhancing self-reporting as an early design research method and impacting on how participation is being enabled. Summarised in Table 3, layered representations, co-experience, life on the move, in the moment, continual interaction, shared windows, and experimentation describe experiential qualities of self-reporting brought to, or enhanced by, social technologies. The qualities are described in more detail in the following sections in terms of the role of social technologies in enabling these experiences and the value or impact of such experiences on participants and designer researchers. These qualities were identified through an analysis of the field studies and seek to make visible how some of the social, technical and physical attributes of social technologies are impacting on conditions for participation. Where findings from the field research correlate to those documented in other self-reporting studies in literature, relevant references have been provided.

While these qualities may seem intuitive or obvious, naming them in this way frames the discussion from the perspective of experiences we want to support and privilege. It also helps to put emphasis on the role of different tools in enabling different kinds of experiences and outcomes for participants and designers. The intention of presenting them in this way is to make *more* visible the implications of choices between different kinds of tools on how conditions for participation are enabled. They are offered as conceptual tools that can be used by designers and researchers choosing between, or evaluating, different self-reporting tools. For example, designers might ask themselves: Are all these experiences important in this particular study? Which qualities or experiences should be privileged or not? Which tools will best help us achieve these outcomes? Since the first use of Mobile Diaries, we have used these seven characteristics (explicitly and implicitly) to evaluate the capacity of emerging tools and platforms for use in Mobile Diaries. An understanding of the value of these qualities has enabled us to easily and quickly grasp what some of the implications might be when choosing between or introducing new tools. As the tools themselves evolve, e.g., from phones to camera phones to smart phones, or from KCams to Flipcams, we have retained these principles to sensitise us to what is potentially gained or lost in the introduction of new tools.

It is important to note that the seven qualities do not represent exhaustive categories. In some cases they are mutually constitutive and different kinds of social technologies or self-reporting tools overlap across them. Mobile phones, for example, which hold a special place in our technical ecology as our most dedicated personal devices, are key enablers of all these qualities.

Quality	Description and role of tools	Related Examples
Layered representations	Visual, expressive, personalised and sensorial reports that reflect context and preferences, and produce media rich, tangible, immersive artefacts. Enabled through multi-modal tools such as phones and video.	(Brandt et al., 2007; Carter & Mankoff, 2005; Iversen & Nielsen, 2003; Raijmakers et al., 2009)
Life on the move	Different ongoing, mobile, social, private and personal contexts are reported. Enabled through portable, personal tools.	(Hulkko et al., 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002)
In the moment	More immediate sharing of in situ activities, increased spontaneity of reports, and sense of proximity and reciprocity. Enabled through portable networked devices.	(Brandt et al., 2007; Cereijo- Roibás et al., 2009; Hulkko et al., 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002)
Shared windows	A persistent 'location' for reflection and exchange about daily life during the study. Enabled by automated aggregation and display of self-reports to a shared online space.	(August, 2006b; Cereijo- Roibás et al., 2009; Khalil, 2009; zilverinnovation, 2009)
Continual interactions	Enhanced connection and process of co- discovery between participants and design researchers that supports project momentum. Enabled by the social, interactive nature of the tools.	(August, 2006b; Jönsson et al., 2002; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Pering, 2006)
Co-experience	Enhanced potential for informal and formal inclusion, co-experience and collaboration in the creation of reports. Enabled by the social and sharable nature of the tools.	(Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009; Isomursu et al., 2004; March & Fleuriot, 2006)
Experimentation	Increased sense of intervention, play, motivation and opportunities for learning. Enabled by novelty of the tools and their potential for interaction and sharing.	(Hutton, 2006; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Näkki & Virtanen, 2007)

Table 3. Summary of 7 experiential characteristics of self-reporting brought to, or enhanced by, social technologies

#### 8.1.1 Layered Representations



Social technologies enhance the immersive nature of self-reporting by enabling rich, personal, layered representations of daily life. Self-reporting studies such as Mobile Diaries leverage the ever-increasing availability of multi-modal and multimedia personal production tools, providing participants phones that support image, text and audio, or video cameras that support audio and video representations. The multi-modal nature of these devices is important as it enables participants to choose different mediums for different reports (Carter & Mankoff, 2005), but also because they support different layers of information within the reports e.g., image and audio, or image and text. Through such tools participants are supported to:

- Express themselves in immediate, accessible and personal forms
- Make use of images, objects, stories, metaphors, and traces to create snapshots that represent and share emotions, attitudes, experiences and activities
- Choose between snapshots, and longer in-depth accounts, narratives or descriptions
- Choose between mediums or tools as appropriate for the context (Carter & Mankoff, 2005) and depending on personal preferences (Brandt et al., 2007)
- Share and represent their lives in their own words and images and from their personal perspective
- Reflect through verbalisation, visualisation and annotation.

Having participants share through such rich formats is valuable to design researchers for a number of reasons:

- Annotated visual reports can provide further contextual information while video and audio reports can contain information about surroundings and emotions
- Unique moments of participants' lives as they lived them can be captured and shared like 'undigested reality' (Raijmakers et al., 2009)

- Reports are diverse and range from snapshots to in-depth accounts, literal descriptions of activities, objects and locations to metaphorical and conceptual representations of feelings and emotions
- The material lends itself to being used as a shared designerly resource around which participants and designers can co-construct meanings of practice and springboard design ideas (Iversen & Nielsen, 2003)
- The participants' world is accessed through visual, tangible, sensorial artefacts that are highly emotive, immersive and experiential and that can be used to support ongoing empathy and engagement by other team members not involved in the research (e.g., Sleeswijk Visser, 2009)
- In the context of designing for social technologies themselves, the material can be 'read' as potential user-generated content.

#### 8.1.2 Life On the Move



The portable nature of the tools we are co-opting is equally significant and important in supporting the diversity of what participants can share. Personal, portable digital devices that can be taken with participants throughout the day enable participants to more easily capture 'life on the move'. This includes different geographical locations, but also more personal and private ones. Portable devices change where, when and how participants are able to report, and therefore what kinds of insights about daily life become accessible through self-reporting, to both participants and design researchers. Social technologies can enhance the *in situ* nature of self-reporting by increasing the ways in which personal, private and mobile aspects of life can more easily be shared.

For participants, the benefits of portable digital recording devices are that they:

- Provide greater flexibility in capturing life as it happens
- Make it easier to report and share experiences, thoughts and feelings *in situ* throughout the day, as part of their day (Brandt et al., 2007; Carter & Mankoff, 2005)

- Reduce the workload for participants compared to when using traditional paper diaries (Palen & Salzman, 2002)
- Increase what they are able to capture and share, and enable the inclusion of things that might not otherwise have been reported or remembered.

For designer researchers the benefits include:

- Effectively travelling with participants to more locations
- Developing a greater awareness of the patterns of movement that make up people's daily lives
- Collecting more in situ material.

Technically, portability or mobility is not a fixed attribute. We discovered in Mobile Diaries that the KCam was portable, but not *as* portable as the mobile phone. Since the initial Mobile Diary studies, the much smaller Flip camera has been released, making it much more realistic to ask people to carry the video camera throughout the day as a recording device (e.g., Raijmakers et al., 2009). As devices such as iPhones start to blur the boundaries between mobile phones and video cameras, using separate devices for both tools may become unnecessary in the future (e.g., Arrington, 2009).

#### 8.1.3 In the Moment



Tools that are both portable and networked allow participants to send *in situ* reports *in the moment*, as they are created, or at least very close to it. The ability of participants to be able to share reports *in situ* as they happen throughout the study has a significant impact for both participants and design researchers.

The impact for participants is that:

- Reports created and sent real-time are more immediate and spontaneous (Iversen & Nielsen, 2003)
- A sense of connection and reciprocity is created as participants see themselves sending and sharing with the design researcher

- Participants can receive prompts and replies regardless of where they are and can respond immediately (Jönsson et al., 2002)
- Reports are more convenient to send and additional time does not have to be set aside to later upload via a desktop application where there is greater chance of error (Brandt et al., 2007; Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009; Perkel, 2007; Vanattenhoven, 2008).

From the perspective of designer researchers, the continual reporting enabled by networked devices has a significant impact on how we experience the material shared by the participants. It also changes the structure of the study. For example:

- The temporal aspect enhances the feeling of proximity to the participants as 'real people' living 'actual lives', important to supporting empathy and immersion
- Designers have continual access to participant reports making it possible to gain a sense of habits, patterns, movement and rhythms across days and weeks (Masten & Plowman, 2003)
- It builds a sense of curiosity. What will happen next...?
- We experience key moments of emotion as they occur for participants
- It is possible to monitor participation and engagement and detect issues early (Hulkko et al., 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002).

Real-time reports that are shared between participants and design researchers *in the moment* transform *in situ* reporting from being an activity primarily located in the individual participant's daily life to something that is shared between the participant and the design team over the period of the study.

The potential for real-time reporting has significantly increased as the tools have evolved. In 2003 Masten and Plowman were relying on email, IM and random phone interviews for participants to send in their reports. Mobile Diaries made use of MMS and SMS. Recently popularised communication tools such as iPhone applications represent other ways in which real-time data could be shared. The now widely popular notion of 'status updates' utilised by social networking sites such as *Facebook* and *Twitter* could also be appropriated into a research context.

There is also the potential to use a growing number of location-based services, such as *Foursquare* or *Evernote* which can automatically map the geolocation of images via GPS. However this begins to shift the emphasis from active self-reporting to automated

logging of data. While this information is potentially rich in terms of tracking specific habits and travel patterns, in Mobile Diaries the emphasis was on creating an intervention that enabled participants to actively reflect on and share aspects of their own lives. The automated tracking of locations and movements or communications was not a priority.

#### 8.1.4 Shared Windows



Social technologies enhance the relationship between participants and researchers in self-reporting through the provision of shared spaces for reflection and connection during the study. Online platforms can automatically aggregate digital data which is then browsable by both participants and design researchers (Hulkko et al., 2004). These are not just windows into the life of the participants for the members of the design team, but also windows through which the participants are able to reflect on their own lives from a new perspective. The material shared there becomes like any social object around which remote and mediated interaction occurs (Engeström, 2005). The platform becomes a point of shared reflection and dialogue between researchers and participants, a persistent touchpoint and point of contact across the study. For participants, having this persistent online space:

- Is a second opportunity for reflection as they review previous reports
- Enables them to confirm that the reports are being received and have value
- Makes it possible to annotate existing reports
- Allows for *ex situ*, written and more reflective reports that complement the mobile and video data.

For design researchers it allows us to gain access to:

- A visual timeline of all the material collected (Hulkko et al., 2004)
- Easy tracking of reports and levels of participation (Hulkko et al., 2004; Palen & Salzman, 2002)

- Access to the diary for multiple members of the design team, including clients (August, 2006b)
- The ability to respond to participants' reports e.g., by commenting on them or asking follow-up questions
- A place where new questions can be initiated that benefit from more reflective or text-based responses.

Online platforms can also support interaction between participants, (e.g., March & Fleuriot, 2006 and Revelation<sup>TM</sup>). It is possible to aggregate other life streams in combination with the mobile data such as existing feeds from *Twitter* and *Flickr* – creating windows into other aspects and dimensions of participants' lives (e.g., Khalil, 2009). The digital nature of the material also makes it possible for participants to tag individual reports with keywords, or create categories and clusters of related information, thus adding a layer of personal interpretation to the material (Graham et al., 2007b).

#### 8.1.5 Continual Interaction



In most traditional self-reporting studies the interaction and relationship-building between participants and researchers has taken place at set points before, sometimes during, and after the study. Social technologies enable *continual interaction* throughout the study. This significantly changes the way we structure and design the studies and impacts on the experiences and expectations of both participants and designers.

For participants:

- The sense of familiarity with, and connection to, the design researchers increases
- Self-reporting is a two-way, rather than one-way, exchange
- The process becomes one of co-discovery
- It is easy and possible for participants to ask questions of the design team
- It encourages more informal dialogue outside the formal 'data collection' process

- It supports a sense of momentum and energy around the project
- The level of involvement and engagement is increased (Masten & Plowman, 2003).

For designer researchers:

- It is possible to evolve the research questions and focus depending on participants' responses, rather than planning all the activities in advance (August, 2006b)
- It is possible to probe deeper into aspects of participants reports as they are shared
- A greater sense of personal connection is developed with participants through more sustained contact (Jönsson et al., 2002; Masten & Plowman, 2003; Palen & Salzman, 2002).

Social technologies bring an interactive and evolving quality to self-reporting as a method. This helps to resolve some of the issues with open-ended studies of how much structure and direction to provide participants around reporting as this can now be negotiated on an individual level and in response to actual participation. At the same time, the method moves away from being an internal, linear, diary-like activity towards more of a conversational, interactive, evolving one. In Mobile Diaries we utilised SMS, phone calls and the blog as interaction channels, but applications such as *Twitter* present other simple channels for checking in and communicating with participants.

#### 8.1.6 Co-experience



Social technologies naturally support co-experience. The use of the term co-experience here is a somewhat simplistic interpretation of Battarbee's (2003) original intention when coining the term, but the goal is to draw attention to similar qualities around shared interaction by participants. Tools such as mobile phones, video cameras and

blogs lend themselves to being shared and becoming objects around which participation occurs. For participants this makes possible:

- The inclusion of others in creating, viewing, uploading and reviewing reports
- The playful co-construction of video sequences (Isomursu et al., 2004)
- Sharing or socialising the research with their peers and networks (Cereijo-Roibás et al., 2009).

The capacity for sharing, inclusion and co-experience enabled through the tools can also be a motivation for participants. From a designer's perspective the sharability and inclusive nature of the tools:

- Broadens what we see of people's lives
- Allows us further insight into participants' relationships, networks and personal interactions
- Extends the reach of the design project beyond the individual.

The capacity and tendency to involve others in the creation of reports emerged as a theme in the Mobile Diary evaluations and later commercial studies. In Chapter 9 the significance of the inclusiveness and sociability of the tools to the design of community platforms in particular is further explored.

#### 8.1.7 Experimentation



As noted in Chapter 3, one of the known barriers to participation in self-reporting is the burden to participants of data collection. Probes in particular have relied on play and a sense of experimentation as a motivation for participation (Gaver et al., 2004; Graham et al., 2007a; Lucero & Mattelmäki, 2007). Methods that make use of emerging technologies extend this by introducing participants to forms of interaction that are potentially relevant to participants, but are also novel. *Doing* self-reporting becomes an experimentation with new tools and practices, and this can be a motivation for participation.

For participants:

- It is an opportunity to play and learn new skills, making it less like 'homework'
- It can lead to a change of existing technology practices (e.g., Khalil, 2009)
- It is possible to experiment with interaction and sharing in ways similar to the future platforms that we may be designing.

For design researchers:

- It exposes something of participants' existing technology knowledge and practices (Perkel, 2007)
- It is an opportunity to 'skill up' participants in different forms of interaction and create a bridge between existing and future practices of interaction.

The degree of 'experimentation' needs to be balanced with questions about usability, the potential learning curve, and the barrier to entry such technology can introduce. However, the results of the Mobile Diary studies also suggested that participants' level of technical knowledge is not as important as a willingness to experiment.

The concept of experimentation raises two other important aspects for consideration. The first is that the experimental nature of tools necessarily recedes as they become more common and more widely used. For example, the likelihood that people do not have a camera-enabled mobile phone now is low, though many of those people, in Australia at least, will still not have ever used picture messages or moblogging. But even as people become more familiar with the tools and techniques documented here, the continued appropriation by researchers of emerging tools ensures the experimental aspect is retained. For example, when the initial Mobile Diaries were completed *Tumblr* did not exist and neither did the iPhone. In the most recent commercial Mobile Diaries both these tools were incorporated and used in ways not yet familiar to participants. Of course, as new tools are released we duly need to consider how they frame the potential for participation. As noted above, location tagging, for example, puts a particularly strong emphasis on visualising physical movement that may, or may not, be relevant to the goals of the study.

The second aspect is the interesting tension proposed by describing social technologies as both 'experimental' and 'everyday' kinds of tools. On the one hand, the novelty is important to their interventionist nature, helping motivate and enable participants to gain the space to reflect on their own lives. Yet it is also the everyday ubiquitousness of devices such as mobile phones that allows them to be so easily incorporated as selfreporting tools (Palen & Salzman, 2002). One of the areas in which this tension is reflected is in our ongoing considerations about whether to give people mobile phones for doing Mobile Diaries, or have them use their own. The former seems likely to ensure a greater sense of intervention and experimentation, the latter seems less of a burden for participants and leverages the technologies they have to hand. As noted in the field studies, self-reporting requires participants to develop new habits of selfreflection and 'remembering' to report. The act of handing participants a phone as a mobile documentation tool is a physical intervention that can prompt them to take on the role of self-reporter. Is it possible to create the same sense of experimentation with a device people already own, and around which habits of use have already been formed? It seems likely that if we directly co-opt tools owned by participants it may be necessary to motivate a sense of intervention and experimentation in different ways.

#### 8.1.8 Moving Us 'Even' Closer to Users

Exploratory and generative design research can be conceptualised as enabling researchers to move closer to users. The seven experiential qualities presented here demonstrate some of the ways in which social technologies, as a set of tools and practices, are augmenting and extending the capacity of self-reporting to move us even closer. To summarise the above qualities in relation to the goals of early design research: the multi-modal, mobile and sharable tools allow participants flexibility and creativity in how they represent their lives, experiences and emotions. This leads to layered representations that become immediately accessible and sensorial windows into people's lives. The material is a rich resource for design inspiration and/or the basis of a shared language between the design team and participants after the study. It also becomes available throughout the study through shared windows, with online tools creating a 'home' for the study. The materials shared there become objects around which further co-discovery of daily practice, dialogue and relationship-building occurs. The ability to capture *life on the move* supports the generation of diverse and intimate material across different places, times and contexts; participants are able to take us further into their everyday lives. Access to these experiences in the moment, through (near) real-time delivery throughout the study further increases the sense of intimacy, proximity and empathy for the lives of participants as we gain a sense of their life unfolding. Continual interaction and dialogue between design researchers and participants during the study deepens the sense of connection and allows the structure of the study to evolve over time. The introduction of social technologies as reporting tools also enhances the *experimental* aspect of the approach, allowing participants to play and learn new kinds of interactions potentially applicable to their day-to-day communications. The tools also lend themselves to *co-experience* in the creation and viewing of reports and sharing of the research in other ways with peers and networks. The technical, physical and social nature of social technologies extends the capacity for people to participate in research from within the context of their daily lives, providing us with greater access to their world as they live it.

While on the one hand this creates a greater sense of immersion and connection with participants, the ability to move closer, or perhaps 'reach deeper' into people's lives raises ethical and methodological questions not necessarily accounted for in traditional research protocols. As the tools we use for research merge more closely with people's everyday tools and practices, the boundaries and lines we might draw around our research activities also begin to blur. The remainder of this chapter addresses some of the potential questions about privacy, anonymity and ownership raised by the co-opting of social technologies as tools for design research.

## 8.2 Ethical and Methodological Considerations and Implications

In co-opting social technologies as tools for design we cannot separate our use of them for research from the emerging social practices they constitute or the broader questions they raise about participation. One of the most significant issues raised by social technologies generally has been the renegotiation of the boundaries of public and private (boyd, 2009). Speaking broadly about internet-based research, Bos et al. (2009) argue that ethical standards for research involving people have not kept up with new research paradigms, also pointing to the blurring of boundaries between private and public as a particular site of interest. They suggest that online social research is pushing the boundaries of public observation, third-party disclosure and anonymisation methods. As an example of the lack of standard protocols, in her 2009 thesis boyd (2009) dedicated over ten pages to describing the personal decisions made about approaching and addressing issues of ethics and privacy in her online research with teenagers, at times in direct contrast to the practices of other research contemporaries. From the perspective of self-reporting, Masten and Plowman (2003) suggested that  $Digital Ethno^{TM}$  raised a number of unresolved issues in relation to privacy, ethics and ownership. Since then the uptake of similar methods and the proliferation of potential tools for self-reporting has grown significantly, but a corresponding attention to ethics has been largely absent. Most discussion around such issues appears to be informal, taking place, for example, on industry and academic discussion lists, with individual researchers making their own decisions on a case-by-case basis, with some yet to consider it at all. As an illustration of this point, several of the examples given in this section are cited as personal communications and are from sources such as the private Anthrodesign discussion list, included with permission of the individual authors and the list owner.

Three areas that emerged out of the research and that point to ongoing ethical and methodological questions are outlined below.

#### 8.2.1 Boundaries and Norms Around 'Public' Participation

Many of our traditional frameworks and protocols for managing participation are modelled around the assumption that activities of research are somewhat private or discrete. This is challenged by social technologies that suggest more public forms of participation are also becoming the norm. For example, in self-reporting studies we are asking people to become observers of their own lives. But the adoption of digital, personal and portable recording tools broadens the places, and the ease, through which this can happen, and makes it more likely that, in documenting their own lives, participants also, intentionally or otherwise, document the lives of others. The quality of co-experience outlined above demonstrates the inherently social and sharable nature of these recording tools. For example, in the first study, participants caught the attention of others in preparing and recording their reports in public places. In the second field study the participant focused on capturing images of people she knew and included them in reports. From a 'data collection' perspective, this allows for richer reports, yet it also raises questions around consent and privacy, particularly in public spaces. The safety of participants must also be considered if there is risk of them documenting in places where such activity might be regarded with suspicion, considered inappropriate or illegal, or potentially lead to confrontation with other members of the public. Different dimensions of this issue also arise when working with younger participants where it may be necessary, for example, to consider parental and school policies with regards to

mobile phone use. At times, in the CD Agency, we ruled out proposing the use of Mobile Diaries altogether in political workplaces which depended on activists being able to secretly and confidentially organise meetings or convey material to each other without leaving any kind of documented trail.

At the same time, it is not realistic to ask informal participants to sign consent forms, and participants themselves must be able to apply commonsense to how and what they capture. As Carter and Mankoff (2005) showed, participants are quite capable of making decisions about when, what and how to record, and applying levels of 'discretion' where needed. As designers, we might consider what the appropriate level of guidance and support is for our participants around these issues. Wang and Burris (1997), for example, provided participants with guidelines around documentation when deploying their Photovoice method into new communities. However, in providing guidelines it is also important to remember that norms are in flux and in some cases changing quite rapidly. In discussing the changing nature of and expectations around privacy in the context of social technologies, boyd (2009) argues:

Privacy is simply in a state of transition as people try to make sense of how to negotiate the structural transformations resulting from networked media. (p.39)

Similarly, what people consider acceptable in relation to public recording is not set and will continue to change. For example, it is now fairly standard practice in many places to take and distribute images of slides or presenters, via phones, during a private lecture. However, it would be considered unacceptable (and perhaps be prohibited) to take photos at a beach where young children were present.

#### 8.2.2 Aspects of Anonymity

Social technologies also challenge assumptions about anonymity embedded in many traditional research protocols. For example, it is relatively standard practice to protect the identity of participants when the outputs are published or shared beyond the immediate design team. This was the protocol followed in our studies at the CD Agency. However, we found that there was potential for participants to perceive and manage their role and identities quite differently.

Many participants shared and spoke of the research with others and some happily blogged about their research experience. Similar examples of contrasting expectations and blurring boundaries have been noted by boyd (2007, personal communication), who also had participants publicise their participation in her research, and McCollom (2007, personal communication), who discussed the incongruence of having participants 'friend' her on *Facebook*. While as researchers we might attempt to follow protocol and ensure the identity and data of participants is protected, participants may choose to do otherwise.

Similarly, the anonymity of data is also no longer a given. It is standard convention for research consent forms to assume data should be anonymised and use is often restricted to the purposes of research. But the material created by participants through generative and visual self-reporting methods is quite different to that of log files, survey data, or even interview transcripts. The need to reconsider the appropriateness of such protocols is reflected in the following anecdote by a researcher on the Anthrodesign list (shared as part of a discussion on the industry list about consent and sharing of research data):

The strange situation arose where some people wanted to sign over and anonymise the audio data from interviews, but for the photos to be widely disseminated and fully identifiable. As a form of property, the research product can vary according to physical type; and when it comes to more engaged studies, sometimes informants' own 'creations' can be treated differently. (Drazin, 2007, personal communication)

The sense of ownership and connection to the material suggested here goes well beyond that of 'research data'. When working with such subjective and personal material, the line between personal content and private research is hard to distinguish and the outputs of Mobile Diaries are similarly personal. This reminds us that while the visually rich and subjective material can have important informational, inspirational and empathetic value to designers, it can also have deep value to participants. It is, after all, their life that is being documented. Predicating participant engagement around anonymity assumes particular roles for participants and the materials that they collect in the design process. It also limits the capacity of designers and clients to develop authentic relationships with individual participants.

In discussing some of the implications of *Digital Ethno*<sup>™</sup>, Masten and Plowman (2003) made the following statement in relation to ownership of data:

189

It is clear that the respondents have the rights to data outside our very limited uses. Their lives are their own; we are only visiting with their permission. (p.77)

However, how this translates into practice needs further consideration. The distributable nature of the material in particular raises further questions. In appropriating social technologies as design tools we are also appropriating the practices of sharing and communication they make possible. Tools such as SMS and blogs are made for communication and sharing and optimised to allow people to distribute information across various networks. That is in part what makes them so useful as research tools. In discussing the use of moblogging for a *quit smoking* campaign, Graham et al. (2007b) point to the changing nature of research in this context in the following quote:

Unlike traditional research where the data is hidden in a drawer, the detail of participants' lives can be broadcast live to the Internet, should s/he wish. This may have consequences. (p.3)

This potential for distribution changes how the tools and the data can and might be used by both participants and researchers. One implication is that data shared during the studies cannot necessarily be expected to remain private. Participants may leverage the capacity to send and share material beyond the study. On the other hand, as Macer (2010) notes, any material shared with participants by clients can easily be copied and distributed to whomever and wherever participants choose.

Given the emphasis on sharing built into these platforms and practices, traditional research conventions and consent protocols built around anonymity and protecting participants' privacy may no longer be sufficient, or relevant. It is possible that some traditional protocols may assume a division between the private practices of research and the public spaces in which we live that do not necessarily exist, or that may no longer make sense in the context of social technologies.

#### 8.2.3 The Responsibility of Researchers

The issues and questions raised above suggest some of the dynamics of social technologies are impacting on our understanding of, and approaches to, how participation is framed and enabled. At the same time, they prompt us to reconsider our obligations to participants. While it is still the responsibility of researchers and designers to follow the ethical premise of protecting our participants, we might ask:

What exactly we are protecting them from and what and where do our responsibilities extend to? As research activities blur into daily life, how much control do we actually have over participants' safety and, in particular, that of their 'data'? What right do participants have to the data generated through research projects or to accounts set up as part of research? And to what extent can we guarantee those rights?

In practice these are complex questions. For example, as previously noted, free platforms that might be used for aggregating material (such as *Wordpress.com, Tumblr* or *Facebook*) retain significant usage rights to content in return for their free service. It is not clear, for example, if we can control usage of data stored there or what the visibility of research data may be in future searches. Recent events with *Facebook* (Grubb, 2010; Opsahl, 2010; Spool, 2007), *Twitter* (Parrack, 2009) and *Ning* (Rosenthal, 2010) have shown the possibility that such services can change their terms and conditions at any time. These are complex issues to communicate to participants and create new considerations around consent and data management, as well as implications about whether we use open source tools, free tools and proprietary supported systems. As previously mentioned, in the design of Mobile Diaries these issues influenced the CD Agency's decision to use *Wordpress* (different to *Wordpress.com* named above), a free open source CMS that is installed on the company's own servers and over which we have control.

#### 8.3 Summary

The first section of the chapter explored how social technologies *as design tools* are extending and augmenting self-reporting in ways valuable for early design research. The seven experiential qualities of *layered representations, life on the move, in the moment, shared windows, continual interaction, co-experience* and *experimentation* were presented as ways in which social technologies are enhancing the capacity of self-reporting to move us closer to users, whilst at the same time broadening the ways in which people can participate in design from within the context of their daily lives.

These attributes draw attention to the ways in which our tools, and social technologies in particular, impact on the potential for participation and can be used as a resource for design researchers evaluating or choosing between different self-reporting tools and techniques. They also indicate ways in which the capabilities and expectations constituted by social technologies are reshaping how participants can, and indeed expect to, participate in design research.

The second half of the chapter documents several ethical and methodological questions raised by the appropriation of social technologies, not necessarily accounted for in traditional conventions and protocols around self-reporting. It is important to note that the questions about ethics and privacy posed here do not have simple answers. However, such questions and concerns are becoming increasingly relevant and urgent as more design practitioners and researchers take up such approaches to contextual research. Part of the work of this chapter has been to identify where traditional conventions and protocols around managing participation in self-reporting may be limited or inappropriate. Doing so helps to highlight how the nature of, and potential for, participation is changing and how the broader practices of sharing, capturing, producing, publishing and distributing constituted by social technologies are prompting changes in the ways we conceive and manage participation in design research. The conclusion of this chapter marks the end to the second phase of analysis into how social technologies as design tools are impacting on self-reporting as a design research method. The following chapter builds on several of the findings documented here, but does so with a focus on the particular opportunities and implications social technologies as design tools create for supporting participation in the design of social technologies themselves.

## 9 Designing *With* and *For* Social Technologies

Particular considerations about participation are foregrounded when social technologies themselves are the subject of design. This chapter focuses on potential forms of participation enabled by social technologies as design tools, appropriate to the design of social technologies themselves. Mobile Diaries and the experiences they enable are explored for their potential to support, and be reconceptualised as, strategies for seeding design *through use.* Barriers to leveraging these opportunities that exist within design research protocols, conventions and project infrastructures and that frame, and potentially limit, participation are also examined.

This chapter draws together findings from the empirical research that address the question of how participation can be supported by the use of social technologies as design tools when social technologies themselves are the subject of design.

Findings laid out in Chapter 8 are extended through a focus on potential forms of participation enabled by social technologies and suited to the design of social technologies themselves. These are related back to relevant themes in literature around designing for community contexts, seeding, and the examples of 'prototyping in the wild' identified in existing Participatory Design literature in Chapter 3.

As outlined earlier in the thesis, the concept of seeding puts focus on how new designs come to be taken up in the world and places value on opportunities to connect design with the concrete places in which it will live. In this chapter, experiences enabled through methods like Mobile Diaries, not accounted for in traditional models of selfreporting, are explored for their potential to support, and be reconceptualised as, strategies for seeding design *through use*. Specifically, the tendency for participants to socialise the research, the ability for participants to bridge existing and future practices of design and use, and the capacity for participants to *develop content early* in the design process are introduced and explored as opportunities for seeding made possible by social technologies. They are put forward as examples of participation in design that respond to, and are enabled by, the close coupling of design and use inherent in social technologies and suitable in particular to the design of community platforms. Potential methodological and project-based barriers to embracing these opportunities, often the result of assumptions embedded in our existing design methods and project infrastructure about how participation is conceived and managed, were also encountered during the process of the research. These are described in this chapter as potential challenges to supporting such forms of participation in practice.

The discussion and critique of both the opportunities and barriers for participation is intended to further develop understanding of the nature of participation in the context of social technologies in a particular context and to provide conceptual tools for designers around how such participation might be supported.

The chapter begins by revisiting key points from the Participatory Design literature and the notion of seeding, which help to frame the discussion presented in the remainder of the chapter. The three 'strategies for seeding', *socialising the research*, *bridging existing and future practices* and *developing early content* identified as a result of the

empirical research, are introduced and examined for their potential to support participation in design *through use*. The implications for how we conceive of selfreporting as an early design research method, and its potential to support 'design in the wild' is then outlined. The final section of the chapter reflects on the barriers encountered or identified in attempting to implement such approaches to participation in design within a commercial context.

#### 9.1 Designing Social Technologies

In Chapter 3 (Section 3.3) recent Participatory Design literature focusing on social technologies in community settings was reviewed. The review pointed to how the emergent and participatory nature of social technologies puts emphasis on the dynamic relations of design and use. It highlighted the changing responsibilities of designers in this context, in particular the ways in which our role is extending beyond researching, defining, creating and releasing a product (Brereton & Buur, 2008; Merkel, Farooq, Xiao, Ganoe, Rosson & Carroll, 2007). Important tasks now include helping to ingratiate the project with potential users or even 'bringing into being' the future community (DiSalvo et al., 2007). This is particularly so in community and social settings where uptake and use of systems by individuals is voluntary. Other responsibilities foregrounded by the emergent and participatory nature of social technologies included transferring project ownership from designers to the user community (Merkel et al., 2004); identifying existing communities of interest with whom we might work (Botero, Kommonen, Oilinki & Koskijoki, 2003) and allowing design to change and grow through user participation (Dittrich et al., 2002). The emphasis on reconfiguration over bespoke solutions as noted by both Twidale and Floyd (2008) and Lievrouw (2006) also places value on the skills required to bring people and technologies together around a particular concept, rather than on designing from scratch.

The notion of seeding can be used to capture, emphasise and communicate the responsibilities and issues foregrounded by social technologies (see Section 3.4). Seeding is a metaphor already in use within the design community to describe activities that connect design and use. The concept of seeding sensitises us to factors to consider in the design of social technologies and is used explicitly in this thesis to name an early design goal in the design of social technologies. The notion of seeding design places

value on making connections between the design project and people's daily lives and on building energy, interest and momentum around a project early in the design phase. It also emphasises the need to create spaces in which design can be adopted and evolved by the community in which it is situated. The living prototypes deployed in situ (Botero & Saad-Sulonen, 2008; Jones et al., 2007; Redhead & Brereton, 2008) are examples of this. The experiential method of prototyping was moved 'into the wild' as a response to the participatory and emergent nature of social technologies. 'Prototyping in the wild' allows community members to participate in the evolution of design *through use* and in context.

The above concepts and examples help to frame and motivate the following analysis of how Mobile Diaries enabled a connection between design and use and the potential this presents for seeding early design.

#### 9.2 Seeding Social Technologies

As outlined above, the concept of seeding puts focus on how new designs come to be taken up in the world and places value on opportunities to connect design with the concrete places in which it will live. In this section, experiences that were observed in the field studies and analysed further in Chapter 8 as being enabled by social technologies are examined from the perspective of how they offer opportunities for seeding – made possible by, and valuable to, social technologies. Three experiences in particular, identified in the research as enabled by the use of social technologies, are examined from this perspective. These are: i) the capacity and propensity for participants to share the research activities or Mobile Diary with others, ii) the opportunity for participants to experiment with social technologies, and iii) the ability for participants to create potential user-generated content prior to the platform existing. These three experiences are presented here as opportunities to socialise the research, bridge existing and future practices and develop early content, becoming strategies for seeding enabled when social technologies are both tools for design and the subject of design. While not traditionally valued as outcomes of self-reporting, it is proposed that these three phenomena represent potential new patterns of participation enabled and made valuable by the participatory and emergent nature of social technologies. They are opportunities for supporting participation in the early design of community platforms that go beyond inspiring and informing design, to seeding design through use.

In the following sections each phenomenon is introduced and an argument is put forward for why these can be considered strategies for seeding design valuable in the context of developing social technologies in community settings. The discussion addresses the role of social technologies in enabling these experiences and how embracing such opportunities reconfigure self-reporting as a potential hybrid prototyping method in itself.

#### 9.2.1 Socialising the Research



#### Illustration 7. Socialising the research

Participating in the Mobile Diary study has the potential to become a shared and social activity for participants.

The focus on self-reporting as a research method is most often as a personal activity where individual participants record, reflect and share aspects of their lives with researchers, as a precursor to design. While there are studies that document self-reporting as a shared activity, for example studies have been conducted with households (Gaver et al., 1999), 'friendship groups' (March & Fleuriot, 2006) and pairs (Isomursu et al., 2004; Sundstrom, Stahl & Hook, 2007), these collaborations include recruited participants and are orchestrated as formal parts of the research design. As suggested by Illustration 7, in the Mobile Diary studies participants *socialised the research* in more ad hoc and informal ways that they themselves initiated. For example, the creation of images and video and/or the review of uploaded materials on the 'private' Mobile Diary blog became a shared process of reflection and play, in which other family members, friends and co-workers were invited to participate. People blogged about their

197

participation, hoped to distribute their Mobile Diary material across their other public forums or social networking profiles and discussed with others their experience of doing the Mobile Diaries.

The potential for *socialising the research* as demonstrated here is made possible by the capacity and expectations of sociability, distribution and sharing inherent in social technologies. While it raises some ethical questions about confidentiality for the client organisation and consent from 'informal participants' which deserve consideration, it also has important implications from a participatory perspective. For example, as previously noted, Merkel et al. (2004) suggest that in the context of community technologies the role of designers goes beyond that of eliciting project requirements to include finding ways to seed ownership. The spontaneous inclusion of others in the process of self-reporting can be interpreted as reflecting a sense of control and ownership by participants over the research process. Participants determined not just when and how documentation took place, but also with whom. In socialising the research participants are exercising a form of ownership over the design project and the topic being investigated. They are giving meaning to the project well beyond the formal research boundaries and the contractual relationship of a research participant. It is possible to conceptualise this as a process of appropriation, prior to the creation of any code or system. Even without a finished artefact, the project is becoming "a public thing open for controversies" (Ehn, 2008 p.96). From the perspective of designing social technologies themselves, facilitating and encouraging participants to socialise the *research* can be understood as a strategy for seeding design 'in the wild'.

#### 9.2.2 Bridging Existing and Future Practices



## Illustration 8. Bridging existing and future practices

Activities and skills required for the research are the same, or similar, to that of using the future platform.

Mobile Diary

**Future Design** 

For participants, accommodating the activities of self-documentation has always meant altering their daily practices to some extent, and the capacity for self-reporting to trigger behaviour change is known (e.g., Graham et al., 2007a; Grinter & Eldridge, 2001). The experiential quality of *experimentation* is described in Chapter 8 as important to the interventionist and reflective nature of self-reporting. It has additional value to the design of social technologies themselves because it can help to *bridge between existing* and future practices. Participants made videos, sent picture messages, created mobile blog posts (mo-blogs) and commented on blog messages all actions common to participation in social technologies. In many cases participants were using these technologies for the first time, learning experientially about the technologies and various forms of interaction as they produced 'self- reports'. For some, *doing* Mobile Diaries was the trigger point for considering the adoption of the technologies and practices into their lives such as the purchase of a new camera phone or use of mobile blogging. Khalil also noted a similar outcome from his Digital Cultural probes where several participants started their own *Tumblr* blogs based on that research experience (personal communication 2009). For other participants the Mobile Diary experience enabled them to articulate the things that currently held them back from participating in online forums, such as concerns with privacy or negative interactions with others online.

The potential to connect 'existing and future practices' has a number of implications from a participatory perspective. Dearden and Light (2008) note that one of the emerging roles for designers working with community platforms is the up-skilling of community members. Mobile Diaries became a playful and safe environment for participants to explore new technologies. By participating in the studies, participants had the opportunity to experiment and develop skills and knowledge relevant to participation in social technologies. Even for the participants for whom the technology was less novel, Mobile Diaries were still an opportunity to initiate patterns of practice around the discussion and documentation of the particular topic being studied such as issues of local sustainability. It was an opportunity to understand how people might appropriate such technologies and practices in relation to this topic into their lives. Botero and Saad-Sulonen (2008) discuss how the use of 'living prototypes' used during the Urban Mediator project created conditions not only for the development of the system but also the practices that would make them viable. We found that Mobile Diaries created a similar 'pathway'. Self-reporting allowed participants to develop the skills necessary to participate in future designs, making them more viable by *bridging existing and future practices*. Illustration 8 highlights this connection between using the Mobile Diary and using the future design.

Of course there could be unintended consequences that come from introducing people to new tools and practices. In their analysis of the potential of mobile blogging, Graham et al. (2007b) raise concerns about the potential of participants taking on a 'celebrity status' and point to questions about shifting digital identities and hyper-real accounts that might result from such participation. These considerations are legitimate and care should be taken as with any research situation. From the perspective of empowering participants however, these interventions can also be interpreted as valuable opportunities for seeding participation, providing ways through which participants can gain access to, learn and develop skills around negotiating participation in social technologies.

#### 9.2.3 Developing Early Content



Illustration 9. Developing early content

Mobile Diaries potentially enable the generation of seed content for future community platforms

In social technologies designed for community settings, contributors share stories, images and experiences around topics relevant to them. The shape of the community platform evolves in response to these contributions from 'community members'. The use of social technologies as recording tools, and the *layered representations* they make possible, blurs the distinction between self-reporting and the production of user-generated content. There was, at times, little difference between the material participants produced during the Mobile Diaries and what we would hope to see on the user-generated sites or platforms we envisioned designing, other than the framework

under which it was produced. This was due both to the subject matter of the reports, i.e., personal images, stories and videos about a particular topic of interest told from the perspective of the participant (potential community member), as well as the tools and format through which they were produced, i.e., MMS, blog posts and MPEG-4 video; formats developed for communication, publishing and distribution.

For example, Mobile Diary reports included things like the tour of a rooftop garden, home cooking experiments, and demonstrations of strategies for reducing household waste. From a design research perspective these told us something of participants' motivations and interests around sustainability, but such personal stories were also ideal seed content for a future-planned community site around that same topic. Similarly, the 'behind the scenes' material produced by the client in the second field study had the potential to serve as actual content on the community site. Illustration 9 suggests the potential for 'data' collected during the Mobile Diary studies to be transformed into seed content for the future platform.

While acknowledging that participants would censor their material in different ways were it public, reading the early self-reporting material as potential content also gives insight into how the topic becomes meaningful in peoples lives. The material participants produce in Mobile Diaries is indicative of how the questions, topics or issues being investigated become relevant to potential future community members. It also signals something of how people might go about communicating and sharing it with others.

Social technologies are not about building a database and populating it with content. Rather, contributions by community members are the central, ever evolving building blocks of design; they bring meaning to and measure the success of any scaffolds that we as designers might create. Usually content creation takes place after a system has been in some way formed and released to the public. However, the use of tools such as videos and camera phones early in the design research phases means the creation of seed content can begin earlier, opening up the potential for the structure of the future platform to emerge from the 'bottom up' (Twidale & Floyd, 2008). Material developed early in the design process can act as seed content around which the design of the platform can be shaped. For example, themes, navigation structures and taxonomies can emerge out of the content rather than be defined a priori. Seeing self-reporting as a content development opportunity is also another possible means through which ownership can be fostered. In Context Mapping a key aspect of presenting and sharing the outcomes of the research is the use of personal quotes and images from individuals in reports and presentations (Sleeswijk Visser, 2009). Rijn and Stappers (2008) argue that when participants see material that they have generated in such reports, a sense of ownership over the research is generated. They state "users will automatically experience results with [their] personal expressions as their belongings" (p.179). In the case of social technologies and the design of community platforms there is an opportunity to take this further. The material moves beyond that of research 'data' and is instead taken up as seed content in the design itself. The notion of material developed by participants shaping future design also creates potential for a greater personal connection between the design project and participant. Participants are effectively invited to take the role of author and contributor prior even to the development or specification of any particular platform.

The idea that material from self-reporting, usually a private endeavour, could potentially be put to more public uses raises a number of questions about privacy, consent and how data collection is framed. It also offers potential new ways in which participants can actively influence and participate in design through activities related to use early in the design process. Understandings of participation in self-reporting have largely focused on how much control participants have over how 'data' is produced and the degree of influence participants have over the interpretation of that material. Managed appropriately, using self-reporting studies as sources of seed content could be an opportunity for future community members to directly contribute to the design of future platforms.

## 9.2.4 Designing *With* and *For* Social Technologies: Opportunities for Seeding Design Through Use

It is possible to argue that the connection between user-generated content and selfreporting is obvious given the constraints of the formats being used, or that the capacity of such tools to foster sharing and interaction is already well documented (e.g., Engeström, 2005; Okabe, 2004). Obvious as these relationships may be, they are not accounted for in current methods of self-reporting or particularly supported by current methodological or project infrastructures. This raises the question of how we can better support and leverage these phenomena as approaches to seeding participation relevant to social technologies.

The experiences of self-reporting described above represent new patterns of participation in design made possible by social technologies. The activities of socialising the research, bridging current and future practices and developing early content represent opportunities to go beyond inspiring and informing design, to seeding design through use. The use of social technologies as design tools, for the design of social technologies themselves creates an experiential connection between the design method and the subject of design. This creates new opportunities for participation. For example, the experiences of socialising the research were made possible due to the sharability and sociability of the tools themselves, as well as the emergent set of practices and expectations around sharing and participation that social technologies give rise to. In this way the project became a 'public object' (Ehn, 2008), appropriated into people's daily lives. The methodological connection between the tools used for the research and the subject of the research also created opportunities to connect design and use, allowing for the bridging of existing and future practices and the early development of seed content. In *doing* Mobile Diaries people negotiated, incorporated and appropriated particular physical, social and technical devices and practices into their daily lives, producing and sharing digital artefacts. Participants experienced something of how such technologies might take up physical, technical and social residence in their lives.

Similar to the rudimentary Patchwork Prototypes described by Twidale & Floyd (2008), participants (and designers) gained access to a visceral, concrete experience of the modes of interaction and self-expression that constitute participation in social technologies early in the design process. Using social technologies themselves as tools for research into future community platforms created the potential for roles and activities typically acted out in use, such as the appropriation of design as a public object or the development of user-generated content, to be brought into the early phases of design and research. Such forms of participation are appropriate and valuable to the design of social technologies because of the tight coupling between design and use that constitutes their form. This direct engagement in design through use opens up opportunities through which people can actively shape, influence and take ownership over design early in the design process, from the context of their daily lives. What were

once opportunities to conduct contextual research became opportunities for participation in design informed through experiences of use.

Embracing this potential extends the role of methods like Mobile Diaries beyond selfdocumentation and reconfigures them as exploratory interventions that are in themselves rudimentary prototypes and compositions of existing social software. In this light Mobile Diaries can be conceived of as a hybrid, experimental approach that takes on something of the physical, *exploratory* characteristics of 'prototyping in the wild'. They act in ways similar to early seed prototypes (Botero & Saad-Sulonen, 2008); as interventions that make available experiences, reflections and information about tools and practices whilst also seeding the use of such tools with the community. Rather than turning off the Mobile Diaries at the end of the self-reporting study, as we did, they could be evolved and built upon as a potential prototype or start point for future community platforms.

To achieve this more emergent approach, the blurring of boundaries between private and public participation and the shifting roles of participants require consideration. We have begun this process by including clauses in consent forms that cover the potential to negotiate more public use of material. Technically, we would also need the resources to evolve the platform from the initial 'diary' state into its next, more public form. But, as we have seen, social technologies lend themselves to exactly this sort of recomposition and reconfigurability (Floyd & Twidale, 2008; Jones et al., 2007; Lievrouw, 2006). The real challenge, based on the experience of this research and ongoing design practice, is how these more "causal and exploratory formats" (Brereton & Buur, 2008) become manageable in a commercial context. As Floyd and Twidale (2008) also point out, the barriers have little to do with the design itself or the 'technological environment', and more to do with organisational culture and politics. Particular challenges relevant to the context of this research are explored further in the following sections.

#### 9.3 Barriers to Participation

As previously discussed social technologies challenge certain conventions around participation embedded in traditional design and research methods. They also disrupt assumptions about the kinds of contributions and modes of participation that are possible so early in the design process and how participation might be supported. Attempting to apply the findings outlined above within projects at the CD Agency revealed a number of barriers that needed to be negotiated. These barriers stemmed from inherent assumptions about how we practise and manage design common to commercial design practice and exposed the limited ability of some existing approaches to adequately support the more participatory and emergent approaches both demanded and enabled by social technologies. Four aspects in particular were identified as requiring our attention: i) the ways in which traditional approaches to managing participation in research and design frame, constrain and impact the relationship participants are able to have with the design, ii) the expectations around how projects are conceived and managed and the value of participation within them iii) the competing interests and commercial constraints to which any design project is subject and iv) a concern for relinquishing control that comes with any genuine commitment to participation.

The discussion and reflection of these limitations and barriers presented below is based on my experiences as a practitioner and supported by discussions with other practitioners from commercial research and design agencies about their own experiences and approaches. The provision of specific examples is at times limited by the need to protect commercial in-confidence material and I have also drawn upon relevant literature addressing similar issues to demonstrate how such conditions are known to exist across design practice more broadly. It is anticipated that documenting and drawing attention to these aspects helps to expose the changing nature of participation in design in the context of social technologies, as well as provide start points for where we might better seek to support it.

#### 9.3.1 Managing Participation

Recruitment is often focused on identifying people who represent different 'user types' from an identified 'target audience'. Under this model participants' primary role is that of 'representative user', rather than as an individual. It is common at the CD Agency for example, to recruit different representative users based on persona types that have been established through earlier research. The concept of seeding on the other hand emphasises opportunities to build connections with potential future community members, as authors, contributors and citizens. This is particularly important in the context of community projects where we may be responsible for 'bringing a community into being'. The value is on the relationships we can build with specific, actual individuals, and their particular networks, in their particular context. This suggests that
205

we may need to reconsider how, and under what conditions, participants are enlisted into design. In discussing design and participation in relation to community projects, Botero et al. (2003) suggested a broader understanding of people's roles is needed. Instead of conceiving of our participants as 'users', we should think of them as citizens, family members, residents, planners, actors, creators and decision makers. This places participants in their active 'public' roles and requires a subtle but important shift from recruiting participants as 'research participants' to inviting them, from the beginning, to participate as potential future community members. Our approach to the recruitment of Mobile Diary participants might have changed for example if rather than recruiting 'representative users', we had approached it as recruiting future community members for seeding momentum, energy and input on equitable and if appropriate, public terms.

The question of how people are enlisted into the design process is compounded by the assumptions of how their participation in design is then portrayed. As suggested in Chapter 8, common consent protocols in professional design research contexts are constructed around assumptions of anonymity both for the participant and the material they produce.<sup>6</sup> Data usage is also usually restricted to the 'purposes of research'. These protocols were developed in order to protect participants, however they also frame participation in particular ways. They do not, for example, anticipate the kinds of actions observed in the Mobile Diary studies where participants wanted to publish, share, or claim ownership of this material themselves. Nor do they account for the potential to transition or reinterpret the design material into seed content, published on future public platforms.

Social technologies not only suggest a potential rethinking of ethics and how we structure consent during research, they also point to opportunities for different kinds of participation in design that are more public. When our goals are to seed content, connections and community, our protocols for consent need to embrace, support, and appropriately protect participants while also enabling them to participate as authors and contributors, choosing how and with whom their content is shared. To date these

<sup>6</sup> It is not common for self-reporting or generative studies in literature to detail the contractual arrangements they have with their participants but where they do, anonymisation is the standard approach. The most prominent exceptions take a participatory design or participatory action design approach where such roles are negotiated with the participant (e.g., Botero et al., 2003; Ivey & Sanders, 2006).

findings have been reflected back into practice through changes to consent forms that cover the potential to negotiate more public use of material. Investigating different models for managing and framing consent and participation is also identified as focus for potential future work, outlined in the next chapter.

#### 9.3.2 The Value of Participation

Barriers to supporting more exploratory and ongoing forms of participation can also be created by assumptions about how projects are managed, and where the value of participation is embedded. While from a design practice perspective we may understand design to be iterative, design projects are often managed instead as a series of discrete phases. These project management and contractual limitations create certain boundaries around how participation can be supported and participation can become bound to a particular phase. Compartmentalising aspects of projects in this way is part of managing them, but it assumes that activities of research, design and use progress in a relatively linear sequence, and that the value of participation can largely be embedded in the outputs and 'deliveries' of each phase.

Even in generative research there has been an assumption that the value of method is largely realised in the material that is generated. Whether it be to inform understandings of practice (e.g., Grinter & Eldridge, 2003), inspire design (e.g., Gaver et al., 1999) or foster empathy (e.g., Mattelmäki & Battarbee, 2002) the emphasis on generative methods is on the generation of design material. Other outcomes such as dialogue and relationship building are recognised, but descriptions in studies are largely framed around the value of the activity to produce tangible research deliveries and participation is couched in terms of the generation and co-interpretation of that material. The Mobile Diary method was presented and sold to clients in the same way as other commercial research studies; there was an assumption of specific tangible outputs at particular milestones for a particular budget, and that we recruited participants for the period of the Mobile Diary study. While we were able to foster a close relationship to participants over the period of the study, when the study ended, so did any formally resourced relationship with participants. Under this model momentum and connections developed during the study had nowhere to go. Time and budget was assigned to developing the tangible deliverables and outputs from the diaries, but no real framework existed within our standard research protocols and project conventions for valuing or maintaining the ongoing relations with participants.

Taking an evolutionary prototyping approach, however, means the shape of design and the associated project emerges over time and builds in response to the energies and interests of the participants in these early phases. There are no clear specifications, deliverables or budgets upfront, only an initial commitment to support the process. This is in stark contrast to many of the project management models that commercial design currently operates under. In proposing such approaches, we have found that clients may recognise the value of developing systems that have a 'bottom-up' motivation, but still find it nearly impossible to reconcile such an approach with existing expectations about structures of budgets, business cases and deliverables. Botero and Saad-Sulonen (2008) found similar issues in working with their local council, who were initially unwilling to invest in seed prototypes, although they embraced the process once the results were demonstrated. As Ehn (2008) suggests, the traditional notion of a design project is being challenged in these contexts, but what kinds of contracts, engagements or periods of involvement are now appropriate? Further case studies and appropriate frameworks for budgeting and reporting success can assist clients in building confidence about more open-ended and emergent approaches where design is participant-led through use. The concept of seeding can also sensitise us to the value of the less tangible outputs of early design research interventions, and suggests possible ways for articulating the value of taking this approach to design.

#### 9.3.3 Project Vulnerability and Stability

Another barrier to supporting the momentum and interest built up over the Mobile Diary studies is the inherent vulnerability and instability of design projects. Continuous and emergent design requires a commitment to ongoing resourcing. To leverage off the goodwill and energy generated during the study and potentially transition participants into active community members, some degree of continuity and stability is required. The relationship built up over the study needs to be nurtured and 'the project kept alive in the world'. Such intentions are challenged by the competing interests and commercial constraints to which any design project is subject. Loi (2008) describes timelines, corporate directions, belief systems and comfort zones as potentially destabilising factors inherent in commercial environments. Whilst Loi (ibid) specifically makes reference to large corporate environments, these aspects are equally disruptive to design in smaller companies and organisations and can easily derail attempts to support more ongoing forms of participation in design. In particular, we found changes to key members of the client team, common within commercial projects (Rönkkö et al., 2008), led to shifting project priorities, project inertia and delays. What *is* our obligation to participants who, for example, might find their 'emergent community platform' withdrawn due to the arrival of a new CEO at the client organisation who has alternative political interests? Funding limitations or other delays between the commencements of new project phases can also cause the project to become inactive. In this time any momentum and interest gained in the first stages of the project can be lost and the community has moved on to other things. In discussing the success of community driven projects, Karasti (2004) highlights the importance of their organic and ongoing nature which changes in response to the community's needs. This kind of continuity is hard to support and maintain under traditional agency and project models.

#### 9.3.4 Fear of Participation

A genuine commitment to participation by an organisation necessarily means relinquishing some control. Using methods such as Mobile Diaries to support a participant-led approach that seeks to seed design and allows its shape to emerge through use is particularly appropriate for community and local government organisations that have clear responsibilities to serve their constituents. As participants socialise the research and develop early content, the organisation is able to gain a concrete understanding of where community interest lies, as well as how people are most likely to go about engaging with it. But it also requires organisations to be flexible about how their objectives are met and even change those objectives as a result of feedback. Organisations need to be open and responsive, have the capacity to let go of their expectations of what is needed, and allow design to emerge through use. We have found that this presents a real challenge for organisations who, for example, strongly associate their brand with qualities such as 'accuracy', or who have very strict policies and procedures surrounding the kinds of information they can publish. This can translate into requirements for heavy moderation or shutting down of community input, which is converse to the opportunities social technologies present. While this is changing it might be some time before some organisations are truly willing, and able, to let go of the reins and be led to solutions and formats by their stakeholders. Client organisations might feel the pressure to embrace the opportunities of social technologies and/or see the value in concepts of participation and engagement, however they also need to be culturally and politically mature enough to take on such approaches and

physically resourced to support the level of engagement required. Twidale and Floyd (2008) are at pains to point out that while it is the malleable nature of technologies that make the Patchwork Prototyping approach possible, the appropriate values and attitudes must also be present in the organisation. As Rönkkö et al. (2004) suggest, the social and political issues that influence design and development methodology can be far removed from the actual context of design and use and come instead from interactions between actors in and around the client organisation.

# 9.4 Summary

This chapter has presented the third and final phase of analysis in this thesis through an exploration of potential new forms of participation suited to the early design of community platforms, not accounted for in traditional descriptions of self-reporting studies. The concept of seeding has been used to analyse experiences reported in the field studies, showing how they are enabled by social technologies, and to argue for their value as strategies *for* seeding important to the early design of community platforms. The methodological connection between the tools of research and the subject of design was explored in terms of how it can directly connect the activities of research with designing and using, seeding design *through use*. The discussion in this chapter has shown how it is possible for roles and activities typically acted out in use, such as the development of user-generated content, to move forward into the early phases of design. By relating these outcomes to a growing number of studies that look at evolving practices of 'design in the wild', new forms of participation appropriate to the early design of social technologies were identified.

The discussion and analysis in this chapter has also explored how assumptions and conventions about design and participation embedded in our existing project infrastructures are framing and constraining the potential for participation in the design of social technologies. Through the exposure of these limitations it is possible to identify how the nature of participation in design is shifting in response to the emergent, participatory, social and embedded everyday nature of social technologies. It has also been possible to identify existing barriers and potential start points for future, more appropriate protocols, methods and frameworks.

# 10 Conclusions, Contributions and Future Work

This final chapter provides a summary of the research and its outcomes. The research questions are revisited and the core findings of the thesis outlined. The contributions of the thesis are presented along with potential directions for future work.

This thesis has been an investigation into how the new capabilities, expectations and practices that constitute social technologies are impacting on the nature of participation in design. The research questions driving this thesis have been addressed through a practice-led study of the trend to use social technologies as self-reporting tools, within a genuine design context. A self-reporting method, Mobile Diaries, was iteratively designed and implemented in a commercial environment. The evaluation of the method in a practice context has demonstrated how the introduction of social technologies as design tools supports and enables outcomes important to early design research. It has also shown how social technologies foreground different kinds of expectations by participants about participation, and create new possibilities for how participation might be enabled, conceived and managed. The research has made possible the development of knowledge and understanding about how the emergent and participatory nature of social technologies themselves demands and enables new forms of participation in their design; these in turn exploit the tight coupling between design and use. While the Design Research undertaken in this thesis was practice-led, the process of doing the research has involved a moving back and forth between theory and practice throughout and the findings presented in this thesis have been generated through a concurrent analysis of both empirical research and related literature.

# **10.1 Addressing the Research Questions**

The central research question was:

# How are social technologies impacting on the nature of participation in design?

In the introduction to this thesis it was stated that our understandings of, and commitments to, participation in design are embedded within our choices of design methods, tools, protocols and project infrastructures. It is through an analysis of how these things are changing, as evidenced in literature and the field studies, that this overall research question has been addressed. In this thesis social technologies have been identified as impacting on participation in design in a number of ways. They are being co-opted as *design tools* that enable new forms of participation in design, as shown through the example of Mobile Diaries. They also constitute new *subjects for design*, such as the community platforms being developed by the CD Agency, which demand forms of participation in design that respond to their personal, social,

participatory and emergent nature. They also constitute a *context in which we design*, as the emerging emphasis on and capability for mediated social participation enabled by social technologies impacts on how participants can, and expect to, participate in design.

Broadly speaking, social technologies put emphasis on enabling participation from within the context of people's ongoing, social and mobile lives. This increasingly integrated nature of research and design with people's daily lives can be a challenge to traditional notions about the nature of participation in design, and how participation is managed. For example, during the evaluation of the field studies it became clear that assumptions about anonymity, and considerations of self-reporting as an individual or private research activity may no longer make sense or be relevant in the context of social technologies where the emphasis is on personal production, sharing and distribution. These findings show how the new expectations and capabilities in relation to sharing and the shifting norms and practices around private and public inherent in social technologies, are carrying over into the practices of research, design and use. Similarly, project infrastructures and methods that assume the value of participation in design is to inform or inspire development of artefacts do not account for the inherently participatory and emergent nature of social technologies themselves.

Two sub questions focused the way in which this broader research question was investigated, and the responses to each of these below also form part of the response to this broader research question.

# 10.1.1 Sub Question 1

# How and in what ways can social technologies as design tools support participation in early design?

In order to answer this research question it was important to first identify the kinds of outcomes and experiences that are valuable early in the design process, and the kinds of methods that could support such outcomes in practice. The approach taken to defining these was guided by the theoretical and philosophical perspectives on design, design methods and participation established in Chapter 2, in particular the commitment to designerly methods and to methods that privileged participants as active contributors in the design process. Specific early design goals such as immersion, inspiration, information and dialogue were identified through a literature review of early design

research methods in Chapter 3 and further informed and contextualised through the specific practice and project-based objectives of the CD Agency.

It was then important to understand how, and in what ways, social technologies *as design tools* could support these outcomes and what methodological and ethical considerations they introduced. The two field studies documented in Chapters 5 and 6, in which a specific approach to self-reporting named Mobile Diaries was iteratively designed and evaluated, constitute the main response to this aspect of the research question. The field studies allowed access to an empirical understanding of, and sensitivity to, the kinds of experiences and outcomes that could be enabled for participants and designers through such methods and the role of the various tools in enabling those experiences.

This empirical investigation resulted in two specific outcomes that address the research question. The first is the Mobile Diary method itself; the form of its implementation into practice is described in Chapter 7. The method is an example of how social technologies, as design tools, can support participation in ways beneficial to the goals of early design research. The second outcome is the seven experiential qualities and the discussion of their implications for participation presented in Chapter 8. These qualities help to describe how social technologies are impacting on the nature of participation in the context of social technologies. They point to the expectations and capabilities being introduced to self-reporting by the appropriation of social technologies as design tools and convey something of the changing nature of participation in self-reporting as a result.

The findings presented in Chapter 8 also identified specific issues and outlined potential responses in relation to assumptions about consent, ownership and the perceived boundaries of participation in design research challenged by social technologies. In this way, the research builds on earlier concerns about the inevitable ethical and privacy issues raised by such approaches and referred to by other researchers and practitioners such as Masten and Plowman (2003) and Hulkko et al. (2004). For example, the findings showed that the use of everyday mobile and online tools means the activities of self-reporting become more closely integrated with people's everyday lives. This has the potential to blur traditional boundaries of private and public and shift expectations and perceptions about ownership. The inherent sharability of social technologies also challenges more traditional and simplistic notions of participation in design research as

a private, anonymous and contained activity. In summary, social technologies can support participation in early design through the extension of traditional contextual methods such as self-reporting, but the integrated nature of that participation requires us to reconsider how we conceive of and manage participation in early design research.

## 10.1.2 Sub Question 2

The second sub question asked about the role of social technologies as design tools within a particular domain, specifically: *How can such tools support participation in early design when social technologies are themselves the subject of design?* 

This question was initially addressed through an analysis of Participatory Design literature in Chapter 3, which enabled the identification of considerations important to supporting participation in the early design of social technologies in community settings. This analysis demonstrated that in designing social technologies, additional outcomes and experiences that go beyond immersion, information, inspiration or dialogue, become valuable in the early phases of design. The inherently participatory nature of social technologies, and the close coupling between design and use they highlight, put a direct emphasis on connecting design to the concrete places in which it will be used and the people who will use it. The term seeding in particular, was further developed as a way of conceptualising and naming the work that needs to be done in the early design of social technologies to connect the activities of design and use.

The results of the field studies were then analysed in terms of how the Mobile Diaries enabled experiences and outcomes valuable to the early design of community platforms in particular. This made it possible to examine and evaluate how social technologies as design tools could contribute to the early design of social technologies themselves. The main finding and response to this research question, presented in Chapter 9, was that in using social technologies as tools for designing other or more social technologies, an experiential connection between the method and subject of design was being made in the context in which the design would be used. This connection in turn created new opportunities for participation early in the design process. In Chapter 9 the capacity for Mobile Diaries to support participants to *socialise research, bridge current and future practices*, and *generate early content* was presented in terms of potential opportunities for seeding community platforms, made possible by the use of social technologies as design tools. These are additional design outcomes not identified or accounted for in

traditional concepts of self-reporting, but outcomes that directly engage with the dynamic relationship between design and use inherent in social technologies and the need to allow social technologies to be *designed through use*.

The research findings responded to the research question by demonstrating how participation might be supported. They also made it possible to identify the current barriers to doing so. As was documented in the discussion of challenges in Chapter 9, leveraging the opportunities for seeding design described in this research requires us to support researching, designing and using as concurrent and emerging practices. The barriers that were faced in trying to embrace these news forms of participation as part of commercial projects at the CD Agency served to highlight existing assumptions about participation embedded in our methods and project infrastructures. It also drew attention to the limited capacity of approaches and project environments modelled around linear and compartmentalised design projects, to respond to the nature of social technologies as a subject for design, providing start points for future work.

# 10.2 Contributions

The intention of this Design Research thesis was to develop research outputs that were valuable to both researchers and practitioners. The four main contributions of this thesis to design practice, theory and research are summarised below. Significant outcomes and impacts of this research on how design is practiced at the CD Agency itself are documented at the end.

1. The development of Mobile Diaries, a specific self-reporting method beneficial to early design research and suited to commercial use

This thesis contains a descriptive analysis of the development and evaluation of the Mobile Diary method and its implementation into commercial practice. The documentation and evaluation of Mobile Diaries contributes to existing knowledge, studies and literature about emerging self-reporting methods. Key practical and methodological findings and guides about using Mobile Diaries have been made available for other researchers and practitioners through academic channels (e.g., Hagen & MacFarlane, 2008; Hagen et al., 2007) and industry arenas (e.g., Hagen & Rowland, 2010). In addition to their use at the CD Agency, Mobile Diaries have also been taken up by practitioners in different commercial design research contexts.

2. Conceptual tools that reflect the impact of social technologies on self-reporting and draw attention to the new ethical and methodological implications they introduce

Increasingly social technologies are being appropriated as design tools. The seven experiential qualities of *layered representations, life on the move, in the moment, shared windows, continual interaction, experimentation* and *co-experience* developed in this research help to describe how the method of self-reporting is being extended or enhanced by the use of social technologies. The intention of such naming is to put emphasis on the experiences and outcomes for participants and designers enabled by different kinds of tools, and to help frame the discussion from the perspective of the experiences we want to support and privilege. They are offered as conceptual tools that can be used by designers and researchers choosing between or evaluating different self-reporting tools. The research also contributes to the identification of key methodological and ethical issues introduced to self-reporting by the appropriation of social technologies as design tools. Specific protocols and expectations around participation in relation to consent, privacy and ownership are highlighted as needing particular consideration when using such methods.

3. Strategies to articulate and support experiences and outcomes important to the early design of social technologies in community settings, through the use of social technologies themselves

As a subject for design, the participatory and emergent nature of social technologies foregrounds particular concerns and issues around how exactly designs will be taken up and evolved in the 'real world' and by whom. This research contributes to a growing number of studies that look at evolving practices of 'design in the wild' (Dittrich et al., 2002), and the new forms of participation this represents. The concept of seeding is extended as a resource that can help orientate early design activities in ways appropriate to social technologies and for analysing how such activities can be enabled. Potential strategies for seeding enabled by social technologies themselves have been presented along with potential barriers that may need to be negotiated in their implementation.

4. An example of how practice-based design research can be conducted in a commercial context in ways valuable to both practice and research domains

This thesis also makes a specific contribution to knowledge about how practice-led research might be conducted, and the value of such an approach to Design Research for

both practice and research domains. The thesis presents a detailed description and reflection on the process of conducting practice-led research in a commercial design agency. Specifically it describes the process of collaboratively choosing, evaluating and implementing a method in practice, documenting the strengths, weaknesses and possible variations. In doing so it makes available to other researchers a detailed account of conducting practice-led research in such a context, including challenges and considerations and how they were negotiated.

It also demonstrates the value of fostering an exchange between the domains of academic Design Research and design practice. In the case of this research, the bringing of academic Design Research to a professional design context resulted in a direct contribution to that practice, including the implementation into commercial practice of an emerging design research method. Another significant benefit of the research was that it enabled the agency to see the value of investing in research and infrastructure around design process and design methods (expanded on further in the following section). At the same time, as Sevaldson (2010) has suggested, taking commercial design practice as a focus and location for academic research helped to generate research questions that responded to specific challenges and patterns of use that may not be understood in an academic context alone. For example, the exposure of the assumptions and limitations embedded in conventional protocols and commercial project structures about how participation is to be supported help to make visible the changing nature of participation in design. Locating the research in a commercial context in which relationships with users are negotiated through clients, and where the financial and service relationship with clients must be accounted for, also helped to identify particular challenges to supporting participation in practice.

### 10.2.1 Impact on the CD Agency

The research partnership represented by the work in the thesis has had a number of additional benefits for the CD Agency that have extended beyond the duration of my time there. In Chapter 1 it was noted that the adoption of academic design methods into commercial design practice is one of the visible outcomes of a shift in emphasis from communications design to Interaction Design. Participating in this Design Research project contributed to the CD Agency's adoption of terminology around methods and the development of a critical and masterful approach to the use of design methods in daily practice. The research made visible the significance and potential of participatory

and designerly methods in particular and supported ongoing reflection about what doing collaborative and participatory design means at the agency. For example, design and research practitioners involved with the Mobile Diaries have gone on to adopt and incorporate more visual, subjective data capture and reporting techniques. The research helped to foster a culture of ongoing learning about practice within the agency. The development and dissemination of collaborative methods is now central to the internal training program and has since become a point of differentiation for the CD Agency. In addition, we found that offering Mobile Diaries as one of our research approaches contributed to the positioning of the company as innovative and illustrated our commitment to stakeholder-focused design to clients. That we could demonstrate that the method had the ability to promote reflection and possible behavioural change in the lives of participants was particularly significant, given the agency's commitment to working on social change issues.

# **10.3 Opportunities for Future Work**

In the process of conducting this research a number of topics have presented themselves as worthy of further investigation. Five in particular are identified here as areas for future work.

# 10.3.1 Concepts and Conditions for Participation

Already the seven experiential qualities presented in Chapter 8 can be used as practical resources that stimulate reflection, conversation and consideration about how our choices of methods and tools impact on conditions for participation in self-reporting. There is an opportunity to explore and extend the ways in which the seven qualities can be practically applied as a critical tool for practitioners. This could be through making them more accessible in terms of how they are shared or published, for example, on blogs, via downloadable flash cards or through industry forums. It would also be of benefit to support practitioners to contribute to, build on, or edit the qualities as new tools and studies emerge or as they are used in different contexts or for different purposes. In addition, evaluating the general applicability of these concepts to other design research methods is also an area for future work, for example, exploring their application to other emerging mediated participation tools such as the Owela online participatory platform (Näkki & Antikainen, 2008; Näkki et al., 2008), or more persistent online community forums.

#### 10.3.2 Participant-led Design of Community Platforms

Future work could also include the identification of ways to create and support project environments that allow us to deliberately engage with the opportunities to design with and for social technologies such as those outlined in Chapter 9. This means working consciously to navigate or build alternatives to the challenges presented by many current commercial project structures. Part of this work might include the further examination of what constitutes a design project and the kinds of infrastructures and political arrangements that do make such emergent and participatory approaches more viable in commercial contexts. This might be through working internally within organisations, or by refocusing our work away from the production of 'things', to more intentionally supporting, enabling and up-skilling client organisations to embrace and manage participation as part of their operating principles. Part of this might also include crafting better ways to convey, communicate and represent the value of participation and of investing in participation. Our role might include helping to ensure that organisations are able to account for and support this outcome in project planning and resourcing. Building up the notion of seeding, perhaps through case studies, could be useful here, as could more thoroughly exploring the potential relationship between emergent and participatory design and agile development, briefly addressed in Hagen and Robertson (2009) and others (Beynon-Davies & Holmes, 1998; Rittenbruch, McEwan, Ward, Mansfield & Bertenstein, 2002). Participatory Action Research (McIntyre, 2008) may also offer case studies, frameworks and protocols more suited to emergent approaches that can be adapted for commercial design contexts. In addition, participatory development methods (e.g., Dearden & Rizvi, 2008) which place relationships at the core of the design process may also provide useful start points for approaching the design of social technologies.

### 10.3.3 Managing Private and Public Participation in Design and Research

Throughout this thesis a number of ethical questions about consent, privacy and ownership were raised that reflect how the increasingly blurred boundaries between private and public inherent to social technologies are impacting on research and design. The norms and protocols of how we store, utilise and share material is changing. Our response as design researchers is often ad hoc, on the fly or in response to moves by participants. One of the issues raised was participant control and ownership over 'data', for example, the personal material that is generated through studies like Mobile Diaries. In custom online qualitative research platforms such as *Revelation*<sup>TM</sup>, these decisions are framed by having participants choose between publishing material as shared (between the group) or private. The focus of future work could extend to collaboration with participants to understand what control they would like to have over the material they generate, how it is treated, and what they believe is appropriate. Little is reported within studies of self-reporting about the decisions participants make in regard to what they share, what they keep hidden, or the potential they might see when doing self-reporting for approaching issues of ownership and privacy differently. Just as these technologies have social dimensions that lend them to deeper practices of sharing and communication within research, these same qualities might provide us with channels to further investigate and explore these questions about ethics with our participants. Perhaps we can co-opt the technologies and platforms of social technologies themselves as channels to explore these issues.

Equally, there is work to be done with design teams and clients to ensure they practise ethical and appropriate approaches to the use of any of the rich, personal material they may gain access to, as part of the design research, as the use of such audiovisual tools and shared platforms becomes a more common way of involving participants in generative design research.

# 10.3.4 A Role for Participatory Design in Social Technologies

In this thesis Participatory Design has been a methodological, theoretical and philosophical resource that has helped to frame and motivate discussion and analysis around participation. There is an opportunity to contribute more directly to investigations of how the agenda of Participatory Design can be extended, applied or engaged in the context of social technologies. In considering the impact of social technologies, Ehn (2008) asks, *"What roles could and should professional design play in creating such infrastructures and things and making them public?"* (p.98). The political perspective on participation offered by Participatory Design is critical to understanding and bringing attention to the power struggles being played out as social technologies become central to how we live our community, social, civic, political and professional lives. Ongoing issues with privacy, ownership, opting-out and sharing of personal information by major social network providers such as *Facebook* (e.g., Opsahl, 2010) could be seen as indicators of what can occur when participation is not at the core of the development of participatory systems. The risks of not being participatory are not

just a failed website with no users. As the non-consensual exposure of private data in the case of *Google Buzz* showed, they can be dangerous to people's personal safety (Carlson, 2010). If we take as our basis Greenbaum and Madsen's (1993) justification of the political perspective of participatory design: that people have the right to influence their own lives, then, bringing a participatory approach to the design of such systems is critical to ensuring people have the ability to negotiate, control and understand the implications of participation as they evolve.

## 10.3.5 Supporting more Practice-led Research

Finally, from the perspective of research methodology, there is an opportunity to build appropriate resources for other practitioners who hope to undertake Design Research within the commercial environments in which they practice. Hobbs et al. (2010) are right to call for more Design Research within professional practices such as User Experience Design and Information Architecture. But in their call for 'maturing a practice', they underestimate the complexities and sensitivities involved in making this possible. There is more involved than just questions of confidentiality. Other kinds of support are also needed, particularly in smaller organisations where there is less room to support non-billed commercial R&D. As described in Chapter 4, numerous issues arise when considering how to integrate academic Design Research, by designers, within a specific actual client design project. To do so means weaving an additional set of relationships, expectations, outcomes and accountabilities into both the design project, and the research project. The complexity of this is enhanced when the researcher is also the designer. Efforts such as the Creative Industries Innovation Centre, hosted by the University of Technology, Sydney, which aim to connect enterprise and research are the kinds of projects that might go some way to supporting this.

# 10.4 In Closing

The working definition of 'design' provided in Chapter 2 of this thesis draws upon the work of Buchanan (1992). He describes design as a supple activity that continues to expand in its meaning. He suggests that the changing ways in which we perceive design are dependent on the changing subject matter of design itself, that both our perception and practice of design evolve in response to the subject with which design is concerned. This thesis has explored how social technologies as tools *for* design, a subject *of* design, and a context *in which* we design, are reshaping not only the nature of participation in

design, but also the practice of design. In the context of social technologies design becomes concerned with configurations, relationships and ongoing and emergent entities: platforms around which communities come together and interact. Our role can be understood as one of supporting communication, sociability and learning through the provision of flexible tools, whatever form they take. The facilitation of participation is central to design practice and as a design practitioner the opportunities, challenges and responsibilities suggested by social technologies are both exciting and humbling! As Ehn (2008) suggests: "Participation in the making of things stands out as the ultimate challenge for professional design" (p.100).

To date, the results from this thesis have been made formally available to the design research and practice community by being published in six peer-reviewed conferences and one journal.

- Hagen, P., Robertson, T., & Gravina, D. 2007, 'Engaging with stakeholders: Mobile Diaries for social design', *DUX'07*, Chicago, USA. ACM.
- Hagen, P., & MacFarlane, J. 2008, 'Reflections on the role of seeding in social design', Ozchi'08, Cairns, Australia, ACM.
- Hagen, P., & Underwood, D. 2008, 'Understanding motivation and enabling action towards change', *Pervasive Persuasive Technology and Environmental Sustainability Workshop held at the 6th International Conference on Pervasive Computing*, Sydney, Australia.
- Hagen, P., & Robertson, T. 2009, 'Dissolving boundaries: social technologies and participation in design', *Ozchi'09*, Melbourne, Australia, ACM.
- Hagen, P., & Robertson, T. 2010, 'Seeding social technologies: strategies for embedding design in use', DRS'10, Montreal, Canada.
- Hagen, P., & Robertson, T. 2010, 'Social Technologies: Challenges and Opportunities for Participation', *PDC'10*, Sydney, Australia, ACM.
- Hagen, P., & Robertson, T. 2011, 'Social Technologies: The Changing Nature of Participation in Design', *Design Issues (Forthcoming)*.

In addition, findings from the research have been shared formally with the design practice community through a peer reviewed online industry magazine and an invited industry presentation:

- Hagen, P., & Rowland, N. 2010, 'Mobile Diaries: Discovering Daily Life. Johnny Holland', retrieved from http://johnnyholland.org/2010/07/13/mobile-diariesdiscovering-daily-life/
- Hagen, P., 'Social Technologies, Participation, Design Methods', presented at Design Thinking, Digital Eskimo, Sydney, Australia, February 2011.

# References

- Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. 2000, Reflexive Methodology, London, Sage Publications Inc.
- Anderson, R., & Kolko, J. 2009, 'On the relevance of theory to practitioners...', *interactions*, *16*(2), pp. 80-80.
- Archer, B. January 1995, 'The Nature of Research', Co-design, interdisciplinary journal of design (2), pp. 6-13, transcribed version by Chris Rust, retrieved December 2010, <u>http://www.metu.edu.tr/~baykan/arch586/Archer95.pdf</u>
- Arrington, M. 2009, 'Flip Has Little Chance In An iPhone World', *Tech Crunch*, retrieved August 2009, <u>http://techcrunch.com/2009/06/20/flip-has-little-chance-in-an-iphone-world/</u>
- August, S. 2006a, 'Immersive research', *Quirk's Marketing Research Review*, (July/August), retrieved,

```
http://www.quirks.com/articles/2006/20060707.aspx?searchID=112320624&sort=9
```

- August, S. 2006b, 'Revelation<sup>™</sup>', retrieved August 2007, <u>http://www.kdaresearch.com/services/revelation.php</u>
- August, S., & August, KD. 2005, 'Online in-depth proves its promise', *Quirk's Marketing Research Review*, (May), retrieved, <u>http://www.quirks.org/articles/a2005/20050504.aspx?searchID=146084886&pg=1</u>
- Aware. 2005, 'Aware', retrieved December 2005, http://aware.uiah.fi/
- Axup, J. 2006, 'Methods of Understanding and Designing For Mobile Communities', Phd Thesis, Information Technology and Electrical Engineering (ITEE), University of Queensland, Brisbane.
- Balka, E. 2006, 'Inside the belly of the beast: the challenges and successes of a reformist participatory agenda', *PDC'06*, Trento, Italy, ACM, pp. 134-143.
- Balka, E., & Wagner, I. 2006, 'Making things work: Dimensions of configurability as appropriation work', *CSCW'06*. Banff, Canada, ACM, pp. 229-238
- Bannon, L. 2005, 'A human-centred perspective on interaction design', in A. Pirhonen, P. Saariluoma, H. Isomäki & C. Roast (eds), *Future Interaction Design*, Springer, London, pp. 31-51.
- Battarbee, K. 2003, 'Defining co-experience', *International Conference on Designing Pleasurable Products and Interfaces*, Pittsburgh, PA, USA, ACM, pp. 109-113.
- Battarbee, K. 2004, 'Co-Experience: understanding user experiences in social interaction', Phd Thesis, University of Art and Design Helsinki, Helsinki.
- Battarbee, K., Cabrera, A. B., Mattelmäki, T., & Rizzo, F. 2008, 'Designed for Co-designers: Workshop Call for Participation', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, pp. 299-300.
- Battarbee, K., & Kurvinen, E. 2003, 'Supporting creativity co-experience in MMS', *The Good, the Bad & the Irrelevant - the user and the future of information and communication technologies*, *COST269*, Helsinki, Finland.
- Beck, E. 2002, 'P for political: participation is not enough', *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems 14*(1), pp. 77-92.
- Bergvall-Kåreborn, B., & Ståhlbröst, A. 2008, 'Participatory design: one step back or two steps forward', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 102-111.
- Beynon-Davies, P., & Holmes, S. 1998, 'Integrating rapid application development and participatory design', *Software IEE Proceedings 145*(4), pp. 105-112.

- Biggs, M. A. R., & Büchler, D. 2007, 'Rigor and Practice-based Research', *Design Issues*, 23(3), pp. 62-69.
- Binder, T., Brandt, E., & Gregory, J. 2008a, 'Design participation(-s) (Editorial)', *CoDesign*, 4(1), pp. 1-3.
- Binder, T., Brandt, E., & Gregory, J. 2008b, 'Design participation(-s) a creative commons for ongoing change', *CoDesign*, 4(2), pp. 79-83.
- Blomberg, J., Burrell, M., & Guest, G. 2003, 'An ethnographic approach to design', in J. A. Jacko & A. Sears (eds), *The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook*, London, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 964-986.
- Bloomberg, J., Giacomi, J., Mosher, A., & Swenton-Hall, P. 1993, 'Ethnographic field methods and their relation to design', in D. Schuler & A. Namioka (eds), *Participatory design: principles and practices*, pp. 123-155, Hillsdale, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc.
- Bødker, S. 1994, 'Creating conditions for participation: Conflicts and resources in systems design', *PDC'04*, Chapel Hill, NC, USA, CPSR.
- Bødker, S. 2000, 'Scenarios in user-centred design setting the stage for reflection and action', *Interacting with Computers, 13*(1), pp. 61-75.
- Bødker, S. October 2006, 'When Second Wave HCI meets Third Wave Challenges', *Nordichi'06*, Oslo, Norway, ACM, pp. 1-8.
- Bødker, S., & Grønbæk, K. 1991a, 'Cooperative Prototyping Users and designers in mutual activity', *International Journal of of Man-Machine Studies, Special Issue on CSCW*, 34(3), pp. 453-478.
- Bødker, S., & Grønbæk, K. 1991b, 'Design in action: from prototyping by demonstration to cooperative prototyping', in J. Greenbaum & M. Kyng (eds), *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, Hillsdale, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc, pp. 123-155.
- Bødker, S., & Iversen, O. S. 2002, 'Staging a professional participatory design practice: moving PD beyond the initial fascination of user involvement', *NordiChi'02*, Aarhus, Denmark, ACM, pp. 11-18.
- Boehner, K., Vertesi, J., Sengers, P., & Dourish, P. 2007, 'How HCI Interprets the Probes', *CHI'07*, San Jose, California, USA, ACM, pp. 1077-1086.
- Bos, N., Karahalios, K., Musgrove-Ch, M., vez, Poole, E. S., Thomas, J. C., et al. 2009, 'Research ethics in the facebook era: privacy, anonymity, and oversight', *CHI'09 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*, Boston, MA, USA, ACM, pp. 2767-2770.
- Botero, A., Kommonen, K.-H., Oilinki, I., & Koskijoki, M. 2003, 'Codesigning Visions, Uses, and Applications', *TechnE Design Wisdom 5th European Academy of Design Conference 2003*, Barcelona.
- Botero, A., & Saad-Sulonen, J. 2008, 'Co-designing for new city-citizen interaction possibilities: weaving prototypes and interventions in the design and development of Urban Mediator', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 266-269.
- Bowen, S. J. 2007, 'Crazy ideas or creative probes? Presenting critical artefacts to stakeholders to develop innovative product ideas', *EAD07: Dancing with Disorder: Design, Discourse and Disaster*, Izmir, Turkey.
- boyd, d. 2007a, 'Social Network Sites: Public, Private, or What?', retrieved March 2009, www.danah.org/papers/KnowledgeTree.pdf
- boyd, d. 2007b, 'The Significance of Social Software', in T. N. B. a. J. Schmidt (ed), *BlogTalks Reloaded: Social Software Research & Cases*, pp. 15-30, Norderstedt.

- boyd, d. 2009, 'Taken Out of Context: American Teen Sociality in Networked Publics', Phd Thesis, Information Management and Systems, University of California, Berkeley.
- Boyd-Graber, J., Nikolova, S., Moffatt, K., Kin, K., Lee, J., Mackey, L., et al. 2006,
  'Participatory design with proxies: developing a desktop-PDA system to support people with aphasia', *CHI'06*, Montréal, Québec, Canada, ACM, pp. 151-160.
- Brandt, E., & Grunnet, C. 2000, 'Evoking the Future: Drama and Props in User Centred Design', *PDC'00*, New York, NY, USA, CPSR, pp. 11-20.
- Brandt, E., Messeter, J., & Binder, T. 2008, 'Formatting design dialogues games and participation', *CoDesign*, 4(1), pp. 51-64.
- Brandt, J., Weiss, N., & Klemmer, S. R. 2007, 'txt 4 l8r: lowering the burden for diary studies under mobile conditions', *CHI '07 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*, San Jose, CA, USA, ACM, pp. 2303-2308.
- Brereton, M., & Buur, J. 2008, 'New challenges for design participation in the era of ubiquitous computing', *CoDesign*, 4(2), pp. 101-113.
- Brown, B., & O'Hara, K. 2003, 'Place as a practical concern of mobile workers', *Environment and Planning*, 35(9), pp. 1565-1587.
- Brown, B. A. T., Seilen, A. J., & O'Hara, K. P. 2000, 'A Diary Study of Information Capture in Working Life', *CHI'00*, The Hague, Amsterdam, ACM, pp. 438-445.
- Buchanan, R. 1992, 'Wicked Problems in Design Thinking', Design Issues, 8(2), pp. 5-21.
- Buchanan, R. 2001, 'Design Research and the New Learning', Design Issues, 17(4), pp. 3-23.
- Buur, J., Binder, T., & Brandt, E. 28 November 1 December 2000, 'Taking Video Beyond 'Hard Data' in User Centred Design', *PDC'00*, New York, NY, USA, CPSR, pp. 21-29.
- Candy, L. 2006, *Practice Based Research: A Guide* CCS Report: 2006-V1.0 November, Creativity & Cognition Studios, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Carlson, N. 2010, 'WARNING: Google Buzz Has A Huge Privacy Flaw', *Business Insider*, retrieved February 2010, <u>http://www.businessinsider.com/warning-google-buzz-has-a-huge-privacy-flaw-2010-2</u>
- Carroll, J., Howard, S., Vetere, F., Peck, J., & Murphy, J. 2002, 'Just what do the youth of today want? Technology appropriation by young people', *HICSS '02*, Hawaii, IEEE.
- Carter, S., & Mankoff, J. 2005, 'When participants do the capturing: the role of media in diary studies', *CHI'05*, Portland, Oregon, USA, ACM, pp. 899-908.
- Carter, S., Mankoff, J., & Heer, J. 2007, 'Momento: support for situated ubicomp experimentation', *CHI '07*, San Jose, California, USA, ACM, pp. 125-134
- Cereijo-Roibás, A., Vanderbeeken, M., Clavin, N., & Zoels, J.-C. 2009, 'Engaging developing markets Dialogue with local users', *Interfaces*, 81, pp. 14-16.
- Chalmers, M., Dieberger, A., Höök, K., & Rudström, Å. 2004, 'Social Navigation and Seamful Design', *Cognitive Studies*, 11(3), pp. 1-11.
- Chang, E., & Kiesler, M. 2006, 10 August 2008, 'The Agile Web Design Manifesto, An Introduction', retrieved August 2008, <u>http://www.emilychang.com/go/weblog/comments/the-agile-web-design-manifesto-an-introduction/</u>
- Cheskin. 2003, 'Cheskin Digital Ethno™: Inventing Digital Ethnography', retrieved March 2005, <u>http://www.cheskin.com/p/basic.asp?mlid=67</u>
- Church, K., & Smyth, B. 2008, 'Understanding mobile information needs', *MobileHCI'08*, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ACM, pp. 493-494.

- Clement, A., Costantino, T., Kurtz, D., & Tissenbaum, M. 2008, 'Participatory design and web 2.0: the case of PIPWatch, the collaborative privacy toolbar', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 51-60.
- Crabtree, A., Hemmings, T., Rodden, T., Cheverst, K., Clarke, K., Drewsbury, G., et al. 2003, 'Designing with Care', *Ozchi'03*, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 4-13
- Cross, N. 1999, 'Design Research: A Disciplined Conversation', Design Issues, 15(2), pp. 5-10.
- Cross, N. 2001, 'Designerly Ways of Knowing: Design Discipline Versus Design Science', Design Issues, 17(3), pp. 49-55.
- Cross, N. 2007, 'Forty years of design research', Design Studies, 28(1), pp. 1-4.
- Cruickshank, L., & Evans, M. 2008, 'Media Communication, Consumption and Use: The Changing Role of the Designer', *DRS'08*, Sheffield, UK, DRS.
- Darren, L. 2007, 'Image seeds: a communal picture-based narrative', *HT'07*, Manchester, UK, ACM, pp. 3-10.
- Davis, M. 2008, 'Why Do We Need Doctoral Study in Design?', *International Journal of Design*, 2(3), pp. 71-79.
- Dearden, A., & Light, A. 2008, 'Designing for e-Social Action, An Application Taxonomy', *DRS'08*, Sheffield, UK.
- Dearden, A., & Rizvi, H. 2008, 'Adapting participatory and agile software methods to participatory rural development', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 81-91.
- DiSalvo, C., Maki, J., & Martin, N. 2007, 'Mapmover: a case study of design-oriented research into collective expression and constructed publics', *CHI'07*, San Jose, California, USA, ACM, pp. 1249 1252.
- DiSalvo, C., Nourbakhsh, I., Holstius, D., Akin, A., & Louw, M. 2008, 'The Neighborhood Networks Projects: A Case Study of Critical Engagement and Creative Expression Through Participatory Design', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 41-50.
- Dittrich, Y., Eriksén, S., & Hansson, C. 2002, 'PD in the Wild; Evolving Practices of Design in Use', *PDC'02*, Malmö, Sweden, CPSR, pp. 124-134.
- Dorst, K. 2008, 'Design research: a revolution-waiting-to-happen', *Design Studies, 29*(1), pp. 4-11.
- Dourish, P. 2001, Where the Action Is, MIT Press.
- Dourish, P. M. C. 1994, 'Running Out of Space: Models of Information Navigation', *HCI'94*, Cambridge, UK.
- Ehn, P. 1988, Work-Orientated Design of Computer Artifacts, Stockholm, Arbetslivscentrum.
- Ehn, P. 2008, 'Participation in Design Things', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 92-101.
- Ehn, P., & Kyng, M. 1991, 'Cardboard Computers: Mocking-it-up or Hands-on the Future', in J. Greenbaum & M. Kyng (eds), *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, pp. 241-268, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ehn, P., & Sjogren, D. 1991, 'From Systems Descriptions to Scripts for Action', in J. Greenbaum & M. Kyng (eds), *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 169-195.
- Engeström, J. 2005, 'Why some social network services work and others don't Or: the case for object-centered sociality', retrieved August, 2008, <a href="http://www.zengestrom.com/blog/2005/04/why\_some\_social.html">http://www.zengestrom.com/blog/2005/04/why\_some\_social.html</a>

- Figallo, C. 1998, *Hosting Web communities: Building relationships, increasing customer loyalty, and maintaining a competitive edge*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, NY, USA.
- Fischer, G. 1998, 'Seeding, Evolutionary Growth, and Reseeding: Constructing, Capturing, and Evolving Knowledge in Domain- Oriented Design Environments', *Automated Software Engineering*, *5*(4).
- Fischer, G. 2008, 'Rethinking Software Design in Participation Cultures', *Automated Software Engineering*, 15 (3-4), pp. 365-377.
- Floyd, I. R., Jones, M. C., Rathi, D., & Twidale, M. B. 2007, 'Web Mash-ups and Patchwork Prototyping: User-driven technological innovation with Web 2.0 and Open Source Software', *HICSS'07*, IEEE.
- Floyd, I. R., & Twidale, M. B. 2008, 'Learning Design from Emergent Co-Design: Observed Practices and Future Directions', *PDC'08 Workshop: Designing for Co-designers*, Bloomington, USA, ACM.
- Forlizzi, J. 2008, 'The product ecology: understanding social product use and support and design culture', *International Journal of design*, 2(1), pp. 11-20.
- Frayling, C. 1993, 'Research in Art and Design', *Royal College of Art Research Papers, 1*(1), pp. 1-5.
- Friedman, B., Borning, A., Davis, J. L., Gill, B. T., Jr., P. H. K., Kriplean, T., et al. 2008, 'Laying the foundations for public participation and value advocacy: interaction design for a large scale urban simulation', *dg.o'08*, Montreal, Canada, Digital Government Society of North America.
- Froehlich, J., Chen, M. Y., Consolvo, S., Harrison, B., & Landay, J. A. 2007, 'MyExperience: a system for *in situ* tracing and capturing of user feedback on mobile phones', *MobiSys* '07, San Juan, Puerto Rico, ACM, pp. 57-70
- Gaver, B., Dunne, T., & Pacenti, E. 1999, 'Design: Cultural Probes', Interactions, pp. 21-29.
- Gaver, W., Boucher, A., Pennington, S., & Walker, B. 2004, 'Cultural Probes and the value of uncertainty', *Interactions, Volume XI*(5), pp. 53-56.
- Gothe, J. 2006, 'Designing practice-led research projects: Towards an understanding and recognition of the significance of relationship in the framing of practice-led research projects', *Speculation and Innovation: applying practice led research in the Creative Industries*.
- Graham, C., Cheverest, K., & Rouncefield, M. 2005, 'Whose Probe is it anyway?', Ozchi'05 Workshop: Appropriate Methods for Design in Complex and Sensitive Settings, Canberra, Australia.
- Graham, C., & Rouncefield, M. 2007, 'A Multimedia Phone in Family Life', *Workshop on Family and Communication Technologies*, 24 May 2007, Northumbria University, Newcastle (Unpublished).
- Graham, C., & Rouncefield, M. 2008, 'Probes and Participation', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 194-197.
- Graham, C., Rouncefield, M., Gibbs, M., Vetere, F., & Cheverst, K. 2007, 'How probes work', *OZCHI'07*, Adelaide, Australia, ACM, pp. 29-37.
- Graham, C., Satchell, C., & Rouncefield, M. 2007, 'Sharing Places: Digital Content and Lived Life', *CHI'07 Workshop: Shared Encounters*, San Jose, USA.
- Greenbaum, J., & Kyng, M. (eds). 1991, *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, New Jersey, Lawrence Erlbaum Associated.

- Greenbaum, J., & Madsen, K. H. 1993, 'PD a personal statement', *Communications of the ACM. Special issue on graphical user interfaces: the next generation, 36*(6).
- Grinter, R., & Eldridge, M. 2001, 'y do tngrs luv 2 txt msg', *ECSCW'01*, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ACM, pp. 219-238.
- Grinter, R., & Eldridge, M. 2003, 'Wan2tlk?: everyday text messaging', *CHI'03*, Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, USA, ACM, pp. 441-448.
- Gropius, W. 1970, Scope of Total Architecture, New York, Collier Books.
- Grubb, B. October 2010, 'Facebook keeps 'deleted' user photos for years', retrieved December 2010, <u>http://www.smh.com.au/technology/technology-news/facebook-keeps-deleted-user-photos-for-years-20101013-16j1x.html</u>
- Hagen, P., & MacFarlane, J. 2008, 'Reflections on the role of seeding in social design', *Ozchi'08*, Cairns, Australia, ACM, pp. 279-282.
- Hagen, P., & Robertson, T. 2009, 'Dissolving boundaries: social technologies and participation in design', *Ozchi'09*, Melbourne, Australia, ACM, pp. 129-136.
- Hagen, P., Robertson, T., & Gravina, D. 2007, 'Engaging with stakeholders: Mobile Diaries for social design', DUX, Chicago, USA, ACM.
- Hagen, P., Robertson, T., Kan, M., & Sadler, K. 2005, 'Emerging Research Methods for Understanding Mobile Technology Use', Ozchi'05, Canberra, Australia.
- Hagen, P., Robertson, T., & Sadler, K. 2006, 'Accessing Data: methods for understanding mobile technology use', *Australasian Journal of Information Systems*, 13(2), pp. 135-150.
- Hagen, P., & Rowland, N. 2010, 'Mobile Diaries: Discovering Daily Life', *Johnny Holland*, Retrieved August 2010, <u>http://johnnyholland.org/2010/07/13/mobile-diaries-</u> <u>discovering-daily-life/</u>
- Hart, J., Ridley, C., Taher, F., Sas, C., & Dix, A. 2008, 'Exploring the facebook experience: a new approach to usability', *NordiChi'08*, Lund, Sweden, ACM, pp. 471-474.
- Harvard, Å., Løvind, S. 2002, 'Psst"-ipatory Design. Involving artists, technologists, students and children in the design of narrative toys', *PDC'02*, Malmö, Sweden, CPSR.
- Haseman, B. 2006, 'A Manifesto for Performative Research', *Media International Australia* Incorporating Culture and Policy, theme issue "Practice-Led Research", (118), pp. 98-106.
- Heinonen, S., & Halonen, M. 2007, *Making Sense of Social Media Interviews and Narratives*, SOMED Foresight Report 2.
- Hemmings, T., Crabtree, A., Rodden, T., Clarke, K., & Rouncefield, M. 2002, 'Probing the Probes', *PDC'02*, Malmö, Sweden, CPSR.
- Henderson, A., & Kyng, M. 1991, 'There is no place like Home: Continuing Design in Use', in J. Greenbaum & M. Kyng (eds), *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 219-240.
- Hess, J., Offenberg, S., & Pipek, V. 2008, 'Community-Driven Development as participation? -Involving User Communities in a Software Design Process', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 31-40.
- Hobbs, J., Fenn, T., & Resmini, A. 2010, 'Maturing a Practice', *Journal of Information Architecture*, 2(1), pp. 37-54.
- Hulkko, S., Mattelmäki, T., Virtanen, K., & Keinonen, T. 2004, 'Mobile Probes', *NordiChi'04*, Tampere, Finland, ACM, pp. 43-51.

Hutchins, E. 1995, Cognition in the Wild, MIT Press.

- Hutchinson, H., Mackay, W., Westerlund, B., Bederson, B. B., Druin, A., Plaisant, C., et al. 2003, 'Technology Probes: Inspiring Design for and with Families', *CHI'03*, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, USA, ACM Press, pp. 17-24.
- Hutton, T. 2006, 'My cell phone, my life', *Quirk's Marketing Research Review*, (February), retrieved http://www.quirks.com/articles/2006/20060201.aspx?searchID=27461398&sort=7&pg =1
- Intille, S., Tapia, E. M., Rondoni, J., Beaudin, J., Kukla, C., Agarwal, S., et al. 2003, 'Tools for Studying Behavior and Technology in Natural Settings', *UbiComp'03*, Seattle, WA, USA, Springer-Verlag Heidelberg, pp. 157-174.
- Isbister, K., & Höök, K. 2009, 'On being supple: in search of rigor without rigidity in meeting new design and evaluation challenges for HCI practitioners', *CHI'09*. Boston, MA, USA, ACM, pp. 2233-2242.
- Isomursu, M., Isomursu, P., & Still, K. 2003, 'Involving young girls in product concept design', *CUU '03*, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, ACM, pp. 98-105.
- Isomursu, M., Kuutti, K., & Väinämö, S. 2004, 'Experience Clip: Method for User Participation and Evaluation of Mobile Concepts', *PDC'04*, Toronto, Canada, ACM, pp. 83-92.
- Ito, M. 2003, 'Mobile Phones, Japanese Youth, and the Re-Placement of Social Contact', *Front Stage Back Stage: Mobile Communication and the Renegotiation of the Social Sphere Conference*, Grimstad Norway.
- Ito, M., Baumer, S., Bittanti, M., boyd, d., Cody, R., Herr, B., et al. 2009, Hanging Out, Messing Around, Geeking Out: Living and Learning with New Media, Cambridge, MIT Press.
- Ito, M., & Okabe, D. 2005, *Technosocial situations: Emergent structurings of mobile email use*, MIT Press.
- Iversen, O., & Nielsen, C. 2003, 'Using digital cultural probes in design with children', *IDC '03* Preston, England, ACM, pp. 154-154.
- Ivey, M. M., & Sanders, D. E. B.-N. 2006, 'Designing a Physical Environment for Coexperience and Assessing Participant Use', *DRS'06*, Lisbon, Portugal DRS.
- Jans, G., Vanattenhoven, J., & Geerts, D. 2007, 'Social requirements for sharing information and experiences', *Computer/Human Interaction 2007 Conference; Workshop 16 about Shared Encounters*, San Jose, California, USA.
- Joinson, A. N. 2008, 'Looking at, looking up or keeping up with people?: motives and use of facebook', *CHI'08*, Florence, Italy, ACM, pp. 1027-1036.
- Jones, M., & Marsden, G. 2006, Mobile Interaction Design, John Wiley & Sons, UK.
- Jones, M. C., Floyd, I. R., & Twidale, M. B. 2007, 'Patchwork Prototyping with Open Source Software', in K. St.Amant & B. Still (eds), Handbook of Research on Open Source Software: Technological, Economic, and Social Perspectives, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, USA: Information Science Reference, pp. 126-140.
- Jönsson, B., Svensk, A., Cuartielles, D., Malmborg, L., & Schlaucher, P. 2002, *Mobility and learning environments engaging people in design of their everyday environments*, CERTEC Report, Lund University.
- Kankainen, A., & Oulasvirta, A. 2002, 'Design Ideas for everyday mobile and ubiquitous computing based on qualitative user data', *ERCIM'02 Workshop: User Interfaces for All*, Paris (Chantilly), France, Springer-Verlag Berlin, Heidelberg.

- Kaptein, M. C., Weisscher, A., Terken, J. M. B., & Nelissen, H. 2009, 'Online contextmapping; using the opportunities of Web 2.0 for the contextmapping procedure', *CoDesign: International Journal of CoCreation in Design and the Arts*, 5(4), pp. 213-228.
- Karapanos, E., Zimmerman, J., Forlizzi, J., & Martens, J.-B. 2009, 'User experience over time: an initial framework', *CHI'09*, Boston, MA, USA, ACM, pp. 3561-3566.
- Karasti, H., & Syrjänen, A.-L. 2004, 'Artful Infrastructuring in Two Cases of Community PD', *PDC'04*, Toronto, Canada, ACM, pp. 20-30.
- Kensing, F., & Blomberg, J. 1998, 'Participatory Design: Issues and Concerns', *Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 7(3), pp. 167-185.
- Kensing, F., & Madsen, K. H. 1991, 'Generating Visions: Future Workshops and Metaphorical Design', in J. Greenbaum & M. Kyng (eds), *Design at Work: Cooperative Design of Computer Systems*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 155 -168.
- Khalil, C. 2009, 'Digital Cultural Probes', retrieved April 2009, <u>http://www.chriskhalil.com/2009/04/21/the-new-digital-</u> <u>ethnographer%25E2%2580%2599s-toolkit-capturing-participant%25E2%2580%2599s-</u> <u>lifestreams/</u>
- Kjeldskov, J., & Sage, J. 2004, 'New Techniques for Usability Evaluation of Mobile Systems', International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 60(5-6), pp. 599-620.
- Kouprie, M., & Sleeswijk Visser, F. 2009, 'A framework for empathy in design: stepping into and out of the user's life', *Journal of Engineering Design 20*(5), pp. 437-448.
- Kuniavsky, M. 2003, Observing the User Experience: A Practitioner's Guide to User Research, Morgan Kaufmann.
- Kurvinen, E., Koskinen, I., & Battarbee, K. 2008, 'Prototyping Social Interaction', Design Issues, 24(3), pp. 46-57.
- Larson, R., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. 1983, 'The Experience Sampling Method', in H. Reis (ed), Naturalistic approaches to studying social interaction: New Directions for Methodology of Social and Behavioral Science, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Laurel, B. (ed). 2003, Design Research: Methods and Perspectives, MIT Press.
- Lee, Y. 2008, 'Design participation tactics: the challenges and new roles for designers in the codesign process', *CoDesign*, 4(1), pp. 31-50.
- Lievrouw, L. A. 2006, 'Oppositional and activist new media: remediation, reconfiguration, participation', *PDC'06*, Trento, Italy, ACM, pp. 115-124.
- Light, A., Briggs, P., & Martin, K. 2008, 'Seeding without leading: making space for participant contribution in design elicitation techniques', *HCI'08*, Liverpool, United Kingdom, British Computer Society Swinton, UK, pp. 159-161.
- Loi, D. 2005, "'They made me see" users and learners as co-designers', *Include'05 International conference on Inclusive Design*, Royal College of Art, London, UK.
- Loi, D. 2008, 'Of Participation in Industry: a Hybridised Possibility?', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 182-185.
- Loke, L. 2008, 'Moving and Making Strange: A design methodology for Movement-based Interactive Technologies', Phd Thesis, Faculty of Information Technology, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Lowgren, J. August 2008, 'Interaction Design', retrieved December 2008, http://www.interaction-design.org/encyclopedia/interaction\_design.html
- Lucero, A., & Mattelmäki, T. 2007, 'Professional probes: a pleasurable little extra for the participant's work', *IASTED-HCI '07*, Chamonix, France, ACTA Press, pp. 170-176.

- Ludvigsen, M. 2006, 'Designing for Social Interaction: Physical, Co-located Social Computing', PhD Thesis, Department of Design ISIS Katrinebjerg, Center for Interactive Spaces, Aarhus School of Architecture, Aarhus.
- Lunenfield, P. 2003, 'Preface: The Design Cluster', in B. Laurel (ed), *Design Research: Methods and Perspectives*, MIT Press, pp. 10-15.
- Macer, T. 2010, 'Revelation reviewed', *Research*.<sup>™</sup>, retrieved April 2010, <u>http://www.research-live.com/magazine/revelation-reviewed/4002572.article</u>
- Macquarie Dictionary. 2003, (Third ed.): The Macquarie Library.
- March, W., & Fleuriot, C. 2006, 'Girls, technology and privacy: "is my mother listening?"", *CHI'06*, Montréal, Québec, Canada, ACM, pp. 107-110.
- Masten, D., & Plowman, T. 2003, 'Digital Ethnography: The next wave in understanding the consumer experience', *Design Management Journal*, 14(2), pp. 75-81.
- Mattelmäki, T. 2005, 'Applying probes from inspirational notes to collaborative insights', *CoDesign*, *1*(2), pp. 83-102.
- Mattelmäki, T. 2008, 'Probing for co-exploring', CoDesign, 4(1), pp. 65-78.
- Mattelmäki, T., & Battarbee, K. 2002, 'Empathy Probes', PDC'02, Malmö, Sweden, CPSR.
- MayField, R. 2002, 'Social Software', retrieved August 2008, http://radio.weblogs.com/0114726/categories/socialNetworks/2002/12/07.html
- McIntyre, A. 2008, Participatory Action Research, Sage Publications, USA.
- McLaughlin, S. M. 2008, 'Dialogical encounter argument as a source of rigour in the practice based PhD', *DRS'08*, Sheffield, UK.
- Merholz, P. 2006, 'Embrace the chaos designers and systems with emergent behavior', retrieved January 2008, <u>http://www.peterme.com/archives/000793.html</u>
- Merkel, C. B., Farooq, U., Xiao, L., Ganoe, C., Rosson, M. B., & Carroll, J. M. 2007, 'Managing technology use and learning in nonprofit community organizations: methodological challenges and opportunities', *CHIMIT '07, Symposium on Computer human interaction for the management of information technology*, Cambridge, Massachusetts, ACM.
- Merkel, C. B., Xiao, L., Farooq, U., Ganoe, C. H., Lee, R., Carroll, J. M., et al. 2004, 'Participatory Design in Community Computing Contexts: Tales from the Field', *PDC'04*, Toronto, Canada, ACM, pp. 1-10.
- Merleau-Ponty, M. 1962, Phenomenology of Perception, London: Routledge.
- Moggridge, B. 2008, 'It's getting so complicated! Design research methods to change the vector of change in an increasingly complex world', *Changing the change*, Milan, Italy.
- Moran, D. 2000, Introduction to Phenomenology, London: Routledge.
- Muller, E. R. 2009, 'The Audience Experience of Interactive Art: A curatorial study', Phd Thesis, Creativity and Cognition Studio, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Muller, M. J., Blomberg, J. L., Carter, K. A., Dykstra, E. A., Madsen, K. H., & Greenbaum, J. 1991, 'Participatory Design in Britain and North America: Responses to the "Scandinavian Challenge" (Panel)', *CHI'99*, New Orleans, Louisiana, ACM, pp. 389-392.
- Muller, M. J., Wildman, D. M., & White, E. A. 1992, 'Taxonomy of participatory design practices: a participatory poster', *CHI'92 Posters and short talks*, Monterey, California, ACM.

- Näkki, P. 2008, 'Owela: Open Web Laboratory for Innovation and Design', *ERCIM News* 72, retrieved February 2009, <u>http://ercim-news.ercim.org/content/view/329/517/</u>
- Näkki, P., & Antikainen, M. 2008, 'Online Tools for Co-design: User Involvement through the Innovation Process', NordiCHI'08 Workshop: Requirements Elicitation & HCI and Social Media Development, Lund, Sweden.
- Näkki, P., Antikainen, M., & Virtanen, T. 2008, 'Participatory Design in an Open Web Laboratory Owela', *CHI'08 Workshop: Distributed participatory design*. Florence, Italy, ACM.
- Näkki, P., & Virtanen, T. 2007, 'Utilising social media tools in user-centred design', *CHI'07* Workshop: Supporting non-professional users in the new media landscape.
- Nelson, H. G., & Stolterman, E. 2003, *The Design Way*, Englewood Cliffs, N.J, USA: Educational Technology Publications, Inc.
- Newcomb, E., Pashley, T., & Stasko, J. 2003, 'Mobile computing in the retail arena', *CHI'03*, Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, USA, ACM Press, pp. 337-334.
- Noyes, A. 2004, 'Video diary: a method for exploring learning dispositions', *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 34(2), pp. 193-209.
- O'Hara, K., Black, A., & Lipson, M. 2006, 'Everyday practices with mobile video telephony', *CHI'06*, Montréal, Québec, Canada, ACM, pp. 871-880.
- O'Hara, K., & Perry, M. 2001, 'Shopping Anytime Anywhere', *CHI '01 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing*, Seattle, WA, ACM, pp. 345-346.
- O'Reilly, T. 2005, 'What Is Web 2.0', retrieved July 2007, <u>http://www.oreillynet.com/pub/a/oreilly/tim/news/2005/09/30/what-is-web-20.html?page=1</u>
- Okabe, D. 2004, 'Emergent Social Practices, Situations and Relations through Everyday Camera Phone Use', *Mobile Communication and Social Change, the 2004 International Conference on Mobile Communication*, Seoul, Korea.
- Oksman, V. 2006, 'Mobile Visuality and Everyday Life in Finland: An Ethnographic Approach to Social Uses of Mobile Image', in J. R. Höflich & M. Hartmann (eds), *Mobile communication in everyday life: ethnographic views, observations and reflections*, Frank & Timme.
- Opsahl, K. 2010, 'Facebook's Eroding Privacy Policy: A Timeline, retrieved May 2010, http://www.eff.org/deeplinks/2010/04/facebook-timeline
- Palen, L., & Salzman, M. 2002, 'Voice-mail diary studies for naturalistic data capture under mobile conditions', CSCW, Louisiana, USA, ACM, pp. 87-95.
- Papanek, V. 1971, Design for the Real World, New York: Pantheon Books.
- Parrack, D. 2009, 'Twitter changes Terms of Service tweet ownership, advertising covered', retrieved January 2010, <u>http://tech.blorge.com/Structure:%20/2009/09/13/twitter-changes-terms-of-service-tweet-ownership-advertising-covered/</u>
- Pering, C. 2006, 'Digital Diaries', retrieved July 2007, <u>http://www.frogdesign.com/design-mind/articles/fall-2006/digital-diaries.html</u>
- Perkel, D. 2007, 'Digital Photo-elicitation for Digital Youth', retrieved January 2008, <u>http://digitalyouth.ischool.berkeley.edu/node/43</u>
- Perry, M., & Brodie, J. 2006, 'Virtually connected, practically mobile', in E. A. a. M. Vartiainen (ed), *Mobile Virtual Work: A New Paradigm*, Berlin, Springer-Verlag, pp. 95-127.

- Perry, M., O'hara, K., Sellen, A., Brown, B., & Harper, R. 2001, 'Dealing with mobility: understanding access anytime, anywhere', ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI) 8(4), pp. 323-347.
- Pierson, J., Mante-Meijer, E., Loos, E., & Sapio, B. (eds). 2008, *Innovating for and by users*, COST.
- Piipl. 2009, 'Piipl Insight to Innovation', retrieved September 2009, http://www.piipl.net/index.php/en/
- Polanyi, M. 1966, The Tacit Dimension Gloucester, Mass, Peter Smith, 1983.
- Porter, J. 2006, 'The Freedom of Fast Iterations: How Netflix Designs a Winning Web Site', retrieved August 2008, <u>http://www.uie.com/articles/fast\_iterations/</u>
- Preece, J., Rogers, Y., & Sharp, H. 2002, *Interaction Design, beyond human-computer interaction*, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Raijmakers, B., Sommerwerk, A., Leihener, J., & Tulusan, I. 2009, 'How sticky research drives service design', *Service Design Network Conference*, Madeira, Portugal.
- RedAnt. 'Planning & creating a digital strategy', retrieved December 2009, <u>http://www.redant.co.uk/\_docs/planning-and-creating-a-digital-strategy.pdf</u>
- Redhead, F., & Brereton, M. 2008, 'Getting to the Nub of Neighbourhood Interaction', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 270-273.
- Reichelt, L., & Boulton, M. 2009, 'Drupal 7 User Experience Project', retrieved August 2009, http://www.d7ux.org/
- Reis, H. 1983, *Naturalistic approaches to studying social interaction*, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Rettig, M. 1998, 'Building Web Communities', retrieved August 2008, http://www.ahref.com/guides/culture/199810/1005jefprintable.html
- Rhea, D. 2003, 'Bringing Clarity to the "Fuzzy Front End"', in B. Laurel (ed), *Design Research: Methods and Perspectives*, MIT Press, pp. 145-154.
- Rheingold, H. 1993, The Virtual Community, HarperPerennial.
- Rijn, H. v., & Stappers, P. J. 2008, 'Expressions of ownership: Motivating users in a co-design process', PDC'08, Bloomington, USA, ACM pp. 178-185.
- Rittenbruch, M., McEwan, G., Ward, N., Mansfield, T., & Bertenstein, D. 2002, 'Extreme Participation - Moving extreme programming towards participatory design in', *PDC'02*, Malmö, Sweden, CPSR.
- Robertson, T. 1996, 'Participatory design and participative practices in small companies', *PDC'96*, Cambridge, Mass, USA, CPSR, pp. 35-43.
- Robertson, T. 2002, 'The Public Availability of Actions and Artefacts', *Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 11*(3), pp. 299-316.
- Robertson, T. 2006, 'Ethical Issues in Interaction Design', *Ethics and Information Technology*, 8(2), pp. 49-59.
- Robertson, T., Mansfield, T., & Loke, L. 2006, 'Designing an immersive environment for public use', *PDC'06*, Trento, Italy, ACM, pp. 31-40.
- Robertson, T. J. 1997, 'Designing over Distance', PhD Thesis, School of Computing Sciences, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Rogers, Y. 2004, 'New theoretical approaches for human-computer interaction', *Annual Review* of Information Science and Technology, 8(1), pp. 87-143.

- Rönkkö, K., Hellman, M., & Dittrich, Y. 2008, 'PD Method and Socio-Political Context of the Development Organization', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 71-80.
- Rönkkö, K., Hellman, M., Kilander, B., & Dittrich, Y. 2004, 'Personas is not applicable: local remedies interpreted in a wider context', *PDC'04*, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, ACM, pp. 112-120.
- Rosenthal, J. 2010, 'An Update from Ning' *Ning Blog*, retrieved April 2010, <u>http://blog.ning.com/2010/04/an-update-from-ning.html</u>
- Rust, P. C., Mottram, P. J., & Till, P. J. 2007, Practice-Led Research in Art, Design and Architecture, AHRC Review of Practice-Led Research in Art Design & Architecture Arts and Humanities Research Council, Sheffield Hallam University, Nottingham Trent University & University of Sheffield.
- Saffer, D. 2006, *Designing for Interaction: Creating Smart Applications and Clever Devices*, New Riders.
- Sanders, E. 1992, 'Converging Perspectives: Product Development Research for the 1990s', *Design Management Journal, 3*(4), pp. 49-54.
- Sanders, E. 2000, 'Generative Tools for CoDesigning', in S. A. R. Scrivener, L. J. Ball & A. Woodcock (eds), *Collaborative Design*.
- Sanders, E. 2005, 'Information, Inspiration and Co-creation', *The 6th International Conference* of the European Academy of Design, Bremen, Germany.
- Sanders, E., & Stappers, P. J. 2008, 'Co-creation and the New Landscapes of Design', *CoDesign*, *4*(1), pp. 5-18.
- Sanders, E. B.-N. 2006, 'Design Research in 2006', Design Research Quarterly, 1.
- Sanders, L. 2001, 'Collective Creativity', LOOP: AIGA Journal of Interaction Design Education 7 (June), retrieved, <u>http://loop1.aiga.org/content.cfm?Alias=sandersucd</u>
- Sanders, L. 2008, 'An Evolving Map of Design Practice and Design Research', *Interactions* (November–December), pp. 13-17.
- Schön, D. A. 1983, The Reflective Practitioner, Basic Books.
- Schuler, D., & Namioka, A. (eds). 1993, *Participatory Design: Principles and Practices*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Scrivener, S. 2000a, 'Reflection in and on action and practice in creative-production doctoral projects in art and design', *Working Papers in Art and Design. 1*, retrieved, <u>http://www.herts.ac.uk/artdes/research/papers/wpades/vol1/scrivener2.html</u>
- Scrivener, S., & Chapman, P. 2004, 'The practical implications of applying a theory of practice based research: a case study', *Working Papers in Art and Design. 3*, retrieved, <u>http://sitem.herts.ac.uk/artdes\_research/papers/wpades/vol3/ssabs.html</u>
- Scrivener, S. A. R. 2000b, 'Towards the Operationalisation of Design Research as Reflection in and on Action and Practice', in D. Durling & K. Friedman (eds), *Doctoral Education in Design: Foundations for the Future*, Stoke-on-Trent Staffordshire University Press, pp. 387-394.
- Sellen, A., Rogers, Y., Harper, R., & Rodden, T. 2009, 'Reflecting Human Values in the Digital Age', *Communications of the ACM Being Human in the Digital Age*, 52(3), pp. 58-66.
- Sengers, P., Boehner, K., David, S., & Kaye, J. J. 2005, 'Reflective design', CC'05, Aarhus, Denmark, ACM, pp. 49-58.
- Sevaldson, B. 2010, 'Discussions & Movements in Design Research', *FORMakademisk*, 3(1), pp. 8-35.

- Shirky, C. 2003, 'Social Software and the Politics of Groups', retrieved October 2004, http://www.shirky.com/writings/group\_politics.html
- Shirky, C. 2008, Here comes everybody, Penguin Press
- Sleeswijk Visser, F. 2009, 'Bringing the everyday life of people into design', PhD Thesis, Technische Universiteit Delft, Delft.
- Sleeswijk Visser, F., & Kouprie, M. 2008, 'Stimulating empathy in ideation workshops', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, Indiana, ACM, pp. 174-177.
- Sleeswijk Visser, F., Stappers, P. J., Lugt, R. V. D., & Sanders, E. B.-N. 2005, 'Contextmapping: experiences from practice', *CoDesign*, 1(2), pp. 119-140.
- Somerville, M. M. 2007, 'Participatory Co-Design: A Relationship Building Approach for Co-Creating Libraries of the Future', *The 73rd International Federation of Library Associations (IFLA) Conference*, Durban, South Africa
- Spinuzzi, C. 2002, 'A Scandinavian challenge, a US response: methodological assumptions in Scandinavian and US prototyping approaches', *SIGDOC'02*. Toronto, Ontario, Canada, ACM.
- Spinuzzi, C. 2005, 'The Methodology of Participatory Design', *Technical Communication*, 52(2), pp. 163-174.
- Spool, J. M. 2007, 'Learning from the Facebook Mini-Feed Disaster', retrieved November 2007, <u>http://www.uie.com/articles/facebook mini feed/</u>
- Stappers, P. J., & Sanders, E. B.-N. 2003, 'Generative tools for context mapping: tuning the tools', *Third International Conference on Design & Emotion*. Loughborough, Taylor & Francis.
- Stolterman, E. 2008, 'The Nature of Design Practice and Implications for Interaction Design Research', *International Journal of Design*, 2(1), pp. 55-65.
- Stolterman, E., McAtee, J., Royer, D., & Thandapani, S. 2008, 'Designerly Tools', *DRS'08*, Sheffield, UK, DRS.
- Suchman, L. A. 1987, *Plans and Situated Actions: The problem of human machine communication*, Cambridge University Press.
- Sundstrom, P., Stahl, A., & Hook, K. 2007, 'In situ informants exploring an emotional mobile messaging system in their everyday practice', *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 65(4), pp. 388-403.
- Swann, C. 2002, 'Action Research and the Practice of Design', Design Issues, 18(1), pp. 49-61.
- Tamminen, S., Oulasvirta, A., Toiskallio, K., & Kankainen, A. 2003, 'Understanding Mobile Contexts', *MobileHCI'03*, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 17-31.
- Taxén, G. 2004, 'Introducing Participatory Design in Museums', *PDC'04*, Toronto, Canada, ACM, pp. 204-213.
- Trogemann, G., & Pelt, M. 2006, 'CITIZEN MEDIA Technological and Social Challenges of User Driven Media', *BBEurope 2006*, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Twidale, M. B., & Floyd, I. R. 2008, 'Infrastructures From the Bottom-Up and the Top-Down: Can They Meet in the Middle?', *PDC'08*, Bloomington, USA, ACM, pp. 238-241.
- Vanattenhoven, J. 2008, 'Research Blog: Eliciting User Needs and Experiences', NordiCHI'08 Workshop: Requirements Elicitation & HCI and Social Media Development, Lund, Sweden.
- Verbeek, P.-P. 2006, 'Materializing Morality', *Science, Technology & Human Values, 31*(3), pp. 361-379.

- Wang, C., & Burris, M. A. 1997, 'Photovoice: Concept, Methodology, and Use for Participatory Needs Assessment', *Health Education & Behavior*, 24(3), pp. 369-387.
- Winograd, T., & Flores, F. 1986, *Understanding computers and cognition* (7th ed.), Norwood, NJ, USA, Addison- Wesley Publishing Company.
- Wolf, T. V., Rode, J. A., Sussman, J., & Kellogg, W. A. 2006, 'Dispelling design as the 'Black Art' of CHI', *CHI'06*, Montréal, Québec, Canada, ACM, pp. 521-530.
- Ye, Y., & Fischer, G. 2007, 'Designing for Participation in Socio-Technical Software Systems', *4th International Conference on Universal Access in Human-Computer Interaction*, Heidelberg, Springer, pp. 312-321.
- Yee, J. S. R. 2007, 'Connecting Practice to Research (and back to Practice): Making the leap from design practice to design research', *Design Principles and Practices: An International Journal, 1*(1), pp. 81-90.
- zilverinnovation 2009, '7daysinmylife.com', retrieved July 2009, http://www.zilverinnovation.com/en/tools
- Zimmerman, J., Forlizzi, J., & Evenson, S. 2007, 'Research through design as a method for interaction design research in HCI', *CHI '07*, San Jose, California, USA, ACM, pp. 493-502.

[Production Note: the URL updates for the following two papers by Scrivener.]

The current URL for Scrivener 2000a is

http://www.herts.ac.uk/ data/assets/pdf file/0014/12281/WPIAAD vol1 scrivener.pdf (accessed June 2014)

and for Scrivener and Chapman 2004 is

http://www.herts.ac.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0019/12367/WPIAAD\_vol3\_scrivener\_chapman.pdf (accessed June 2014)